M2-branes in M-theory and exact large ${\it N}$ expansion

Tomoki Nosaka

Yukawa Institute for Theoretical Physics, Kyoto University, Kyoto 606-8502, Japan

A Dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

1 February, 2016

Abstract

The purpose of this thesis is to present our recent studies on the exact large N expansion of the partition function of the $\mathcal{N} = 4 U(N)$ circular quiver superconformal Chern-Simons theories. These theories are known to describe the N stack of the M2-branes in the M-theory on various orbifold. With the help of the formal relation between the partition function and a quantum statistical system of N-particle ideal Fermi gas discovered by Marino and Putrov, we achieved to determine the all order perturbative corrections in 1/N to the partition function in large Nexpansion.

We also analyzed the non-perturbative effects in 1/N. In the context of the AdS/CFT correspondence, these non-perturbative effects in 1/N can be interpreted quantitatively as the effects of fundamental M2-branes winding non-trivial three-cycles in the dual eleven dimensional background geometry, and thus called the instantons. We determined the explicit expression of several instanton coefficients and found the following interesting property. If the quantum number of two different kinds of instantons satisfy particular rational relation, they exhibit the same exponential suppression in 1/N. We discovered that the individual instanton coefficient is always singular at the coincidence, while the divergences are always precisely cancelled in the net coefficients.

Restricting ourselves onto one particular theory among the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ theories which describes the N stack of the M2-branes probing the orbifold $(\mathbb{C}^2/\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{C}^2/\mathbb{Z}_2)/\mathbb{Z}_k$, we also achieved to determine the coefficients of all kinds of instantons and at arbitrary quantum numbers. We finally found that the instanton coefficients are completely reproduced by the free energy of the refined topological string theory.

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	5
Ι	Ga	uge theory on M2-branes	7
2	U(N) circular quiver superconformal Chern-Simons theory	8
3	\mathbf{Eigl}	nt dimensional moduli space	11
	3.1	Generic Chern-Simons levels	11
	3.2	Vanishing Chern-Simons levels	13
4	Lar	ge N partition function	16
	4.1	Localization technique	16
	4.2	Partition function as matrix model – sketch of derivation	18
	4.3	Large N limit of partition function	19
5	Sun	nmary for part I	23
II	Be	eyond large N limit	24
6	Feri	ni gas formalism and all order perturbative corrections in $1/N$	25
	6.1	All order perturbative corrections in Airy function	28
	6.2	Semiclassically corrected Fermi surface and exact expression of B	31
		6.2.1 B for $\mathcal{N} = 4$ quivers	32
		6.2.2 <i>B</i> for $\mathcal{N} = 3$ quivers in classical limit	36
	6.3	Discussion and Comments	38
7	WK	B expansion and membrane instantons in $(q, p)_k$ models	39
	7.1	Computation and universal structure of $\mathcal{Z}_{\ell}(n)$	41
	7.2	Large μ expansion of grand potential	44
	7.3	Perturbative part and A	45
	7.4	Non-perturbative part	47

	7.5	Gravitational interpretation of non-perturbative effects as instantons	48
	7.6	Instanton coefficients and pole cancellation	49
	7.7	Effective chemical potential for triple degeneracy	51
	7.8	Discussion and Comments	54
8	Inst	anton effects for finite k	56
	8.1	Exact partition function for $(q, p)_k$ models	56
		8.1.1 $p = 1$	56
		8.1.2 $p=2$	58
		8.1.3 $p \ge 3$	59
	8.2	Numerical support for A	60
	8.3	Instanton exponents for finite k	60
	8.4	Instanton coefficients by fitting	61
	8.5	Discussion and Comments	64
Q	C		
9	Cor	npletely Exact results for $(2,2)$ model and topological string	65
IJ	9.1	model and topological string Membrane instanton by extrapolation	65 65
J	9.1 9.2	npletely Exact results for $(2,2)$ model and topological stringMembrane instanton by extrapolationEffective chemical potential for finite k	65 65 70
J	9.1 9.2 9.3	npletely Exact results for $(2,2)$ model and topological stringMembrane instanton by extrapolationEffective chemical potential for finite k Worldsheet instanton	65657071
J	9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4	npletely Exact results for $(2,2)$ model and topological stringMembrane instanton by extrapolationEffective chemical potential for finite k Worldsheet instantonMysterious correspondence to topological string	 65 65 70 71 75
J	9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5	npletely Exact results for $(2,2)$ model and topological stringMembrane instanton by extrapolationEffective chemical potential for finite k Worldsheet instantonMysterious correspondence to topological stringDiscussion and Comments	 65 70 71 75 76
10	9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 Sum	npletely Exact results for (2,2) model and topological string Membrane instanton by extrapolation Effective chemical potential for finite k Worldsheet instanton Mysterious correspondence to topological string Discussion and Comments Ammary of thesis and future directions	 65 70 71 75 76 78
10 A	9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 Sun Free	npletely Exact results for $(2, 2)$ model and topological string Membrane instanton by extrapolation	 65 65 70 71 75 76 78 80
10 A B	9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 Sum Free Rec	npletely Exact results for $(2, 2)$ model and topological string Membrane instanton by extrapolation	 65 65 70 71 75 76 78 80 81

1 Introduction

Quantum formulation of the gravity is a long-standing problem in the theoretical physics. One of the strong candidates is the superstring theory, where a point like degree of freedom is replaced with the fundamental string extending in (1+1) dimension. In string theory the problems on the ultraviolet divergence, appearing in the field theory approach toward the quantum gravity, are avoided.

The type IIA string theory can be formulated by first giving a background geometry, a classical solution in the ten dimensional type IIA supergravity, and describing the embedding of a string worldsheet into the bulk spacetime by a two dimensional supersymmetric sigma model. The interactions among the strings can be incorporated as the non-trivial topology of the entire worldsheet. This formalism is perturbative in the coupling constant g_s of string interaction. However, it was suggested [1] that we can regard g_s as the size of the eleventh extra dimension. Various other types of the string theory with critical dimensions can be also understood as the different compactifications of the eleven dimension. In this sense, the quantum version of the eleven dimensional supergravity, called the *M*-theory, will provide the non-perturbative and unified formulation for the perturbative string theories.

To understand the M-theory, it will be helpful to focus on the solitonic objects in the eleven dimensional supergravity. There are two kinds of half BPS solitons which are extending in (1+2)dimension and (1+5) dimension respectively and called the M2-brane and the M5-brane. Various extending objects in string theory, the fundamental string and the D*p*-branes, can be interpreted as the compactification of these M-branes with or without winding in the eleventh direction. In the string theory, a stack of D-branes can be described by some field theory, which we shall call the worldvolume theory of the branes. The fields living on the branes can be interpreted as the fundamental strings ending on the branes, and the Lagrangian of the worldvolume theory will be obtained by studying the interactions of these open strings. Interestingly, although the string theory is formulated in the perturbation, these field theory themselves can be analyzed for finite coupling constant and thus expected to exist non-perturbatively. Hence it is natural to expect that the M-branes can also be described by some field theories, which will play important roles in understanding the M-theory.

Different from the case of the D-branes, so far we do not know the origin of the fundamental degrees of freedom living on the M-branes. Thus the worldvolume theory of the M-branes have been mysterious for long time. However, the symmetries preserved by the M-brane solitons in the eleven dimensional supergravity and the relation to the D-branes under the compactification provide many hints for the candidates of such field theory. Recently the worldvolume theory on a stack of N M2-branes was finally proposed as a particular class of the U(N) superconformal Chern-Simons matter theory [2, 3, 4, 5].

There have been various consistency checks for the proposals. The most striking one among

them would be that the partition function of the theory behaves in the large N limit as $\log Z(N) \sim N^{3/2}$. This reproduces the behavior of the gravitational entropy of the M2-branes estimated in [6]. The correspondence is stated more concretely as the following AdS_4/CFT_3 correspondence [7]. Consider a stack of N coincident M2-branes. Then the correspondence says that, the free energy of the worldvolume theory for this setup should coincide, in the limit $N \to \infty$, with the action of the classical supergravity evaluated on the AdS₄ background which is the near horizon geometry of this setup. It was shown that the coefficient in front of $N^{3/2}$ is also precisely consistent with the calculation in the gravity side, in accordance with this correspondence.

Having the concrete worldvolume theory on the M2-branes in our hand, how can we utilize these theory to understand the M-theory? One idea is the extension of the AdS_4/CFT_3 correspondence. In the original correspondence the limit $N \to \infty$ is required to suppress the curvature of geometry so that the classical approximation for gravity will be justified. Conversely, it is natural to expect that the 1/N corrections in the worldvolume theory correspond to the quantum corrections to the classical supergravity. Indeed this naive idea have been supported by various computations in the case of the D3-branes.

In our recent works we studied the 1/N corrections to the free energy log Z(N) systematically in various theories of the M2-branes. In a large class of theories which describe the M2-branes on $(C^2/\mathbb{Z}_q \times C^2/\mathbb{Z}_p)/\mathbb{Z}_k$, which we shall call the $(q, p)_k$ models, we achieved to determine the all order perturbative corrections in 1/N to the free energy [8]. We also found interesting structure in the non-perturbative effects [9] in 1/N which will be explained later in this thesis. Moreover, for a special case q = p = 2 among these theories we also discovered an interesting correspondence [10] between the non-perturbative effects and the Gopakumar-Vafa formula in the topological string theory [11]. This implies we can generate the whole non-perturbative expansion for arbitrarily high order. Hopefully these structures and the quantitative results in the large N expansion will help us to unveil the M-theory in future.

The thesis consists of two parts other than the appendices. In part I we briefly review the three dimensional theories which describe the stack of N M2-branes, and the exact computation of their partition function in the strict large N limit. Note that the review is not fully self-contained. Various details we have omitted will be found in the references therein. In part II, after reviewing the systematic method of analysis called the Fermi gas formalism [12], we introduce our recent works on the exact large N expansion of the partition function. In contrast to part I, we describe the results in full detail and also append several technical aspects which were omitted in the original papers.

Note that the exact computation have been rapidly developed in recent years, before and after the publication of our works. Especially the data for the small k expansion in section 7 and for finite k in section 8 and 9 were remarkably improved in the independent work [13]. In section 9 we try to explain the guesswork in the determination relying only on the original data, though one will obtain the same conclusions more smoothly if he/she uses these additional data.

Part I

Gauge theory on M2-branes

In this part we have reviewed the field theoretical description of the M2-branes, which we shall call the worldvolume theory of the M2-branes. In the eleven dimensional supergravity, a stack of M2-branes is described as a half BPS soliton with (1 + 2) dimensional extension. For single M2-brane the worldvolume theory is given by a simple Nambu-Goto type action, which coincide with the low energy effective action of the massless modes around the M2-brane soliton solution in the supergravity.

For a stack of multiple M2-branes, on the other hand, the worldvolume theory must contain the interacting modes among the M2-branes which are not contained in the naive set of these massless modes. Such theory have been completely obscure for long time due to the lack of the picture of the fundamental degrees of freedom on the M2-branes, in contrast to the case of the D-branes where the fundamental degree of freedom in the worldvolume theory can be understood as the open strings ending on the D-branes.

Moreover, a computation of the gravitational entropy or the AdS_4/CFT_3 correspondence for classical gravity suggests a strange scaling of the degree of freedom on N M2-branes: $\log Z(N) \sim N^{3/2}$ [6]. This is again in contrast to the N^2 scaling in the case of the D3-branes in type IIB string theory which allows an intuitive way of understanding by the combinatorics for the two endpoints of a fundamental string.

Another obstacle was associated to the gauge fields on the branes. Since the worldvolume theory of the M2-branes is the strong coupling limit of that on the D2-branes, the field content on the M2-branes should also contain the gauge fields. On the other hand, from the study of the massless modes it follows that there are eight scalars and eight fermions, which correspond to the Nambu-Goldstone modes of the translations and the supersymmetries broken by the M2-brane soliton respectively. Hence the additional gauge fields seem to contradict with the remaining (3d $\mathcal{N} = 8$) supersymmetry preserved by the M2-branes.

In [14] a solution to this dilemma was proposed that there is a Chern-Simons gauge field on the M2-branes, which do not have on-shell degree of freedom. Based on this idea the method to realize high supersymmetry in Chern-Simons matter theory have been developed, and finally a $\mathcal{N} = 8$ superconformal Chern-Simons matter theory was proposed as the worldvolume theory of two M2-branes [15, 16, 17, 18]. Though these proposal are successful only for two M2-branes, the worldvolume theories for the stack of $N \geq 3$ M2-branes have also been constructed as the U(N)superconformal Chern-Simons matter theories.

Below we first construct such theories from the quiver diagrams, and also provide two evidences which support that the theory indeed describe the M2-branes in section 2. In section 3 we show that the theory have eight dimensional moduli space which can be interpreted as the translation



Figure 1: A part of a quiver diagram. Each vertex in the quiver diagram is assigned with a vector multiplet V_a , while each edge between the vertex a and the vertex b is assigned with a pair of chiral multiplet X_{ab} and Y_{ab} .

moduli of the M2-branes in the eleven dimensional spacetime. In section 4 we evaluate the partition function of these theory in the limit $N \to \infty$ and reproduce the $N^{3/2}$ scaling predicted from the gravity side.

2 U(N) circular quiver superconformal Chern-Simons theory

In this thesis, we shall call a diagram which consist of the set of the vertices and the edges connecting the vertices like figure 1 as a quiver diagram.¹ Given a quiver diagram with a pair of numbers (N_a, k_a) on each *a*-th vertex, we can construct a 3d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetric Chern-Simons matter theory by assigning a $U(N_a)$ $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Chern-Simons vector multiplet

$$V_a = (A_{a,\mu}, \sigma_a, \chi_a, D_a) \tag{2.1}$$

with the Chern-Simons level k_a on the *a*-th vertex and a pair of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ chiral (matter) multiplets

$$X_{ab} = (X_{ab}, \varphi_{ab}, F_{ab}), \quad Y_{ab} = (Y_{ab}, \psi_{ab}, G_{ab})$$
(2.2)

on each edge connecting *a*-th vertex and *b*-th vertex. Here the chiral multiplets are in the bifundamental representation in the gauge group $U(N_a)$ and $U(N_b)$ on the endpoints of the edge, (\bar{N}_a, N_b) and (N_a, \bar{N}_b) respectively.

We especially focus on the circular quivers with M vertices and the uniform rank of the gauge groups $N_1 = N_2 = \cdots = N_M = N$. In this case it is convenient to call the matter multiplets $X_{a,a+1}$ and $Y_{a,a+1}$ as X_a and Y_a respectively, as in figure 2. The action of these theories consist of three terms

$$S = S_{\rm CS} + S_{\rm mat} + S_{\rm pot}, \qquad (2.3)$$

¹Usually a "quiver diagram" stands for a diagram which consists of the set of vertices and the arrows connecting the vertices [19]. In this thesis, however, we always consider the case where any pair of vertices is either connected by oppositely oriented two arrows or not connected at all. Hence we depict such pair of arrows just by an edge.



Figure 2: A $\mathcal{N} = 3$ circular quiver with M nodes.

where the first term is the Chern-Simons action of the vector multiplets

$$S_{\rm CS} = \int \sum_{a=1}^{M} \frac{k_a}{4\pi} \operatorname{Tr} \left(A_a \wedge dA_a + \frac{2}{3} A_a \wedge A_a \wedge A_a - \bar{\chi}_a \chi_a + 2D_a \sigma_a \right).$$
(2.4)

while the other two terms are the action for the matter multiplets. In terms of the superfields they can be written as

$$S_{\text{mat}} = \int d\theta^{4} \sum_{a=1}^{M} \text{Tr}(e^{-V_{a}} X_{a}^{\dagger} e^{V_{a+1}} X_{a} + e^{V_{a}} Y_{a} e^{-V_{a+1}} Y_{a}^{\dagger}),$$

$$S_{\text{pot}} = \int d\theta^{2} W + (h.c).$$
(2.5)

Here we choose the superpotential W as

$$W = \sum_{a=1}^{M} \frac{1}{k_a} \operatorname{Tr}(Y_a X_a - X_{a-1} Y_{a-1})^2.$$
(2.6)

Though we do not use the superspace formalism for the computations in this thesis, we would like to note that the Chern-Simons action (2.4) can also be written in terms of the superfields [20]. Hence the action is manifestly invariant under the 3d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry transformation. This theory also enjoys the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal symmetry, which follows from the fact that the superpotential is quartic in the matter fields [20].

Due to the requirement of the gauge invariance and the flux quantization condition, the Chern-Simons levels are restricted to integers [21]. As we shall see in the next section, the levels also have to satisfy the following condition

$$\sum_{a=1}^{M} k_a = 0 \tag{2.7}$$

if we require that the dimension of the Moduli space is eight so that the theory can describe the M2-branes in an eleven dimensional spacetime. In this case the supersymmetry enhances to $\mathcal{N} = 3$.

On the other hand it is allowed to choose a Chern-Simons level zero $k_a = 0$, where the Chern-Simons action is absent. Though the corresponding terms in the superpotential (2.6) are ill defined, we can define a well defined theory by introducing an auxiliary adjoint chiral multiplet Φ_a on each vertex with $k_a = 0$ and replace the singular superpotentials with

$$\widetilde{W}_a = \operatorname{Tr} \Phi_a (Y_a X_a - X_{a-1} Y_{a-1}).$$
 (2.8)

Above we have chosen the superpotentials just by hand. Actually, if we only require the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry and the conformal invariance at classical level, an arbitrary quartic term in X_a, Y_a is allowed for the superpotential W. However if we consider a concrete type IIB brane setup to realize the Chern-Simons terms [22, 23], we can naturally deduce our particular choice of the superpotential (2.6), including the exceptional cases of $k_a = 0$ (2.8) [3].

3 Eight dimensional moduli space

In this section we review the study of the vacuum moduli space of the theory we have defined in the previous section [3, 24]. We show that there exists an eight dimensional branch of moduli space if and only if the Chern-Simons levels add up to zero (2.7).

3.1 Generic Chern-Simons levels

Let us write down the bosonic potential terms in the Lagrangian (2.3)

$$\mathcal{L}_{CS} = \sum_{a=1}^{M} \frac{k_a}{2\pi} \operatorname{Tr} D_a \sigma_a + \cdots,$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{mat} = \sum_{a=1}^{M} \operatorname{Tr} \Big[\frac{1}{4} (\sigma_a X_a^{\dagger} - X_a^{\dagger} \sigma_{a+1}) (X_a \sigma_a - \sigma_{a+1} X_a) \\ + \frac{1}{4} (\sigma_a Y_a - Y_a \sigma_{a+1}) (Y_a^{\dagger} \sigma_a - \sigma_{a+1} Y_a^{\dagger}) \\ + \frac{1}{2} D_a (-X_a^{\dagger} X_a + X_{a-1} X_{a-1}^{\dagger} + Y_a Y_a^{\dagger} - Y_{a-1}^{\dagger} Y_{a-1}) + F_a^{\dagger} F_a + G_a G_a^{\dagger} \Big] \\ + \sum_{a=1}^{M} \Big[2i \operatorname{Tr} \Big\{ \Big(\frac{1}{k_a} + \frac{1}{k_{a+1}} \Big) Y_a X_a Y_a - \frac{1}{k_a} X_{a-1} Y_{a-1} Y_a - \frac{1}{k_{a+1}} Y_a Y_{a+1} X_{a+1} \Big\} F_a \\ + 2i \operatorname{Tr} G_a \Big\{ \Big(\frac{1}{k_a} + \frac{1}{k_{a+1}} \Big) X_a Y_a X_a - \frac{1}{k_a} X_a X_{a-1} Y_{a-1} - \frac{1}{k_{a+1}} Y_{a+1} X_{a+1} X_a \Big\} \\ + (h.c) \Big] + \cdots,$$

$$(3.1)$$

where the last three lines in \mathcal{L}_{mat} come from the superpotential (2.6). Integrating the auxiliary fields F_a and G_a in the chiral multiplets we obtain the following *F*-term conditions

$$(k_a + k_{a+1})Y_a X_a Y_a - k_{a+1} X_{a-1} Y_{a-1} Y_a - k_a Y_a Y_{a+1} X_{a+1} = 0,$$

$$(k_a + k_{a+1})X_a Y_a X_a - k_{a+1} X_a X_{a-1} Y_{a-1} - k_a Y_{a+1} X_{a+1} X_a = 0.$$
(3.2)

To obtain the *D*-term conditions we first integrate out the auxiliary fields D_a in the vector multiplet to obtain the following constraints

$$\frac{k_a}{\pi}\sigma_a = X_a^{\dagger}X_a - X_{a-1}X_{a-1}^{\dagger} - Y_aY_a^{\dagger} + Y_{a-1}^{\dagger}Y_{a-1}.$$
(3.3)

From the first two lines in the potential terms (3.1), the *D*-term conditions are

$$X_a\sigma_a - \sigma_{a+1}X_a = 0, \quad \sigma_a Y_a - Y_a\sigma_{a+1} = 0 \tag{3.4}$$

with substitution of (3.3). The vacuum moduli space is the space of the solutions to the *F*-term conditions (3.2) and the *D*-term conditions (3.4) modulo the gauge transformations.

For simplicity we shall only display the analysis for the abelian cases N=1. We shall also concentrate ourselves on the branch where $X_a, Y_a \neq 0$. In this case, the *F*-term conditions and the *D*-term conditions simplify respectively as

$$F \to (k_a + k_{a+1})X_a Y_a = k_a X_{a+1} Y_{a+1} + k_{a+1} X_{a-1} Y_{a-1},$$

$$D \to (k_a + k_{a+1})(|X_a|^2 - |Y_a|^2) = k_a (|X_{a+1}|^2 - |Y_{a+1}|^2) + k_{a+1} (|X_{a-1}|^2 - |Y_{a-1}|^2).$$
(3.5)

Let us estimate the dimension of the moduli space, assuming that the total Chern-Simons level vanishes (2.7). As commented above, the dimension of the moduli space can be written schematically as

$$\dim(\mathcal{M}_{U(1)}) = 4M - (\# \text{ of } F\text{- and } D\text{-term conditions}) - (\# \text{ of gauge d.o.f}), \qquad (3.6)$$

where the first 4M is the total number of the matter scalar fields. To count the second ingredient, it is convenient to rearrange the *F*-term conditions (together with the complex conjugates) and the *D*-term conditions (3.5) as

$$\mathcal{K}_{ab} \begin{pmatrix} X_a & Y_a^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} \sigma_{\alpha} \begin{pmatrix} X_b^{\dagger} \\ Y_b \end{pmatrix} = 0, \quad \alpha = 1, 2, 3$$
(3.7)

where σ_{α} are the Pauli matrices

1

$$\sigma_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (3.8)$$

and \mathcal{K} is a matrix defined by the Chern-Simons levels as

$$\mathcal{K} = \begin{pmatrix}
k_1 + k_2 & k_1 & 0 & \cdots & \cdots & 0 & k_2 \\
k_3 & k_2 + k_3 & k_2 & 0 & \cdots & \cdots & 0 \\
0 & k_4 & k_3 + k_4 & k_3 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\
& & \ddots & & & & \\
0 & \cdots & 0 & k_{M-1} & k_{M-2} + k_{M-1} & k_{M-2} & 0 \\
0 & \cdots & \cdots & 0 & k_M & k_{M-1} + k_M & k_{M-1} \\
k_M & 0 & \cdots & \cdots & 0 & k_1 & k_M + k_1
\end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.9)

Under the condition (2.7), the rank of this matrix is rank(\mathcal{K}) = M-2, hence the *F*-term conditions and the *D*-term conditions are 3(M-2) real equations in total.

Next let us count the gauge transformations. Though there are M gauge groups $U(1)^M$ assigned on the vertices of the quiver, it is obvious that no fields transform under the "overall U(1) gauge transformation". Moreover, due to the condition (2.7) the corresponding gauge field

$$A_{\rm over} = \sum_{a=1}^{M} A_a \tag{3.10}$$

١

do not have the own Chern-Simons term coupling to itself but only couple to the other gauge fields, i.e. (up to the integration by parts)

$$\sum_{a=1}^{M} \frac{k_a}{4\pi} \int A_a dA_a = \int A_{\text{others}} dA_{\text{over}} + \cdots .$$
(3.11)

This implies that we can dualize the overall gauge field A_{over} into a free scalar field, which compensates another U(1) gauge transformation. We conclude that there are M-2 gauge degrees of freedom in total.

From these arguments the dimension of the moduli space is estimated as

$$\dim(\mathcal{M}_{U(1)}) = 4M - 3(M - 2) - (M - 2) = 8.$$
(3.12)

This result is consistent with the number of transverse directions to an M2-brane in eleven dimensional spacetime 11 - (2 + 1) = 8, and supports the proposal to describe the M2-branes by the superconformal quiver Chern-Simons theory. If the Chern-Simons levels do not sum up to zero, on the other hand, the total number of F- and D-term conditions increases since the rank of the coefficient matrix \mathcal{K} is rank(\mathcal{K}) = M - 1. What is worse, there are no reduction of the gauge degree of freedom discussed above. As a result the dimension of the moduli space would be smaller than 8. Hence the condition (2.7) is indeed essential for the theory to describe the M2-branes.

3.2 Vanishing Chern-Simons levels

We need to modify the arguments if the theory contains vanishing Chern-Simons levels $k_a = 0$. For simplicity we shall only consider the special case

$$k_1 = k, \quad k_2 = k_3 = \dots = k_q = 0,$$
 (3.13)

$$k_{q+1} = -k, \quad k_{q+2} = k_{q+3} = \cdots + k_{q+p} = 0$$
 (3.14)

with $k, q, p \in \mathbb{N}$. We will call this theory as $(q, p)_k$ minimal model for the reason explained in section 6, and study this theory in full detail thereafter. This model is special in the sense that the supersymmetry enhances from $\mathcal{N} = 3$ to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ [3].

Again assume the abelian gauge groups. First consider the *F*-term condition for the auxiliary scalars F_{Φ_a} in the adjoint chiral multiplets Φ_a . The potential terms containing these auxiliary fields are

$$S_{\text{mat}} = \sum_{a \neq 1, q+1} i F_{\Phi_a} (Y_a X_a - X_{a-1} Y_{a-1}) + (h.c.) + \cdots .$$
(3.15)

Since there are no Kahler term for the adjoint chiral multiplets, we obtain the δ -function constraints by integrating F_{Φ_a}

$$X_1Y_1 = X_2Y_2 = \dots = X_qY_q \equiv \mu_+, \quad X_{q+1}Y_{q+1} = X_{q+2}Y_{q+2}\dots = X_MY_M \equiv \mu_-.$$
(3.16)

Second we consider the *F*-term conditions for the bifundamental chiral multiplet. Since the original superpotential other than \widetilde{W}_a only contains F_1, F_q, F_{q+1}, F_M and G_1, G_q, G_{q+1}, G_M , let us first consider the *F*-term conditions for the other auxiliary fields. From \widetilde{W}_a , we obtain the following condition for F_2 and G_2 respectively

$$Y_2(\phi_2 - \phi_3) = 0, \quad X_2(\phi_2 - \phi_3) = 0.$$
 (3.17)

Here ϕ_a is the lowest scalar component of the adjoint chiral multiplet Φ_a . Assuming $X_a, Y_a \neq 0$ as in the case of non-zero Chern-Simons levels, the two conditions reduce to $\phi_2 = \phi_3$. Repeating the manipulation one by one in order, we finally obtain the following conditions

$$\phi_2 = \phi_3 = \dots = \phi_q \equiv \phi_+, \quad \phi_{q+2} = \phi_{q+3} = \dots = \phi_M \equiv \phi_-.$$
 (3.18)

The *F*-term conditions for the other auxiliary fields F_a, G_a (a = 1, q, q + 1, M) are the slight modifications of (3.2) due to \widetilde{W}_a . After applying the conditions in our hands (3.16) and (3.18), only two of the eight conditions are found to be independent:

$$F_1 \to \frac{2}{k}(\mu_+ - \mu_-) - \phi_+ = 0,$$

$$F_{q+1} \to -\frac{2}{k}(\mu_- - \mu_+) - \phi_- = 0.$$
(3.19)

Third we shall consider the *D*-term conditions. From D_a with $a \neq 1, q+1$ we obtain the δ -function constraints which reduce to

$$|X_1|^2 - |Y_1|^2 = |X_2|^2 - |Y_2|^2 = \dots = |X_q|^2 - |Y_q|^2 \equiv \mu_{3+}, \quad \sigma_2 = \sigma_3 = \dots = \sigma_{q+1} \equiv \sigma_+ \quad (3.20)$$

for $a = 2, 3, \cdots q$ and

$$|X_{q+1}|^2 - |Y_{q+1}|^2 = |X_{q+2}|^2 - |Y_{q+2}|^2 = \dots = |X_M|^2 - |Y_M|^2 \equiv \mu_{3-},$$
(3.21)

$$\sigma_{q+2} = \sigma_{q+3} = \dots = \sigma_1 \equiv \sigma_- \tag{3.22}$$

for $a = q + 2, q + 3, \dots M$. On the other hand, the *D*-terms conditions for D_a with a = 1, q + 1, which are again simplified with the help of these results, are

$$\mu_{3+} - \mu_{3-} = \frac{k\sigma_+}{\pi}, \quad \sigma_+ = \sigma_-.$$
 (3.23)

In summary

- $\circ~\phi_a$ and σ_a do not carry independent degrees of freedom.
- We have 2q complex scalars X_a, Y_a $(a = 1, 2, \dots, q)$ subject to 3(q 1) real constraints (3.16) and (3.20), and (q 1) independent gauge transformations acting on them.
- We also have 2p complex scalars X_a, Y_a $(a = q + 1, q + 2, \dots, M)$ subject to 3(p 1) real constraints (3.16) and (3.21), and (p-1) independent gauge transformations acting on them.

Hence the real dimension of the moduli space is again 8 from (3.6)

$$\dim(\mathcal{M}_{U(1)}) = 4q - 3(q-1) - (q-1) + (4p - 3(p-1) - (p-1)) = 8.$$
(3.24)

The concrete expression of the moduli space of the $(q, p)_k$ model is determined in [3] as

$$(\mathbb{C}^2/\mathbb{Z}_q \times \mathbb{C}^2/\mathbb{Z}_p)/\mathbb{Z}_k.$$
(3.25)

4 Large N partition function

In this section we review the computation of the partition function Z(N) of the $\mathcal{N} = 3 U(N)$ circular quiver superconformal Chern-Simons theory in the limit of $N \to \infty$. In the first two subsections we will explain that the partition function of the theory realized on the round three sphere S^3 with unit radius is given by the following finite dimensional integration (which we shall call a matrix model) [25, 26, 27].

$$Z(N) = \frac{1}{(N!)^M} \prod_{a=1}^M \prod_{i=1}^N \left[\int \frac{d\lambda_{a,i}}{2\pi} e^{\frac{ik_a}{4\pi} \lambda_{a,i}^2} \right] \prod_{a=1}^M \frac{\prod_{i (4.1)$$

We would like to provide only the basic idea of the localization technique which is the most essential in the whole derivation and a few sketches for the other parts of the derivation, while skip almost all the detail of the derivation.² After that we demonstrate the evaluation of the matrix model in the large N limit for the case of the simplest quiver $\{k_a\}_{a=1}^2 = \{k, -k\}$, which is called the ABJM theory [2, 4].

4.1 Localization technique

Here we shall explain the powerful computational technique in the supersymmetric gauge theories, called the localization technique [28, 29]. Consider a theory with the field content Φ and the action $S(\Phi)$, and try to compute the following expectation value of a composite $\mathcal{O}(\Phi)$

$$\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle = \int \mathcal{D} \Phi \mathcal{O} e^{-S}. \tag{4.2}$$

Then, it follows that

• Suppose there exists some symmetry Q of the theory respected by \mathcal{O} , $QS = Q\mathcal{O} = 0$, and some Q-exact functional $QV(\Phi)$ which is positive semi definite in Φ and Q-closed Q(QV) = 0. Then path integral partly reduces to the Gaussian integrations around the locus of $QV(\Phi) = 0$

$$\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle = \sum_{\Phi_0(QV(\Phi_0)=0)} \mathcal{O}(\Phi_0) e^{-S(\Phi_0)} Z_{1\text{-loop}} \left(\left[\frac{1}{2} \frac{\delta^2 QV}{\delta \Phi \delta \Phi} \right]_{\Phi_0} \right), \tag{4.3}$$

where $Z_{1-\text{loop}}(\cdot)$ is the functional determinant of an operator over the fluctuations of Φ around Φ_0 .

This can be shown as follows. First we introduce a deformation parameter t > 0 to (4.2) as

$$\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle_t = \int \mathcal{D} \Phi \mathcal{O} e^{-S - tQV}.$$
 (4.4)

 $^{^{2}}$ The readers who accept the matrix model expression of the partition function (4.1) may skip section 4.1 and 4.2.

The original expectation value is reproduced by taking t = 0

$$\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle = \langle \mathcal{O} \rangle_{t=0}. \tag{4.5}$$

On the other hand, differentiating (4.4) we obtain

$$\frac{d}{dt} \langle \mathcal{O} \rangle_t = \int \mathcal{D}\Phi(-QV) \mathcal{O}e^{-S-tQV}
= \int \mathcal{D}\Phi Q \left(-V \mathcal{O}e^{-S-tQV}\right)
= 0,$$
(4.6)

where we have used $QS = Q\mathcal{O} = Q(QV) = 0$ and have supposed the Q-invariance of the integration measure. This implies that $\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle_t$ is actually independent of the deformation parameter t. Hence we conclude that the original expectation value $\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle$ can be evaluated by $\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle_t$ in the limit $t \to \infty$. Since QV is positive semi definite, the path integral almost localizes to the configurations QV = 0 in this limit. The deviation from this rough estimation can be obtained by expanding the fields as

$$\Phi = \Phi_0 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}} \Delta \Phi, \qquad (4.7)$$

with which

$$S = S(\Phi_0) + \mathcal{O}(t^{-\frac{1}{2}}),$$

$$tQV = \frac{1}{2}\Delta\Phi \left[\frac{\delta^2 QV}{\delta\Phi\delta\Phi}\right]_{\Phi_0} \Delta\Phi + \mathcal{O}(t^{-\frac{1}{2}}).$$
 (4.8)

Here we have used the fact that $QV = \delta QV/(\delta \Phi) = 0$ at $\Phi = \Phi_0$. Plugging these expressions into (4.4) and sending t to infinity we obtain (4.3).

A familiar example for such reduction would be the process of the BRST gauge fixing in a gauge theory, where Q is the BRST charge and Φ_0 are the general field configurations on some particular gauge slice. Typically the saddle point loci Φ_0 themselves keep some functional degree of freedom, as in the case of this example, and there still remain non-trivial path integrals. In some of the supersymmetric field theories with Q an appropriate choice of the supersymmetry transformation, however, the path integral localizes completely and the remaining sum over Φ_0 is discrete sum or at most finite dimensional ordinary integrals. The matrix model expression of the partition function (4.1) is obtained by applying this technique to the partition function ($\mathcal{O} = 1$) of the superconformal Chern-Simons theory on S^3 .

Note that, in the above argument we have implicitly assumed that the differential with respect to t commute with the path integral, that is, that the path integral converges for arbitrary fixed t in $0 \le t < \infty$. Roughly speaking, the action on S^3 is realized by Euclideanize the original action (2.3), replacing the derivatives with the covariant derivatives, and adding curvature coupling terms appropriately. The compactification will introduce a inflared cutoff to the theory. Moreover, due to the curvature coupling the contribution of a large constant mode will be suppressed, which regularize the divergence caused by infinite volume of the moduli space of the theory. These are the reasons for why we consider the theory on a sphere.

4.2 Partition function as matrix model – sketch of derivation

In this section we briefly explain the derivation of each factor in (4.1) for the $\mathcal{N} = 3 U(N)$ quiver superconformal Chern-Simons theory. First, we shall quote that the localization locus which solve the conditions

$$\delta\chi_a = 0, \quad \delta\phi_{ab} = 0, \quad \delta\psi_{ab} = 0 \tag{4.9}$$

is found to be [25]

$$\sigma_a = \sigma_{0a}, \quad (\sigma_{0a}: \text{ constant matrix})$$

 $D_a = -\sigma_a, \quad \text{other fields} = 0.$ (4.10)

Due to the gauge invariance of the action we can choose the saddle point values σ_{0a} as diagonal matrices in exchange of the appearance of the Vandermonde determinant in the integration over the saddle point configurations (Weyl integration formula) as

$$\sigma_{0a} = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{0a,1} & & \\ & \sigma_{0a,2} & \\ & \ddots & \\ & & \sigma_{0a,N} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\sum_{\text{saddle}} \rightarrow \frac{1}{N!} \prod_{a=1}^{M} \prod_{i=1}^{N} \int d\sigma_{a,i} \prod_{a=1}^{M} \prod_{i \neq j} (\sigma_{0a,i} - \sigma_{0a,j}). \tag{4.11}$$

After the substitution of the saddle point configuration into the action, only the $D\sigma$ term in $S_{\rm CS}$ survives and we obtain

$$e^{-S|_{\text{saddle}}} = e^{-i\int_{S^3} dx^3 \sqrt{g} \sum_{a=1}^M \frac{k_a}{2\pi} \operatorname{Tr} D_a \sigma_a} = e^{\pi i k \sum_{a=1}^M \sum_{i=1}^N \sigma_{0a,i}^2},$$
(4.12)

where the prefactor i comes in through the Euclideanization of the action (2.4).

Next, we would like to sketch the derivation of the 1-loop determinant. Expanding the regulator potential QV as (4.8), we will obtain the kinetic terms with supersymmetric version of the covariant derivatives, i.e. the diffeomorphism/gauge covariant derivatives plus the Yukawa terms with $\sigma = \sigma_0$.³ On the round sphere S^d we can explicitly list the eigenfunctions of the kinetic operators, labeled by d integers as well as the spin/gauge indices. Though almost all the contributions from these modes are cancelled between the bosonic fields and the fermionic fields,

³Notice that the 3d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supermultiplets are the dimensional reduction of the 4d $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supermultiplets, where the scalar σ is originally the fourth component of the gauge field A_{μ} .

nevertheless there typically remains some infinite series of eigenvalues with reduced dimension. Here we shall just display the final results [25]. For the adjoint multiplet on the a-th vertex in the quiver we obtain

$$Z_{1-\text{loop}}^{\text{adj}} = \prod_{i \neq j} \frac{\prod_{\ell=1}^{\infty} (\ell + i(\sigma_{0a,i} - \sigma_{0a,j}))}{\prod_{\ell=1}^{\infty} (\ell - i(\sigma_{0a,i} - \sigma_{0a,j}))} = \prod_{i \neq j} \frac{2\sinh \pi(\sigma_{0a,i} - \sigma_{0a,j})}{\sigma_{0a,i} - \sigma_{0a,j}},$$
(4.13)

while for the pair of bifundamental multiplet on the a-th edge

$$Z_{1-\text{loop}}^{\text{matter}} = \left[\prod_{i,j=1}^{N} \prod_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{\ell + \frac{1}{2} + i(\sigma_{0a,i} - \sigma_{0a+1,j})}{\ell - \frac{1}{2} - i(\sigma_{0a,i} - \sigma_{0a+1,j})}\right)^{\ell}\right]^2 = \prod_{i,j=1}^{N} \frac{1}{2\cosh \pi(\sigma_{0a,i} - \sigma_{0a+1,j})}, \quad (4.14)$$

where the index ℓ originates from the labels of the spherical Harmonics on S^3 , surviving after the cancellation between the bosons and the fermions. The σ_{0a} -dependence reflects the representation of each supermultiplet under the gauge groups.

Putting above results together, with the rescaling $\sigma_{0a,i} = \lambda_{a,i}/(2\pi)$, we obtain the matrix model expression of the partition function (4.1).

4.3 Large N limit of partition function

In the last sections we have shown that the partition function of the quiver superconformal Chern-Simons theory can be evaluated by the finite dimensional ordinary integrals (4.1), without being bothered by the non-trivial path integrals. Nevertheless we have to evaluate the large number (MN) of integrals, which is still a non-trivial task. In the strict large N limit, however, we can evaluate the integrals with the help of the saddle point approximation. The result perfectly coincide with the action of the eleven dimensional supergravity on the dual background geometry, which provides a consistency check for the theory to describe N M2-branes.

Historically the matrix model was first solved for the simplest case, the ABJM theory, in the 't Hooft limit $k, N \to \infty$ with k/N fixed [30]. Later the matrix model for general $\mathcal{N} = 3$ quiver was uniformly solved in the limit $N \to \infty$ while the levels k_a kept finite [31], which is more directly interpreted as the dual of the eleven dimensional geometry and called the "M-theoretical limit" [32]. In this section we shall review the latter way of analysis, while considering the ABJM theory for simplicity.

Let us denote $\lambda_{a=1}$ and $\lambda_{a=2}$ as λ and $\tilde{\lambda}$ respectively, and write the matrix model (4.1) as

$$Z(N) = \prod_{i=1}^{N} \int d\lambda_i d\widetilde{\lambda}_i e^{f(\lambda,\widetilde{\lambda})}$$
(4.15)

with

$$f(\lambda,\widetilde{\lambda}) = \frac{ik}{4\pi} \sum_{i=1}^{N} (\lambda_i^2 - \widetilde{\lambda}_i^2) + \sum_{i \neq j} \log 2 \sinh \frac{\lambda_i - \lambda_j}{2} + \sum_{i \neq j} \log 2 \sinh \frac{\widetilde{\lambda}_i - \widetilde{\lambda}_j}{2}$$

$$-2\sum_{i,j=1}^{N}\log 2\cosh\frac{\lambda_i-\widetilde{\lambda}_j}{2}-2\log(2\pi N!).$$
(4.16)

Then the saddle point approximation for the partition function is

$$Z(N) \sim e^{f(\lambda, \tilde{\lambda})} \bigg|_{\text{saddle}}$$
 (4.17)

where "saddle" stands for the substitution of the solution of the following saddle point equations:

$$0 = \frac{\partial f}{\partial \lambda_i} = \frac{ik}{2\pi} \lambda_i + \sum_{j(\neq i)} \coth \frac{\lambda_i - \lambda_j}{2} - \sum_j \tanh \frac{\lambda_i - \widetilde{\lambda}_j}{2},$$

$$0 = \frac{\partial f}{\partial \widetilde{\lambda}_i} = -\frac{ik}{2\pi} \widetilde{\lambda}_i + \sum_{j(\neq i)} \coth \frac{\widetilde{\lambda}_i - \widetilde{\lambda}_j}{2} + \sum_j \tanh \frac{\lambda_j - \widetilde{\lambda}_i}{2}.$$
 (4.18)

The sum over the indices in (4.16) implies that $f(\lambda, \tilde{\lambda})$ generically grows in some positive power of N, and hence the saddle point approximation for the partition function (4.15) becomes accurate in the limit $N \to \infty$.

We can estimate the solution of the saddle point equation by a numerical study. Consider a 2N pair of infinite sequences $\{\lambda_i^{(n)}, \tilde{\lambda}_i^{(n)}\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ generated by the following recursion relation

$$\begin{pmatrix} \lambda_i^{(n+1)} \\ \widetilde{\lambda}_i^{(n+1)} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_i^{(n)} \\ \widetilde{\lambda}_i^{(n)} \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{E} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial f(\lambda_i^{(n)}, \widetilde{\lambda}_i^{(n)})}{\partial \lambda_i} \\ \frac{\partial f(\lambda_i^{(n)}, \widetilde{\lambda}_i^{(n)})}{\partial \widetilde{\lambda}_i} \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.19)

with \mathcal{E} some $2N \times 2N$ matrix. Given k, N, the initial values and the matrix \mathcal{E} we can easily generate the whole sequence numerically. Now suppose the sequence converges. Then it follows from the recursion relation that the set of values of convergence $(\lambda_i, \tilde{\lambda}_i)$ is a solution to the saddle point equation (4.18). For k = 4 and N = 20, 80, for example, the sequence can converge for the following choice of \mathcal{E}

$$\mathcal{E} = \begin{pmatrix} 0.001 \times i\mathbb{1} & 0\\ 0 & -0.001 \times i\mathbb{1} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.20)

The results are displayed in figure 3.

Now let us solve the saddle point equation analytically in the large N limit. Comparing the numerical results for N = 20 and N = 80, and for λ and $\tilde{\lambda}$, it is reasonable to pose the following ansatz:

$$\lambda_i = \sqrt{N}x_i + iy_i, \quad \widetilde{\lambda}_i = \sqrt{N}x_i - iy_i \tag{4.21}$$

with x_i and y_i some real numbers of $\mathcal{O}(1)$. For these ansatz the saddle point equations for $\tilde{\lambda}$, $\partial f/\partial \tilde{\lambda}_i$, are simply the complex conjugate of $\partial f/\partial \lambda_i$. It is also convenient to regard the solutions as a continuous distribution by introducing the eigenvalue density $\rho(x)$ in the real axis

$$x_i \to x,$$



Figure 3: The numerical result of $(\{\lambda_i\}, \{\tilde{\lambda}_i\})$ for N = 20 ((blue circle, red triangle)) and those for N = 80 ((blue cross, red inverted triangle)). We observe that $\tilde{\lambda}_i$ are distributed on the complex conjugates of λ_i . Also notice that the real part scales as \sqrt{N} (doubled as N is quadrupled) while the imaginary part is not scaled.

$$y_i \to y(x),$$

 $\sum_i \to N \int_{-L}^{L} dx \rho(x)$
(4.22)

where we have assumed the support of distribution to be a single segment (-L, L) and have normalized $\rho(x)$ as

$$\int_{-L}^{L} dx \rho(x) = 1.$$
 (4.23)

Expanding the saddle point equations in the large N limit under these expressions, we finally obtain the following equations from the real/imaginary part respectively

$$\frac{k}{2\pi} - 4\rho \frac{dy}{dx} - 4\frac{d\rho}{dx}y = 0,$$

$$\frac{kx}{2\pi} - 4\rho y = 0.$$
(4.24)

From the numerical result we postulate y(x) to be linear in x and find the following solution to the differential equation and the normalization condition (4.23).

$$y = \frac{kLx}{4\pi}, \quad \rho = \frac{1}{2L}.$$
 (4.25)

Though the constant L remains undetermined at this stage, it can be determined by minimizing the free energy f (4.16). In the continuum notation (4.21) with (4.22), the leading part of f can be written as

$$f = N^{\frac{3}{2}} \left(-\frac{k}{\pi} \int_{-L}^{L} dx \rho y - \pi^2 \int_{-L}^{L} dx \rho^2 + 4 \int_{-L}^{L} dx y^2 \rho^2 \right).$$
(4.26)

Substituting the solution (4.25) we obtain

$$f = N^{\frac{3}{2}} \left(-\frac{k^2 L^3}{24\pi^2} - \frac{\pi^2}{2L} \right)$$
(4.27)

which is minimized at

$$L = \pi \sqrt{\frac{2}{k}}.$$
(4.28)

Hence we obtain the partition function in the large N limit as

$$Z(N) \sim \exp\left[-\frac{\pi\sqrt{2k}}{3}N^{\frac{3}{2}}\right].$$
(4.29)

Note that the abelian moduli space of the ABJM theory is $\mathbb{C}^4/\mathbb{Z}_k$ (3.25) and this partition function can be written with the volume of the radial section of $\mathbb{C}^4/\mathbb{Z}_k$, $\operatorname{vol}(Y)$ as

$$Z(N) \sim \exp\left[-N^{\frac{3}{2}}\sqrt{\frac{2\pi^6}{27\operatorname{vol}(Y)}}\right]$$
 (4.30)

and precisely consistent with the calculation in the gravity side. Though here we have only considered the ABJM theory, the computation is parallel also for the general $\mathcal{N} = 3$ quivers and we will obtain the same final expression (4.30) with Y the radial section of the moduli space of each theory [31].

5 Summary for part I

In this part we have review on the $\mathcal{N} = 3 U(N)$ superconformal quiver Chern-Simons theories proposed as the worldvolume theory of N M2-branes. Different from the case of D-branes, so far there are no first principle derivation for the fundamental degree of freedom in the worldvolume theory on M2-branes, hence the proposal would be in some sense heuristic. Supported by a variety of circumstantial evidences, however, these theories are believed to actually describe the M2-branes.

We have introduced two of these evidences. The first one is that the theory have eight dimensional moduli space, corresponding to the location of the M2-branes in the eleven dimensional spacetime. The second one is that the large N limit of the free energy is consistent with the calculation in the gravity side: $N^{3/2}$ scaling behavior as well as its prefactor. In order the moduli space to be eight dimensional, the vanishing of the total Chern-Simons level (2.7) is crucial. Though we have assumed this condition in the computation of the partition function above, the localization and the saddle point analysis are also applicable for the non-vanishing cases and we can show that (2.7) is the necessary condition also for the leading $N^{3/2}$ scaling of the free energy [33].

Remarkably, the $\mathcal{N} = 3 \ U(N)$ circular quiver superconformal Chern-Simons theories we have considered can be realized by particular D3-NS5-(1, k)5 brane setups in the type IIB string theory [2, 3]. Here (1, k)5 is the bound state of one NS5 brane and k D5-branes. These systems can be lifted up to the system of the M2-branes via appropriate duality transformations, where the D3-branes turn into the M2-branes while the five branes become the geometry called Kaluza-Klein monopole. Close to the core, the Kaluza-Klein monopole geometry is asymptotically an orbifolded plane which precisely reproduce the orbifold action on the moduli space. This strongly supports that the proposed theories are indeed the worldvolume theory of the M2-branes.

In terms of the gauge/gravity correspondence, in this part we have used the gravity side to confirm the gauge theory. Once we accept the quiver superconformal Chern-Simons theory as the worldvolume theory, however, we can provide new predictions to the gravity side from the gauge side. Hopefully the exact analysis of the superconformal Chern-Simons theory beyond the large N limit will give new predictions to the quantum effect of the gravity. In the next part we present our recent works where we compute such corrections systematically.

Part II

Beyond large N limit

In this part we review our recent works on the exact computation of the partition function of the $N \geq 3 U(N)$ superconformal Chern-Simons theories beyond the large N limit.

In section 4 we have reviewed that the partition function of the superconformal Chern-Simons theory can be reduced to finite dimensional ordinary integrals, i.e. a matrix model, with the help of the localization technique. In the large N limit we can further evaluate the remaining integrals and obtain the result consistent with the classical supergravity.

However, it is still non-trivial how to evaluate these integrals beyond the strict limit $N \to \infty$. Generally, for small N, i.e. N = 1, 2, etc. it would be possible to evaluate the integrals exactly or at least numerically. In the context of the AdS/CFT correspondence, however, such results are quite difficult to translate in the language of gravity. To be successful, it will be more helpful to express the deviation from the large N limit as the large N expansion, where the 1/N corrections may be interpreted in the gravity side based on the language of classical geometry.

Though such computation is difficult due to the increasing number of integrations, there is a powerful traditional technique in the matrix model, the 't Hooft expansion. In this method we take the limit $k, N \to \infty$ while keeping the 't Hooft coupling $\lambda = N/k$ finite, and compute the partition function in perturbation with respect to λ . This method was indeed successful in the case of the ABJM theory [34] so that the authors finally achieved to determine the all order perturbative corrections to the partition function in 1/N. However, the computation heavily relies on the non-trivial correspondence between the ABJM matrix model and the topological string theory on the local $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ [35]. Also, as the dimension of the moduli space $\mathbb{C}^4/\mathbb{Z}_k$ is reduced in the limit $k \to \infty$, it correspond to the ten dimensional IIA limit rather than the eleven dimensional M-theoretical regime. Especially, the non-perturbative effects in 1/k would be invisible in the 't Hooft expansion.

Recently, an alternative technique was proposed in [12], which is called the Fermi gas formalism. We can compute the large N limit of the partition function and the leading coefficient for general quivers far more easily even compared with the saddle point method in section 4. As we will see below, this formalism also provide various systematic methods to compute the partition function without taking the IIA limit $k \to \infty$. Interestingly, the computation simplifies in the opposite limit $k \to 0.^4$ As a result we can obtain the all order perturbative corrections to the partition function in 1/N and even the non-perturbative effects in N like $\mathcal{O}(e^{-\sqrt{N}})$.

This part is organized as follows. In section 6 we first review the derivation of the Fermi gas formalism itself for general U(N) $\mathcal{N} = 3$ circular quiver superconformal Chern-Simons theories.

⁴Though the Chern-Simons levels must be integers in the original field theory, in the matrix model (4.1) we can continue them to general irrational numbers.

Using the Fermi gas formalism we also provide the all order perturbative corrections to the partition function in 1/N, which sum up to an Airy function. In section 7 we analyze the partition function in the small k expansion, and discover the non-perturbative contributions in 1/N. These effects are non-perturbative also in 1/k, hence invisible in the perturbative 't Hooft expansion, and can be interpreted as the D-brane instantons [36]. After establishing another method in section 8, in section 9 we determine the non-perturbative effects for finite k. We finally reveal a beautiful structure of the whole non-perturbative effects: the coincidence with the Gopakumar-Vafa formula [11] for the refined topological string theory.

6 Fermi gas formalism and all order perturbative corrections in 1/N

In this section we first introduce the Fermi gas formalism where the partition function Z(N) is re-expressed as the partition function of the quantum statistical system of an ideal Fermi gas with non-trivial one particle density matrix $\hat{\rho}$ (6.20). After that, in section 6.1 we reveal the general structure of the large N expansion of the partition function. Surprisingly, we can show that the all order perturbative corrections to the partition function sum up to an Airy function

$$Z^{\text{pert}}(N) = e^A C^{-\frac{1}{3}} \operatorname{Ai}[C^{-\frac{1}{3}}(N-B)], \qquad (6.1)$$

where C, B and A are some constants depending on the detail of the theory, and the Airy function is defined by the following integration expression

$$\operatorname{Ai}(x) = \int_{-i\infty}^{i\infty} \frac{dz}{2\pi i} e^{\frac{1}{3}z^3 - xz}.$$
(6.2)

The large (N - B) expansion of the free energy log Z is obtained from the asymptotic behavior of the Airy function as

$$\log Z = -\frac{2}{3\sqrt{C}}(N-B)^{\frac{3}{2}} - \frac{1}{4}\log(N-B) + A - \log[2\sqrt{\pi}C^{\frac{1}{4}}] + \mathcal{O}((N-B)^{-\frac{3}{2}}).$$
(6.3)

The leading behavior in the limit $N \to \infty$ is consistent with the results obtained from the classical supergravity on $\operatorname{AdS}_4 \times Y_7$ if $C = \operatorname{vol}(Y_7)$. We also obtain the explicit expression of C, which is indeed consistent with the requirement. In this section 6.2 we determine the explicit expression of the second coefficient B for a special class of the quivers.

Our starting point is the partition function of the $\mathcal{N} = 3 U(N)$ circular quiver superconformal Chern-Simons theory, which is reduced to a matrix model after the application of the localization technique [25, 26, 27, 31]

$$Z(N) = \frac{1}{(N!)^M} \int D\lambda_{a,i} \prod_{a=1}^M \frac{\prod_{i < j} 2\sinh\frac{\lambda_{a,i} - \lambda_{a,j}}{2} \prod_{i < j} 2\sinh\frac{\lambda_{a+1,i} - \lambda_{a+1,j}}{2}}{\prod_{i,j} 2\cosh\frac{\lambda_{a,i} - \lambda_{a+1,j}}{2}},$$
(6.4)

where

$$D\lambda_{a,i} = \frac{d\lambda_{a,i}}{2\pi} e^{\frac{ik_a \lambda_{a,i}^2}{4\pi}}.$$
(6.5)

Notice that the 1-loop determinants are decomposed into the pieces each of which is in the form of the Cauchy determinant formula

$$\frac{\prod_{i < j} (x_i - x_j) \prod_{j < j} (y_i - y_j)}{\prod_{i,j} (x_i + y_j)} = \det_{i,j} \frac{1}{x_i + y_j}$$
(6.6)

as

$$\frac{\prod_{i
(6.7)$$

We shall also use the following formula (see appendix A in [37]) to swap the order of the integrations and the determinant

$$\frac{1}{N!}\prod_{i=1}^{N}\int dz_i \left[\det_{i,j} f(x_i, z_j)\right] \left[\det_{i,j} g(z_i, y_j)\right] = \det_{i,j} \int dz f(x_i, z) g(z, y_j).$$
(6.8)

Applying these formulas repeatedly to (6.4) we finally obtain the following expression for the partition function

$$Z(N) = \frac{1}{N!} \prod_{i=1}^{N} \int \frac{dx_i}{2\pi} \det_{i,j} \rho_0(x_i, x_j) = \frac{1}{N!} \prod_{i=1}^{N} \int \frac{dx_i}{2\pi} \sum_{\sigma \in S_N} (-1)^{\sigma} \prod_{i=1}^{N} \rho_0(x_i, x_\sigma(i))$$
(6.9)

with

$$\rho_0(x,y) = \prod_{a=2}^M \int \frac{dz_a}{2\pi} e^{\frac{ik_1}{4\pi}x^2} \frac{1}{2\cosh\frac{x-z_2}{2}} e^{\frac{ik_2}{4\pi}z_2^2} \frac{1}{2\cosh\frac{z_2-z_3}{2}} e^{\frac{ik_3}{4\pi}z_3^2} \cdots e^{\frac{ik_M}{4\pi}z_M^2} \frac{1}{2\cosh\frac{z_M-y}{2}}.$$
 (6.10)

The expression (6.9) is the same form as the partition function of N particle ideal Fermi gas in the statistical system.

In the statistical system, it is often easier to study the grand potential $\mathcal{J}(\mu)$ defined by introducing an auxiliary parameter μ called the chemical potential as

$$e^{\mathcal{J}(\mu)} = \sum_{N=0}^{\infty} e^{N\mu} Z(N)$$
 (6.11)

rather than the partition function itself. Indeed the grand potential can be written compactly as (see appendix A)

$$\mathcal{J}(\mu) = \operatorname{Tr}\log(1 + e^{\mu}\rho_0). \tag{6.12}$$

This quantity is much easier to analyze than the partition function Z(N), as we will see in the following sections.

To take advantages of the techniques of the quantum statistical mechanics, it is useful to rewrite the grand potential in the operator formalism. Since the Chern-Simons level k_a sum up to zero it is more reasonable to assign the numbers s_a on the edges of the circular quiver to define the levels as the differences

$$k_a = \frac{k(s_a - s_{a-1})}{2}.$$
(6.13)

In this notation the quantity ρ_0 (6.10) can be written as

$$\rho_{0} = \prod_{a=2}^{M} \int \frac{dz_{a}}{2\pi} \left[e^{\frac{iks_{1}x^{2}}{8\pi}} \frac{1}{2\cosh\frac{x-z_{2}}{2}} e^{-\frac{iks_{1}z_{2}^{2}}{8\pi}} \right] \\ \left[e^{\frac{iks_{2}z_{2}^{2}}{8\pi}} \frac{1}{2\cosh\frac{z_{2}-z_{3}}{2}} e^{-\frac{iks_{2}z_{3}^{2}}{8\pi}} \right] \cdots \left[e^{\frac{iks_{M}z_{M}^{2}}{8\pi}} \frac{1}{2\cosh\frac{z_{M}-y}{2}} e^{-\frac{iks_{M}y^{2}}{8\pi}} \right].$$
(6.14)

Using the Fourier transformation formula

$$\frac{1}{2\cosh\frac{x}{2}} = \int \frac{dp}{2\pi} e^{\frac{ipx}{2\pi}} \frac{1}{2\cosh\frac{p}{2}},\tag{6.15}$$

each factor in the square bracket in (6.14) can be rewritten as

$$e^{\frac{iks_a z_a^2}{8\pi}} \frac{1}{2\cosh\frac{z_a - z_{a+1}}{2}} e^{-\frac{iks_a z_{a+1}^2}{8\pi}} = k \left\langle kz_a \left| e^{\frac{is_a \hat{x}^2}{8\pi k}} \frac{1}{2\cosh\frac{\hat{p}}{2}} e^{-\frac{is_a \hat{x}^2}{8\pi k}} \right| kz_{a+1} \right\rangle, \tag{6.16}$$

where we have introduced the canonical position/momentum operators (\hat{x}, \hat{p}) and their eigenstates $(|x\rangle, |p\rangle)$ normalized so that

$$[\widehat{x}, \widehat{p}] = i\hbar, \quad (\hbar = 2\pi k)$$
$$\langle x|x'\rangle = 2\pi\delta(x - x'), \quad \langle p|p'\rangle = 2\pi\delta(p - p'), \quad \langle x|p\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{k}}e^{\frac{ipx}{2\pi k}}.$$
(6.17)

In the operator formalism, the (M-1) integrals in ρ_0 (6.10) together with the k factored out in (6.16) are interpreted as the insertion of unity

$$1 = \int \frac{dx}{2\pi} |x\rangle \langle x|, \quad (x = kz)$$
(6.18)

hence the grand potential (6.12) can be rewritten as

$$\mathcal{J}(\mu) = \operatorname{Tr}\log(1 + e^{\mu}\widehat{\rho}) \tag{6.19}$$

with

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\cdot) = \int \frac{dx}{2\pi} \langle x | \cdot | x \rangle,$$
$$\widehat{\rho} = \frac{1}{2 \cosh[\frac{1}{2}(\widehat{p} - \frac{s_1}{2}\widehat{x})]} \frac{1}{2 \cosh[\frac{1}{2}(\widehat{p} - \frac{s_2}{2}\widehat{x})]} \cdots \frac{1}{2 \cosh[\frac{1}{2}(\widehat{p} - \frac{s_M}{2}\widehat{x})]}.$$
(6.20)

Here we have used (6.16) and the formula

$$e^{\frac{i}{2\hbar}\hat{x}^2}f(\hat{p})e^{-\frac{i}{2\hbar}\hat{x}^2} = f(\hat{p}+\hat{x}).$$
 (6.21)

Interestingly, the grand potential $\mathcal{J}(\mu)$ extremely simplifies in the limit $k \to 0$, the opposite to the IIA limit $k \to \infty$. In this limit the statistical system can be treated classically.

6.1 All order perturbative corrections in Airy function

In this section we show the Airy function structure (6.1) of the perturbative expansion of the partition function Z(N) in 1/N. Though the structure looks complicated in the partition function, this is equivalent to the following simple structure in the large μ expansion of the grand potential $J(\mu)^5$

$$J(\mu) = \frac{C}{3}\mu^3 + B\mu + A + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\mu}).$$
(6.23)

Indeed the inverse transformation from the grand potential to the partition function follows from (6.11) as⁶

$$Z(N) = \int_{-i\infty}^{i\infty} \frac{d\mu}{2\pi i} e^{J(\mu) - \mu N},$$
(6.25)

which immediately produce the Airy function (6.1) after the substitution of (6.23).

In this section we shall derive the large μ expansion of $J(\mu)$ (6.23) with some simple ideas of the statistical mechanics. First note that the large μ expansion (6.23) for the grand potential is equivalent to the following large E expansion for the "number of states" n(E) with the energy less than $E, \hat{H} \leq E$,

$$n(E) = CE^{2} + B - \frac{\pi^{2}C}{3} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-E}).$$
(6.26)

Here $\hat{H} = -\log \hat{\rho}$ is the one particle Hamiltonian of the statistical system. This can be seen as follows. First, as we may often do in the statistical mechanics, we try to compute the trace in (6.12) with the energy eigenstates

$$J(\mu) = \int_0^\infty dE \frac{dn(E)}{dE} \log(1 + e^{\mu - E}).$$
 (6.27)

Integrating by parts we obtain

$$J(\mu) = \int_0^\infty dEn(E) \frac{e^{\mu - E}}{1 + e^{\mu - E}},$$
(6.28)

$$e^{\mathcal{J}(\mu)} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} e^{J(\mu + 2\pi i n)}.$$
(6.22)

⁶This inversion relation (6.25) follow from the following inversion relation for the original grand potential $\mathcal{J}(\mu)$

$$Z(N) = \int_{-i\pi}^{i\pi} \frac{d\mu}{2\pi i} e^{\mathcal{J}(\mu) - \mu N}$$
(6.24)

which follows from (6.11), and the relation between $J(\mu)$ and $\mathcal{J}(\mu)$ (6.22).

⁵Note that $J(\mu)$ is slightly different from $\mathcal{J}(\mu)$ defined by (6.11), which is periodic in μ : $e^{\mathcal{J}(\mu+2\pi i)} = e^{\mathcal{J}(\mu)}$. The original grand potential $\mathcal{J}(\mu)$ should be understood as a periodic superposition of the large μ expansion $J(\mu)$ as [58]

where we have assumed n(0) = 0. This integration convert a polynomial in E in n(E) into polylogarithm functions $\text{Li}(-e^{\mu})$ in the grand potential $J(\mu)$, which again produces a polynomial in μ in the large μ expansion:

$$\int_0^\infty dE E^\alpha \frac{e^{\mu-E}}{1+e^{\mu-E}} = -\Gamma(\alpha+1)\operatorname{Li}_{\alpha+1}(-e^\mu) = \frac{(2\pi i)^\alpha}{\alpha+1}B_{\alpha+1}\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\mu}{2\pi i}\right) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\mu}), \quad (6.29)$$

where $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and we have used the identity for the polylogarithm functions

$$\operatorname{Li}_{n}(z) + (-1)^{n} \operatorname{Li}_{n}\left(\frac{1}{z}\right) = -\frac{(2\pi i)^{n}}{n!} B_{n}\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\log(-z)}{2\pi i}\right).$$
(6.30)

Here $B_n(z)$ are the Bernoulli polynomial, whose explicit expression for small n is

$$B_1(z) = z - \frac{1}{2}, \quad B_2(z) = z^2 - z + \frac{1}{6}, \quad B_3(z) = z^3 - \frac{3z^2}{2} + \frac{z}{2}, \cdots$$
 (6.31)

From these explicit expressions we can find that the large E expansion (6.26) is indeed converted into the large μ expansion (6.23). Hence we can determine the first two coefficients C and B by analyzing n(E).

Now let us compute the number of states n(E) in the semiclassical limit $k \to 0$. In this limit, the Hamiltonian is mere a *c*-numbered function on the (x, p)-phase space

$$H(x,p) = \sum_{a=1}^{M} \log\left(2\cosh\frac{p - \frac{s_a x}{2}}{2}\right),$$
(6.32)

and n(E) is the phase space volume inside the Fermi surface $F = \{(x, p) \in \mathbb{R}^2 | H = E\}$ as

$$n(E) = \int \frac{dxdp}{2\pi\hbar} \theta(H - E).$$
(6.33)

The Fermi surface F is plotted in figure 4. From the graph we can read off that F approaches a polygon. Indeed, assuming $|p - s_a x/2| \gg 1$ for all a, each term in the Hamiltonian (6.32) approaches a linear function and the Fermi surface can be approximated with a polygon

$$F_{\rm pol} = \left\{ (x, p) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \left| \sum_{a=1}^M \left| p - \frac{s_a x}{2} \right| = 2E \right\}.$$
 (6.34)

Hence we conclude that the leading term in n(E) in the large E limit is given by the volume of this approaching polygon as

$$n(E) = \frac{2}{\pi\hbar} \sum_{a=1}^{M} \frac{|s'_{a+1} - s'_{a}|}{\sum_{b=1}^{M} |s'_{a+1} - s'_{b}| \sum_{c=1}^{M} |s'_{a} - s'_{c}|} E^{2} + \dots$$
(6.35)

where s'_a are equal to s_a but reordered so that $s'_a \leq s'_{a+1}$ for $a = 1, 2, \dots, M - 1$. Thus

$$C = \frac{4}{\pi\hbar} \sum_{a=1}^{M} \frac{|s'_{a+1} - s'_{a}|}{\sum_{b=1}^{M} |s'_{a+1} - s'_{b}| \sum_{c=1}^{M} |s'_{a} - s'_{c}|}.$$
(6.36)



Figure 4: The solid red line is the classical Fermi surface for $\mathcal{N} = 3$ circular quiver with three vertices with $\{s_a\}_{a=1}^3 = \{-2, -1, 1\}$ at energy E = 10. The dashed blue line is the approaching polygon (6.34). We call the region located around the line $p = s'_a x/2$ (x > 0) and surrounded by the lines connecting the midpoints of the edges of the polygon (solid black lines) as v_a .

For $\{s_a\} = \{(+1)^q, (-1)^p\}$, for example, we obtain

$$C = \frac{2}{\pi^2 qpk},\tag{6.37}$$

which completely coincide with the volume of the radial section of $(\mathbb{C}^2/\mathbb{Z}_q \times \mathbb{C}^2/\mathbb{Z}_p)/\mathbb{Z}_k$. Though being complicated, the general expression is also shown to coincide with the volume of the hyperKahler cone obtained from the moduli space of $\mathcal{N} = 3$ superconformal quiver Chern-Simons theory argued in section 3 [31].

Before closing this subsection, we shall estimate the possible small k corrections in the semiclassical expansion. Roughly speaking, the effects of the commutators can be included through the derivatives of the c-numbered functions. Therefore the quantum corrections never grows as fast as linear in (x, p) as we send x or p infinity. This implies the approaching polygon (6.34) in the limit of $E \to \infty$ will not be modified by the quantum corrections and thus the expression of the constant C (6.37) is exact for finite k. On the other hand, the constant B, which is associated with the deviation from the polygon, should be modified. This estimation is justified from the explicit computation in the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ cases in the next subsection.

6.2 Semiclassically corrected Fermi surface and exact expression of B

In the last subsection we have found that the all order perturbative corrections to the Free energy add up to an Airy function. This is powerful prediction to the quantum corrections to the computation in supergravity. What we will encounter in an honest large N expansion of the free energy, however, is not the asymptotic expansion of the Airy function but rather an $\mathcal{O}(N^{\frac{1}{2}})$ correction due to the shift of the M2-brane charge N by a constant B in (6.1). Therefore it would be important to determine the explicit expression of B.

As we have argued above, the analysis in the classical limit $k \to 0$ is not enough to determine *B*. We need to extend our analysis to include the semiclassical corrections. Though this is difficult for general cases, recently we successfully evaluated such corrections [8] for the special cases where s_a take only two kinds of values which can be chosen as $s_a = \pm 1$, that is,

$$s_{1} = s_{2} = \cdots s_{q_{1}} = +1, \quad s_{q_{1}+1} = s_{q_{1}+2} = \cdots s_{q_{1}+p_{1}} = -1,$$

$$s_{q_{1}+p_{1}+1} = \cdots = s_{q_{1}+p_{1}+q_{2}} = +1, \quad s_{q_{1}+p_{1}+q_{2}+1} = \cdots s_{q_{1}+p_{1}+q_{2}+p_{2}} = -1,$$

$$\vdots$$

$$s_{q_{1}+p_{1}+\dots+p_{m-1}} = \cdots = s_{q_{1}+p_{1}+\dots+p_{m-1}+q_{m}} = +1, \quad s_{q_{1}+p_{1}+\dots+q_{m}} = \cdots s_{q_{1}+p_{1}+\dots+q_{m}+p_{m}} = -1$$

$$(6.38)$$

for some $q_a, p_a \in \mathbb{N}$ $(\sum_{a=1}^{M} (q_a + p_a) = M)$. From now on we shall abbreviate this choice as $\{s_a\}_{a=1}^{M} = \{(+1)^{q_1}, (-1)^{p_1}, (+1)^{q_2}, (-1)^{p_2}, \cdots, (+1)^{q_m}, (-1)^{p_m}\}$. This is known as the most general choice for the supersymmetry enhancement from $\mathcal{N} = 3$ to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ [5]. Especially, we call the cases of minimal separation between $s_a = \pm 1$

$$\{s_a\}_{a=1}^M = \{(+1)^q, (-1)^p\}$$
(6.39)

as the " $(q, p)_k$ minimal models". In [8] we finally obtained the following expression for the coefficient B

$$B = \frac{1}{6k} \left(\frac{4}{qp} - \frac{p}{q} - \frac{q}{p} \right) + k \left(\frac{\Sigma(q, p^2)}{q} + \frac{\Sigma(q, p^2)}{p} - \frac{\Sigma(q, p)^2}{2qp} - \frac{\Sigma(q, p)}{2} + \frac{qp}{24} \right), \tag{6.40}$$

where

$$q = \sum_{a=1}^{m} q_{m}, \quad p = \sum_{a=1}^{m} p_{m}, \quad \Sigma(q^{\alpha}, p^{\beta}) = \frac{1}{\alpha!\beta!} \sum_{1 \le a \le b \le m} q_{a}^{\alpha} p_{b}^{\beta}.$$
 (6.41)

Remarkably, the semiclassical correction to B terminates at $\mathcal{O}(k)$, which implies that we have obtained the non-perturbatively exact expression of B although we have used the perturbation in k.

Below we first explain the derivation of (6.40). After that we try to determine B in more general $\mathcal{N} = 3$ theories, which will be successful only in the classical limit $k \to 0$.



Figure 5: The solid red line is the Fermi surface for $\mathcal{N} = 4$ circular quiver with $\{s_a\}_{a=1}^5 = \{(+1)^2, (-1)^3\}$ at energy E = 10. The dashed blue line is the approaching diamond (6.45). We call the region located around the vertices $(Q, P) = (\pm 2E/q, 0)$ as region I,III and that around the vertices $(Q, P) = (0, \pm 2E/p)$ as region II,IV.

6.2.1 B for $\mathcal{N} = 4$ quivers

Since there are only two kinds of arguments $\hat{p} \pm \frac{\hat{x}}{2}$ in the density matrix (6.20), it is reasonable to redefine these two as the canonical operators

$$\widehat{Q} = -\widehat{p} + \frac{\widehat{x}}{2}, \quad \widehat{P} = \widehat{p} + \frac{\widehat{x}}{2}, \quad ([\widehat{Q}, \widehat{P}] = i\hbar)$$
(6.42)

and rewrite $\hat{\rho}$ as

$$\hat{\rho} = e^{-q_1 U(\hat{Q})} e^{-p_1 T(\hat{P})} e^{-q_2 U(\hat{Q})} e^{-p_2 T(\hat{P})} \cdots e^{-q_m U(\hat{Q})} e^{-p_m T(\hat{P})}$$
(6.43)

with

$$U(Q) = \log\left(2\cosh\frac{Q}{2}\right), \quad T(P) = \log\left(2\cosh\frac{P}{2}\right). \tag{6.44}$$

In this case the Fermi surface of energy E approaches in the limit $E \to \infty$ to a diamond

$$F_{\text{pol}} = \left\{ (Q, P) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \left| \frac{q|Q|}{2} + \frac{p|P|}{2} = E \right\}.$$
(6.45)

See figure 5.

To compute the quantum corrections systematically, we shall introduce the notion of the Wigner transformation [12, 38, 39, 40, 41] $\widehat{\mathcal{O}} \to \mathcal{O}_W$

$$\mathcal{O}_W \equiv \int \frac{dQ'}{2\pi} \left\langle Q + \frac{Q'}{2} \left| \widehat{\mathcal{O}} \right| Q - \frac{Q'}{2} \right\rangle e^{\frac{iQ'P}{\hbar}}.$$
(6.46)

The non-commutativity of operators $\widehat{\mathcal{O}}$ are encoded in the following non-commutative \star -product of the *c*-numbered functions \mathcal{O}_W on the phase space

$$\star = \exp\left[\frac{i\hbar}{2} \left(\overleftarrow{\partial}_{Q} \overrightarrow{\partial}_{P} - \overleftarrow{\partial}_{P} \overrightarrow{\partial}_{Q}\right)\right] \tag{6.47}$$

as

$$(\widehat{A}\widehat{B})_W = A_W \star B_W, \tag{6.48}$$

which can be derived from the definition of the Wigner transformation (6.46). One can also easily show that the trace of a operator becomes the phase space integral of its Wigner transformation

$$\operatorname{Tr}\widehat{A} = \int \frac{dQdP}{2\pi\hbar} A_W, \qquad (6.49)$$

hence the number of states n(E) is given as⁷

$$n(E) = \operatorname{Tr} \theta(\widehat{H} - E) \approx \int_{H_W < E} \frac{dQdP}{2\pi\hbar}.$$
(6.50)

As advertised at the end of the previous section, the Wigner transformation precisely convert the commutators into the differentials. Now we can argue the (ir-)relevance of higher order commutators to the 1/N perturbative computation more concretely. Note that both U(Q) and T(P) in (6.44) satisfy

$$\partial_Q^2 U(Q) = \mathcal{O}(e^{-|Q|}), \quad \partial_P^2 T(P) = \mathcal{O}(e^{-|P|}) \tag{6.51}$$

for large arguments. Therefore, since we are concerned with the small deviation of the Fermi surface from the diamond (6.45) where at least one of Q and P is of order $\mathcal{O}(E)$, we can neglect all the terms proportional to $U^{(a)}T^{(b)}$ with $a, b \geq 2$. According to the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula, the Hamiltonian operator \hat{H} can be expanded with the commutators $U, T, [U, T], [U, [U, T]], \cdots$. Here we would like to choose the bases of higher commutators as

$$P\left(\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \operatorname{ad} L_i\right)[U,T]$$
(6.52)

with $L = (L_1, L_2, \cdots , L_\ell)$ any finite sequence of U and T⁸, such as

$$[U, [U, T]], [U, [U, [U, T]]], [U, [T, [U, T]]], [T, [T, [U, T]]], \cdots$$
(6.53)

⁷Precisely speaking, $f(\widehat{\mathcal{O}})_W$ does not necessarily coincide with $f(\mathcal{O}_W)$. This deviation is treated in detail in the next section, and indeed turns out to be irrelevant in the computation here.

⁸There are still some redundancy, e.g. [T, [U, [U, T]]] = [U, [T, [U, T]]]

Let us look at the terms with the fewest number of differential in each commutator. Due to the definition of \star -product, these are obtained by the following replacements

$$[U,T] \to i\hbar U'T',$$

ad $U \to i\hbar U'\partial_P,$
ad $T \to -i\hbar T'\partial_Q.$ (6.54)

From these rules we can see that the commutator contains $U^{(a)}$ with $a \ge 2$ if the sequence L in (6.52) contains at least one U while the commutator contains $T^{(a)}$ with $a \ge 2$ if L contains at least one T. Therefore we conclude that the only commutators relevant to our computation are

$$\widehat{H} = c_U U + c_T T + c_{UT} [U, T] + \sum_{\ell \ge 1} c_{U^{\ell+1}T} [\underbrace{U, [U, [\cdots, U]}_{\ell}, [U, T] \cdots] + \sum_{\ell \ge 1} c_{T^{\ell}UT} [\underbrace{T, [T, [\cdots, T]}_{\ell}, [U, T] \cdots] + \cdots, \qquad (6.55)$$

where $c_{...}$ are constant coefficients depending on $\{q_a, p_a\}_{a=1}^m$. The relevant terms in the Wigner Hamiltonian are

$$H_W = c_U U + c_T T + i\hbar c_{UT} U' T' + \sum_{\ell \ge 1} (i\hbar)^{\ell+1} c_{U^{\ell+1}T} (U')^{\ell+1} T^{(\ell+1)} - \sum_{\ell \ge 1} (-i\hbar)^{\ell+1} c_{T^{\ell}UT} (T')^{\ell+1} U^{(\ell+1)} + \cdots .$$
(6.56)

Below we assume that the Hamiltonian is hermitian, i.e. $c_{UT} = 0$. This is achieved by the similarity transformation

$$\widehat{\rho} \to e^{xU} \widehat{\rho} e^{-xU} \tag{6.57}$$

with some constant x. The values of c... and x will be displayed at the end of this section.

Now let us evaluate the small deviation of n(E) from the result of diamond approximation (6.45), which we shall call δn . We divide the deviation into the contributions from the region close to each vertex of the diamond as depicted in figure 5

$$\delta n = -\frac{1}{2\pi\hbar} (\operatorname{vol}(I) + \operatorname{vol}(II) + \operatorname{vol}(III) + \operatorname{vol}(IV))$$

= $-\frac{1}{\pi\hbar} (\operatorname{vol}(I) + \operatorname{vol}(II)).$ (6.58)

In the second line we have used the facts vol(III) = vol(I) and vol(IV) = vol(II) which are obvious from the point symmetry of the Fermi surface. First we shall consider the volume of the region I. Since Q is positive and of order $\mathcal{O}(E)$ in this region we can replace $U \to Q/2$ and neglect the higher derivatives of $U, U^{(a)}$ with $a \ge 2$, to approximate the Fermi surface $H_W = E$ as

$$\frac{qQ}{2} + pT + \sum_{\ell \ge 1} c_{U^{\ell+1}T} \left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^{\ell+1} T^{(\ell+1)} = E.$$
(6.59)

Denoting the points on this Fermi surface as $(Q_{FS}(P), P)$ while those on the diamond as $(Q_{pol}(P), P)$ the volume of region I can be written as

$$\operatorname{vol}(\mathbf{I}) = \int_{-\frac{E}{p}}^{\frac{E}{p}} dP(Q_{\text{pol}}(P) - Q_{\text{FS}}(P))$$
$$= \frac{2}{q} \int_{-\frac{E}{p}}^{\frac{E}{p}} dP\Big[p\Big(T - \frac{|P|}{2}\Big) + \sum_{\ell \ge 1} c_{U^{\ell+1}T}\Big(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\Big)^{\ell+1} T^{(\ell+1)}\Big]$$
(6.60)

where we have tentatively chosen the boundary of the integration domain as the midpoints of the edges. Since the integrand is exponentially suppressed for large P, we can push these boundaries to $\pm \infty$ without changing the perturbative result in 1/E. Using the explicit expression of T(P) (6.44) we can perform the integration over $P \in (-\infty, \infty)$ to obtain

$$\operatorname{vol}(\mathbf{I}) = \frac{2}{q} \left[\frac{p\pi^2}{6} - \frac{\hbar^2}{4} c_{UUT} \right].$$
(6.61)

Remarkably, the higher derivatives $T^{(\ell+1)}$ with $\ell \geq 2$ do not contribute. In the region II, on the other hand, we replace $T \to P/2$ and neglect $T^{(a)}$ with $a \geq 2$. By the similar manipulation as in the case of region I, we finally find that only $(T')^2 U^{(2)}$ contributes among the terms from higher commutators and

$$vol(II) = \frac{2}{p} \left[\frac{q\pi^2}{6} + \frac{\hbar^2}{4} c_{TUT} \right].$$
 (6.62)

Putting these result together with the relation between n(E) and B (6.26), we obtain B as

$$B = -\frac{1}{6k} \left(\frac{4}{qp} - \frac{p}{q} - \frac{q}{p} \right) + k \left(\frac{c_{UUT}}{q} - \frac{c_{TUT}}{p} \right), \tag{6.63}$$

where we have also used $\hbar = 2\pi k$.

Finally we shall display the explicit expression of the undetermined coefficients c_{UUT} and c_{TUT} . In appendix B we argue the expansion coefficients of

$$e^{h} = e^{q_{1}U}e^{p_{1}T}e^{q_{2}U}e^{p_{2}T}\cdots e^{q_{m}U}e^{p_{m}T}e^{q_{m+1}U}.$$
(6.64)

From the results (B.13) therein with replacement

$$q_1 \to -(q_1 - x), \quad q_{m+1} \to -x,$$

$$q_a \to -q_a \quad (a = 2, 3, \cdots, m),$$

$$p_a \to -p_a \quad (a = 1, 2, \cdots, m)$$
(6.65)

together with the multiplication of overall (-1), the coefficients c_{UT} , c_{UUT} and c_{TUT} can be written as

$$c_{UT} = xp - \Sigma(q, p) + \frac{qp}{2},$$

$$c_{UUT} = \frac{x^2 p}{2} + x \left(\frac{qp}{2} - \Sigma(q, p)\right) + \Sigma(q^2, p) - \frac{\Sigma(q, p)q}{2} + \frac{q^2 p}{12},$$

$$c_{TUT} = -\Sigma(q, p^2) + \frac{\Sigma(q, p)p}{2} - \frac{qp^2}{12}.$$
(6.66)

Fixing the value of x from the condition $c_{UT} = 0$ as

$$x = \frac{\Sigma(q, p)}{p} - \frac{q}{2},\tag{6.67}$$

we obtain

$$c_{UUT} = \Sigma(q^2, p) - \frac{q^2 p}{24} - \frac{\Sigma(q, p)^2}{2p}.$$
(6.68)

Substituting the values of c_{UUT} and c_{TUT} into (6.63) we finally obtain the explicit expression of B (6.40).

6.2.2 B for $\mathcal{N} = 3$ quivers in classical limit

Before closing this section we shall introduce the similar determination of B in more general $\mathcal{N} = 3$ theories [8]. The semiclassical expansion of the Hamiltonian would be considered with the help of the Wigner transformation. However, the hermiticity of leading Hamiltonian, which is required for the arguments using the Fermi surface, is non-trivial in this case. Hence we shall focus on the classical limit

$$F = \left\{ (x, p) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \middle| \sum_{a=1}^{M} \log\left(2\cosh\frac{p - \frac{s'_a x}{2}}{2}\right) = E \right\},$$
(6.69)

where s'_a are the reordered s_a (see below the equation (6.35)), and evaluate the deviation of the volume from the polygon approximation (6.34).

The computation is almost parallel as in the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ cases. First we shall divide the Fermi surface into the pieces around each vertex of the polygon, as in figure 4. Since the Fermi surface is point symmetric about the origin, below we shall only consider the right half of them and call the region around the line $p - s'_a x/2 = 0$ as v_a . On the polygon (6.34) the arguments $|p - s'_a x/2|$ are always of order $\mathcal{O}(E)$, except around each vertex of the polygon where $|p - s'_a x/2| \sim 0$ only for the corresponding a. Hence it is reasonable to approximate the a-th piece of the original Fermi surface (6.69) as

$$\log 2 \cosh \frac{p - \frac{s'_a x}{2}}{2} + \sum_{b \neq a} \frac{|p - \frac{s'_b x}{2}|}{2} = E.$$
(6.70)

We shall introduce a tilted coordinate $(x, \tilde{p}_a) = (x, \frac{p-s'_a x/2}{2})$, as in figure 6. Since the Jacobian for the coordinate transformation $(x, p) \to (x, \tilde{p})$ is trivial, we can compute the deviation of n(E) on this piece as

$$\delta n(E) = -\frac{1}{2\pi\hbar} \int d\widetilde{p}_a dx.$$
(6.71)


Figure 6: Left: v_3 ; right: v_3 in the tilted coordinates (x, \tilde{p}_3) .

The points on the Fermi surface (6.70) can be expressed as $(x_{\rm FS}(\tilde{p}_a), \tilde{p}_a)$ with

$$x_{\rm FS}(\tilde{p}_a) = \frac{4}{\sum_b |s'_a - s'_b|} \left[-\log 2 \cosh \frac{\tilde{p}_a}{2} + \frac{M + 1 - 2a}{2} \tilde{p}_a \right].$$
(6.72)

Here we have used the facts

$$p - \frac{s'_b x}{2} > 0 \quad (b < a),$$

$$p - \frac{s'_b x}{2} < 0 \quad (b > a).$$
(6.73)

Similarly, the points on the polygon (6.34) near the *a*-th vertex can be expressed as $(x_{\text{pol}}(\tilde{p}_a), \tilde{p}_a)$ with

$$x_{\rm pol}(\tilde{p}_a) = \frac{4}{\sum_b |s'_a - s'_b|} \left[-\frac{\tilde{p}_a}{2} + \frac{M+1-2a}{2} \tilde{p}_a \right].$$
(6.74)

The deviation of the volume (6.71) is computed as

$$\delta n(E) = -\frac{1}{2\pi\hbar} \int d\widetilde{p}_a(x_{\rm pol} - x_{\rm FS}) = -\frac{2}{\pi\hbar\sum_{b\neq a}|s_a' - s_b'|} \int_{\widetilde{p}_{a-}}^{\widetilde{p}_{a+}} d\widetilde{p}_a \left[\log 2\cosh\frac{\widetilde{p}_a}{2} - \left|\frac{\widetilde{p}_a}{2}\right|\right]. \quad (6.75)$$

Here $\tilde{p}_{a\pm}$ may correspond to the midpoints on the edge of the polygon, where $\tilde{p}_{a\pm}$ are of order $\mathcal{O}(E)$. Since the integrand are of order $\mathcal{O}(e^{-E})$ for $\tilde{p}_a \sim E$, we can replace the domain of integration from $(\tilde{p}_{a-}, \tilde{p}_{a+})$ to $(-\infty, \infty)$ without changing the results in the perturbative expansion in 1/E. Therefore the deviation $\delta n(E)$ is computed as

$$\delta n(E) = -\frac{2}{\pi \hbar \sum_{b \neq a} |s'_a - s'_b|} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\widetilde{p}_a \left[\log 2 \cosh \frac{\widetilde{p}_a}{2} - \left| \frac{\widetilde{p}_a}{2} \right| \right]$$
$$= -\frac{\pi}{3\hbar \sum_b |s'_a - s'_b|}.$$
(6.76)

Assembling the results together we conclude

$$B = \frac{\pi^2 C}{3} - \frac{1}{3k} \sum_{a=1}^{M} \frac{1}{\sum_b |s'_a - s'_b|} + \mathcal{O}(k).$$
(6.77)

6.3 Discussion and Comments

In this section we have determined the all order perturbative corrections in 1/N to the leading $N^{3/2}$ scaling behavior of the partition function. From the Fermi gas formalism it follows that these all order corrections universally add up to an Airy function as (6.1). Interestingly, the infinite series of perturbative corrections in the partition function are summarized into a simple cubic polynomial in terms of the grand potential $J(\mu)$ (6.23). Thus we may expect that the grand potential not only simplify the computation but also clarify beautiful structures of the large N expansion which are hidden in the original partition function Z(N). In the following sections we analyze the non-perturbative effects $\mathcal{O}(e^{-\mu})$ in $J(\mu)$, which correspond to the effects of $\mathcal{O}(e^{-\sqrt{N}})$ in Z(N), and indeed observe various interesting structures.

It will be very interesting future work to reproduce the large N expansion obtained in this section from the gravity side. The logarithm in the asymptotic expansion of the Airy function (6.3) can be understood as the 1-loop effect in the supergravity [42]. More recently, it was also proposed that the whole Airy function is possibly reproduced by applying the localization technique to the four dimensional supergravity on AdS₄ [43]. On the other hand, the coefficient B in (6.1) was not explained by neither of these ways. As commented at the beginning of section 6.2 the shift B is more relevant than the log N correction and thus may be in some sense classical effect. Indeed the same effect is caused by the modification of the charge quantization condition due to the orbifold on the background, as argued in [44] for $AdS_4 \times S^7/\mathbb{Z}_k$. There is a discrepancy, however, between their result and the exact result in the dual theory, the ABJM theory [34]. We hope that our explicit results for the class of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ theories, where the pair of (q, p) (the total number of $s_a = \pm 1$) is the same while the ordering is different, will help us to resolve the mismatch, clarifying the relation between the shift B and the geometry.

Notice that in this section we have completely ignored the remaining coefficient, the overall constant A. Though the perturbative coefficients B and C in the grand potential $J(\mu)$ are determined from the perturbative coefficients of n(E), we can not determine A in the same way, as the non-perturbative terms in $n(E) \mathcal{O}(e^{-E})$ also contributes to the constant part of the grand potential as $(\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_+)$

$$\int_0^\infty dE e^{-\alpha E} \frac{e^{\mu - E}}{1 + e^{\mu - E}} = \sum_{n=1}^\infty \frac{e^{n\mu}}{n + \alpha} (-1)^{n-1} = \frac{1}{\alpha} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\mu}).$$
(6.78)

To determine A we need to compute $J(\mu)$ exactly with respect to the chemical potential μ , which we will explain in the next section.

7 WKB expansion and membrane instantons in $(q, p)_k$ models

In the last section we analyzed the grand potential $J(\mu)$ by considering the Fermi surface for large energy E perturbatively in 1/E. Though this treatment is sufficient for the determination of the Airy function structure of the perturbative part of the partition function (6.1) and the coefficients C (6.37) and B (6.40) therein, we can not determine the overall constant A. It is also impossible to analyze the non-perturbative corrections in 1/N, or $\mathcal{O}(e^{-\mu})$ in $J(\mu)$, at all. To determine these ingredients we need to analyze the grand potential exactly in μ . Fortunately in the $(q, p)_k$ minimal models (6.39) it is possible to determine the μ dependence of the grand potential completely exactly, order by order in the semiclassical expansion.

In this section we first explain how to perform such exact computation. To extract the constant A and the non-perturbative effects, we need to re-express the grand potential in the large μ expansion. After the exact computation, we explain how to do this. We also comment on the interpretation of the non-perturbative effects in the gravity side.

First recall the definition of the grand potential (6.19)

$$\mathcal{J}(\mu) = \operatorname{Tr}\log(1 + e^{\mu - \widehat{H}}).$$
(7.1)

Expanding the logarithm, we can rewrite the grand potential as

$$\mathcal{J}(\mu) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{n-1}}{n} e^{n\mu} \mathcal{Z}(n),$$
(7.2)

where

$$\mathcal{Z}(n) = \operatorname{Tr} e^{-n\widehat{H}} = \int \frac{dQdP}{2\pi\hbar} (e^{-n\widehat{H}})_W.$$
(7.3)

Here we have used the Wigner transformation introduced in the last section. Below we explain how to compute this quantity $\mathcal{Z}(n)$ exactly in the semiclassical expansion.

First let us consider the classical limit $k \to 0$, where $\mathcal{Z}(n)$ can be written as

$$\mathcal{Z}(n) = \frac{1}{\hbar} \mathcal{Z}_0(n). \tag{7.4}$$

In the classical limit we can simply replace the integrand as

$$(e^{-n\widehat{H}})_W \to e^{-nH_{\rm cl}} \tag{7.5}$$

with

$$H_{\rm cl} = qU + pT. \tag{7.6}$$

Here U(Q) and T(P) are c-functions (6.44). Therefore we can compute the $\mathcal{Z}_0(n)$ with the help of the following integration formula $(y \in \mathbb{R})$

$$\int dx \left(\frac{1}{2\cosh\frac{x}{2}}\right)^y = \frac{\Gamma(\frac{y}{2})^2}{\Gamma(y)},\tag{7.7}$$

as

$$\mathcal{Z}_0(n) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{nq}{2})^2 \Gamma(\frac{np}{2})^2}{\Gamma(nq) \Gamma(np)}.$$
(7.8)

Now let us consider the higher order corrections in the semiclassical expansion

$$\mathcal{Z}(n) = \sum_{\ell \ge 0} \hbar^{\ell - 1} \mathcal{Z}_{\ell}(n).$$
(7.9)

(7.10)

The quantum corrections originates from the following two kinds of deviations

- The deviation of H_W from $H_{\rm cl} = q\widehat{U} + p\widehat{T}$,
- The deviation of $(e^{-n\hat{H}})_W$ from e^{-nH_W} .

The first effects are already argued in the previous section: we can compute them by first computing the higher commutators in the Hamiltonian operator and then computing the Wigner transformation of each commutator. On the other hand the second effects have been completely ignored in the previous section, so we would like to explain them here. Notice that the difference between the \star -product and the ordinary product (identity) is not only in the anti-symmetric part. Expanding the exponential in the definition of the \star -product (6.47) we also find the symmetric deviations as

$$A_W \star B_W = A_W B_W + \dots - \frac{\hbar^2}{4} \{ (\partial_Q^2 A_W) (\partial_P^2 B_W) - (\partial_Q \partial_P A_W) (\partial_Q \partial_P B_W) \} + \dots , \qquad (7.11)$$

which are the origin of the second deviation. Due to this fact it follows that $f(\widehat{\mathcal{O}})_W \neq f(\mathcal{O}_W)$ for a general function f(x). An effective way to evaluate the deviation is to consider the Taylor expansion of $f(\widehat{\mathcal{O}})$ around $\widehat{\mathcal{O}} = \mathcal{O}_W$ as

$$f(\widehat{\mathcal{O}}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \frac{d^n f}{dx^n} \Big|_{x=\mathcal{O}_W} (\widehat{\mathcal{O}} - \mathcal{O}_W)^n.$$
(7.12)

Since the Wigner transformation act only on operators, the Wigner transformation of both sides are

$$f(\widehat{\mathcal{O}})_W = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \frac{d^n f(x)}{dx^n} \bigg|_{x=\mathcal{O}_W} \mathcal{G}_n(\mathcal{O}_W),$$
(7.13)

with

$$\mathcal{G}_n(\mathcal{O}_W) \equiv (\widehat{\mathcal{O}} - \mathcal{O}_W)_W^n.$$
(7.14)

As $f(x) = e^{-nx}$ in our case we obtain

$$(e^{-n\hat{H}})_W = e^{-nH_W} \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-n)^{\ell}}{\ell!} \mathcal{G}_{\ell}(H_W).$$
(7.15)

The semiclassical expansion of the grand potential is infinite series expansion. For tractability, the number of correction terms need to be finite at each order of \hbar and also the correction terms need to be computable recursively order by order. For the first kind of the deviations in (7.10), this property is obviously granted. From the definition of the \star -product (6.47) we can immediately show that a commutation $[\cdot, \cdot]$ always raise the power of \hbar by at least one. Therefore in the computation of $\mathcal{Z}_{\ell}(n)$ we only need to compute ℓ' -th commutators with $\ell' \leq \ell$ in \hat{H} . These higher commutators can be generated recursively by the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula.

The second kind of the deviations also satisfy the requirements, if treated in terms of \mathcal{G}_{ℓ} . First note that $\mathcal{G}_{\ell}(\mathcal{O}_W)$ exhibit the following \hbar -expansion

$$\mathcal{G}_{\ell}(\mathcal{O}_W) = \sum_{j \ge \left[\frac{\ell+2}{3}\right]} \hbar^{2j} \mathcal{G}_{\ell}^{(j)}(\mathcal{O}_W), \tag{7.16}$$

regardless of the explicit form of the operator $\widehat{\mathcal{O}}$. Therefore in the computation of $\mathcal{Z}_s(n)$ we only need to compute a finite number of \mathcal{G}_{ℓ} . Moreover, we can also construct the following recursive structure of \mathcal{G} . For $\ell = 0, 1, \mathcal{G}_{\ell}$ are trivially given as

$$\mathcal{G}_0 = 1, \quad \mathcal{G}_1 = 0, \tag{7.17}$$

and for $\ell \geq 2$ there is a recursive system for \mathcal{G}_{ℓ}

$$\underbrace{\mathcal{O}_W \star \mathcal{O}_W \star \cdots \star \mathcal{O}_W}_{\ell} = \mathcal{O}_W \star \underbrace{(\mathcal{O}_W \star \mathcal{O}_W \star \cdots \star \mathcal{O}_W}_{\ell-1}),$$

$$\mathcal{G}_{\ell}(\mathcal{O}) = \underbrace{\mathcal{O}_W \star \mathcal{O}_W \star \cdots \star \mathcal{O}_W}_{\ell} - \mathcal{O}_W^{\ell} - \sum_{m=2}^{\ell-1} \binom{\ell}{m} \mathcal{O}_W^{\ell-m} \mathcal{G}_m(\mathcal{O}).$$
(7.18)

Plugging these results into the original $\mathcal{Z}(n)$ we obtain

$$\sum_{\ell \ge 0} \hbar^{\ell} \mathcal{Z}_{\ell}(n) = \int \frac{dQdP}{2\pi} e^{-nH_{\rm cl}} e^{-n(H_W - H_{\rm cl})} \bigg[1 + \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \frac{(-n)^{\ell}}{\ell!} \mathcal{G}_{\ell}(H_W) \bigg].$$
(7.19)

Now the \hbar corrections to $\mathcal{Z}_{\ell}(n)$ will be systematically obtained by expanding the second and third factor in the integrand in the r.h.s.

7.1 Computation and universal structure of $\mathcal{Z}_{\ell}(n)$

The correction terms in the integrand (7.19) can be systematically integrated as follows. First note that the correction terms in the two factors in (7.19) are some polynomial of the derivatives of U and T

$$\mathcal{Z}_{s}(n) = \int \frac{dQdP}{2\pi} e^{-nH_{cL}} \text{Poly}(\{U^{(a)}\}, \{T^{(b)}\}).$$
(7.20)

Since U(Q) and the prefactor $e^{-nH_{cl}}$ are even functions and the domain of integration is symmetric under the reflection $Q \to -Q$, only the terms containing even number of Q-differentials ∂_Q in total contribute to $\mathcal{Z}_{\ell}(n)$. As a derivative is always accompanied with a \hbar through the \star -product (6.47), this implies that $\mathcal{Z}_{\ell}(n) = 0$ for any odd ℓ .

Hence we have only to consider the $\mathcal{Z}_{\ell}(n)$ for even ℓ , where each term in the "Poly" takes the form of

$$U^{(a_1)}U^{(a_2)}\cdots T^{(b_1)}T^{(b_2)}\cdots \left(\sum_i a_i = \sum_i b_i = \ell \in 2\mathbb{N}\right)$$
(7.21)

Due to the differential properties of the cosine hyperbolic functions, such a term can always be rewritten as a polynomial of

$$U^{(2)} = \frac{1}{(2\cosh\frac{Q}{2})^2}, \quad T^{(2)} = \frac{1}{(2\cosh\frac{P}{2})^2}.$$
(7.22)

For example,

$$(U')^{2} = \frac{1}{4} - U^{(2)}, \quad U'U^{(3)} = -\frac{1}{2}U^{(2)} + 2(U^{(2)})^{2}, \quad U^{(4)} = U^{(2)} - 6(U^{(2)})^{2},$$
$$U^{(3)}U^{(3)} = (U^{(2)})^{2} - 4(U^{(2)})^{3}, \quad U'U^{(5)} = -\frac{U^{(2)}}{2} + 8(U^{(2)})^{2} - 24(U^{(2)})^{3},$$
$$U^{(6)} = U^{(2)} - 30(U^{(2)})^{2} + 120(U^{(2)})^{3}$$
(7.23)

Therefore the computation of \mathcal{Z}_{ℓ} reduces to the following integrals

$$\int \frac{dQdP}{2\pi} \frac{1}{(2\cosh\frac{Q}{2})^{qn+2\alpha}} \frac{1}{(2\cosh\frac{P}{2})^{pn+2\beta}} = \frac{(\frac{nq}{2})^2_{\alpha}(\frac{np}{2})^2_{\beta}}{(nq)_{2\alpha}(np)_{2\beta}} \mathcal{Z}_0(n).$$
(7.24)

with some $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{Z}_+$. Here $(z)_{\zeta}$ are Pochhammer symbol $\Gamma(z+\zeta)/\Gamma(z)$ which are merely polynomial of degree ζ in z.

From these arguments we conclude that $\mathcal{Z}_{\ell}(n)$ have the following universal structure

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\ell}(n) = \begin{cases} 0 & (\ell: \text{ odd}) \\ f_{\ell}(q, p; n) \mathcal{Z}_{0}(n) & (\ell: \text{ even}) \end{cases},$$
(7.25)

where $f_{\ell}(q, p; n)$ are some rational functions of n.

From the explicit computation we explicitly determined the rational functions f_{ℓ} for $\ell \leq 8$ [9] as

$$\begin{split} f_0(q,p;n) &= 1, \quad f_2(q,p;n) = \frac{q^2 p^2 (1-n^2) n^2}{384(1+qn)(1+pn)}, \\ f_4(q,p;n) &= \frac{q^3 p^3 (1-n^2) n^2}{92160(1+qn)(1+pn)} \bigg[-\frac{(9-n^2)(8+3qn)(8+3pn)}{16(3+qn)(3+pn)} + 4 - n^2 \bigg], \\ f_6(q,p;n) &= \frac{q^3 p^3 (1-n^2) n^3}{3963617280(1+qn)(3+qn)(5+qn)(1+pn)(3+pn)(5+pn)} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} (1920q^3 + 1920p^3 + 7168n + 5376q^2n + 14336qpn + 2944q^3pn + 5376p^2n \\ + 2304q^2p^2n + 2944qp^3n + 14336qn^2 + 576q^3n^2 + 14336qpn^2 + 17920q^2pn^2 \\ + 17920qp^2n^2 + 1656q^3p^2n^2 + 576p^3n^2 + 1656q^2p^3n^2 + 5376q^2n^3 \\ + 25088qpn^3 + 2272q^3pn^3 + 5376p^2n^3 + 12272q^2p^2n^3 + 2272qp^3n^3 \\ + 367q^3p^3n^3 + 576q^3n^4 + 8960q^2pn^4 + 8960qp^2n^4 + 1488q^3p^2n^4 + 576p^3n^4 \\ + 1488q^3p^3n^4 + 928q^3pn^5 + 3088q^2p^2n^5 + 928qp^3n^5 + 178q^3p^3n^5 \\ + 312q^3p^2n^6 + 312q^2p^3n^6 + 31q^3p^3n^7), \\ f_8(q,p;n) = -\frac{q^3p^2(1-n^2)}{30440580710400} \\ \hline 1 \\ \hline (1+qn)(3+qn)(5+qn)(7+qn)(1+pn)(3+pn)(5+pn)(7+pn) \\ (3225600q^5 + 3225600p^5 + 24576000n + 10321920q^2n + 9216000q^4n \\ + 55050240qpn + 11796480q^3pn + 5406720q^5pn + 10321920p^2n \\ + 22118400q^2p^2n + 1105920q^4p^2n + 11796480qp^3n - 1474560q^3p^3n \\ + 9216000p^4n + 1105920q^2p^2n + 5406720q^5n + 58982400qn^2 \\ + 18063360q^3n^2 + 153600q^5n^2 + 58982400pn^2 + 107347968q^2pn^2 \\ + 18063360q^3n^2 + 153600q^5n^2 + 58982400pn^2 + 107347968q^2pn^2 \\ + 1234944q^5n^4 + 153600q^5n^2 + 3751680q^2p^5n^2 + 52101120q^2n^3 \\ + 1234944q^3n^4n^2 + 153600q^5n^3 + 3761680q^2p^5n^2 + 52101120q^2n^3 \\ + 5201120p^2n^3 + 161206272q^2p^3n^3 + 2764800p^4n^3 + 23761920q^2p^4n^3 \\ + 53600q^3n^4 + 10439848q^2pn^4 + 12840960q^4pn^4 + 10439848qp^2n^4 \\ + 90491904q^3p^2n^4 + 144840q^5p^2n^4 + 18063360p^3n^4 + 90491904q^2p^3n^4 \\ + 135600q^3n^4 + 1443810q^2p^5n^4 + 12608360p^3n^4 + 90491904q^2p^3n^4 \\ + 135600q^3n^4 + 1443810q^2p^5n^4 + 1280960q^4pn^4 + 10439848qp^2n^4 \\ + 135600q^3n^4 + 1443810q^2p^5n^4 + 12608360p^3n^5 + 5769329q^2p^5n^5 \\ + 34504704q^3pn^5 + 737280q^5pn^5 + 79923892q^2p^5n^5 + 3764800q^4n^5 \\ + 34504704q^3pn^5 + 737280q^5pn^5 + 7992392q^2p^5n^5 + 2764800q^4n^5 \\ + 34504704q^3pn^5 + 737280q^5pn^5 + 7992592q^2p^5 + 51375360q^4p^2n^6 \\ + 7105536q^3p^5n^5 + 15375300q^5n^6 + 5099520q^2pn^5 + 2764800q^4n^5 \\ + 7105536q^3p^5n^5 + 256480q^5pn^6 + 7105536q^4p^3n^7 + 509520q^2p^5n^5 \\ + 27589q^5p^5n^5 + 276480q^5pn^6 + 710556q^4p^3n^7 + 7757066q^3p^3n^7 \\ + 399528q^3p^5n^$$

$$+ 398528q^{3}p^{5}n^{7} + 14359q^{5}p^{5}n^{7} + 192000q^{5}p^{2}n^{8} + 1080576q^{4}p^{3}n^{8} + 1080576q^{3}p^{4}n^{8} + 63696q^{5}p^{4}n^{8} + 192000q^{2}p^{5}n^{8} + 63696q^{4}p^{5}n^{8} + 56128q^{5}p^{3}n^{9} + 147360q^{4}p^{4}n^{9} + 56128q^{3}p^{5}n^{9} + 3481q^{5}p^{5}n^{9} + 7536q^{5}p^{4}n^{10} + 7536q^{4}p^{5}n^{10} + 381q^{5}p^{5}n^{11}).$$

$$(7.26)$$

The explicit expression for higher ℓ were also obtained by the authors of [13] (note that $f_{2\ell}(q, p; \partial_{\mu}) = \frac{\mathcal{D}^{(\ell)}}{2\pi}$ in appendix B of [13]).

7.2 Large μ expansion of grand potential

Now that we have explicitly obtained $\mathcal{Z}_{\ell}(n)$, let us consider the large μ expansion of the grand potential $J(\mu)$. We shall define the grand potential in the small k expansion corresponding to the semiclassical expansion of $\mathcal{Z}(n)$ (7.9)

$$\mathcal{J}(\mu) = \sum_{\ell \ge 0} \hbar^{\ell - 1} \mathcal{J}_{\ell}(\mu) \tag{7.27}$$

with

$$\mathcal{J}_{\ell}(\mu) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{n-1}}{n} e^{n\mu} \mathcal{Z}_{\ell}(n).$$
(7.28)

Below we mainly focus on the classical grand potential

$$\mathcal{J}_0(\mu) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{n-1}}{n} e^{n\mu} \mathcal{Z}_0(n).$$
(7.29)

Once we have obtained the large μ expansion of $J_0(\mu)$, the factorizing structure (7.25) together with the factor $e^{n\mu}$ in (7.2) implies that the semiclassical corrections $J_{\ell}(\mu)$ are obtained by replacing the *n* in $f_{\ell}(q, p; n)$ with the differential ∂_{μ} as

$$J_{\ell}(\mu) = f_{\ell}(q, p; \partial_{\mu}) J_{0}(\mu).$$
(7.30)

The large μ expansion of this series was first obtained in [8] by resumming the series with the help of the series expansion of the ratio of Gamma functions and the formal identities converting the series of e^{μ} into that of $e^{-\mu}$, like ($\mu \in \mathbb{R}$)

$$\sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{(-e^{\mu})^{\ell}}{\ell + \alpha} = \frac{\pi}{\sin \pi \alpha} e^{-\alpha \mu}.$$
(7.31)

Later in [45] the large μ expansion of the grand potential was more generally argued by using a different method. In this section we would like to explain the latter method which is more systematic than the original derivation. The key for the derivation is the following integration $(\mu \in \mathbb{R})$

$$-\int_{\epsilon-i\infty}^{\epsilon+i\infty} \frac{ds}{2\pi i} \Gamma(s)\Gamma(-s)\mathcal{Z}_0(s)e^{s\mu}.$$
(7.32)

where $0 < \epsilon < 1$ is an arbitrary real parameter. There are two different ways to evaluate (7.32), depending on the sign of μ . First assume $\mu < 0$. In this case the integrand decays as $s \to \infty$, so we can evaluate the integration by pinching the contour right as in figure 7 and collecting the residues therein

$$-\int_{\epsilon-i\infty}^{\epsilon+i\infty} \frac{ds}{2\pi i} \Gamma(s)\Gamma(-s)\mathcal{Z}_0(s)e^{s\mu} = \int_{C_+} \frac{ds}{2\pi i} \Gamma(s)\Gamma(-s)\mathcal{Z}_0(s)e^{s\mu}$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{s_a^{(+)}(\operatorname{Re}(s_a^{(+)})>\epsilon)}} \operatorname{Res}[\Gamma(s)\Gamma(-s)\mathcal{Z}_0(s)e^{s\mu}, s \to s_a^{(+)}].$$
(7.33)

Since $\mathcal{Z}_0(s)$ (7.8) have no poles in this region, the set of poles is only $s_a^{(+)} = 1, 2, \cdots$ coming from $\Gamma(-s)$. We find that the residues at this infinite series of poles precisely reproduce the original small e^{μ} expansion of the grand potential $J_0(\mu)$ (7.29).

In this sense, the integration (7.32) provides the analytic continuation of $J_0(\mu)$ from $\mu < 0$ $(e^{\mu} < 1)$ to $\mu > 0$ $(e^{\mu} > 1)$, i.e. the large μ expansion. The integration (7.32) is called the Mellin-Barnes representation of the series (7.29). Indeed, assuming $\mu > 0$, the integration can be evaluated by pinching the contour left

$$J_{0}(\mu) = -\int_{\epsilon-i\infty}^{\epsilon+i\infty} \frac{ds}{2\pi i} \Gamma(s) \Gamma(-s) \mathcal{Z}_{0}(s) e^{s\mu}$$
$$= \sum_{s_{a}^{(-)}(\operatorname{Re}(s_{a}^{(-)}) \le 0)} \operatorname{Res}[-\Gamma(s) \Gamma(-s) \mathcal{Z}_{0}(s) e^{s\mu}, s \to s_{a}^{(-)}].$$
(7.34)

Due to the factor $e^{s\mu}$ in the integrand the residues are exponentially suppressed or at most polynomial in μ for $\mu \to \infty$, which immediately gives the desired large μ expansion of the grand potential.

7.3 Perturbative part and A

The residue at s = 0 is polynomial in μ , which produces the perturbative part of the grand potential. Indeed, since the integrand in (7.32) is $\mathcal{O}(s^{-4})$ as $s \to 0$ we obtain a cubic polynomial in μ by expanding the factor $e^{s\mu}$. Taking into account the semiclassical corrections (7.30) as well, we find that the coefficients of the cubic term, the quadratic term (vanishing) and the linear term determined by the Fermi surface analysis are precisely reproduced.

On the other hand the small k expansion of the remaining constant A do not terminate at finite order and found to be $[8]^9$

$$A = \frac{2\zeta(3)}{\pi\hbar}\frac{p^3 + q^3}{qp} - \frac{\hbar q p(q+p)}{48\pi} - \frac{\hbar^3 q^2 p^2(q+p)}{69120\pi} + \frac{\hbar^5 q^2 p^2(q^3 + p^3)}{58060800\pi} - \frac{\hbar^7 q^2 p^2(q^5 + p^5)}{13005619200\pi}$$

⁹Precisely speaking, the small k expansion of A was computed up to $\mathcal{O}(\hbar^3)$ in [8] and then extended up to $\mathcal{O}(\hbar^7)$ while preparing [10].



Figure 7: The original contour (left), the contour for $\operatorname{Re}(\mu) < 0$ (center) and the contour for $\operatorname{Re}(\mu) > 0$ of the integral (7.32).

$$+\mathcal{O}(\hbar^9). \tag{7.35}$$

At first sight the expression seems complicated. However, we figure out the following interesting decomposition structure at each order:

$$\frac{2\zeta(3)}{\pi\hbar} \frac{p^3 + q^3}{qp} = \frac{\zeta(3)}{\pi^2} \left[\frac{p^2}{qk} + \frac{q^2}{pk} \right],$$

$$-\frac{\hbar q p (q+p)}{48\pi} = -\frac{1}{24} (p^2 \cdot (qk) + q^2 \cdot (pk)),$$

$$-\frac{\hbar^3 q^2 p^2 (q+p)}{69120\pi} = -\frac{\pi^2}{8640} (p^2 \cdot (qk)^3 + q^2 \cdot (pk)^3),$$

$$\vdots$$
(7.36)

that is

$$A = \frac{p^2 f(qk) + q^2 f(pk)}{2}.$$
(7.37)

with f(k) given by the small k expansion as

$$f(k) = \frac{2\zeta(3)}{\pi^2 k} - \frac{k}{12} - \frac{\pi^2 k^3}{4320} + \frac{\pi^4 k^5}{907200} - \frac{\pi^6 k^7}{50803200} + \mathcal{O}(k^9).$$
(7.38)

This f(k) coincide with the small k expansion of the constant map in the ABJM theory $A_{ABJM}(k)$ [46]. Indeed if we postulate the decomposition (7.37), we can deduce $f(k) = A_{ABJM}(k)$ by taking the limit $q, p \to 1$ where our theory reduce to the ABJM theory. Hence we conjecture

$$A = \frac{p^2 A_{ABJM}(qk) + q^2 A_{ABJM}(pk)}{2}.$$
 (7.39)

This expression is also confirmed for small $k \in \mathbb{N}$, as we will explain in section 8.

7.4 Non-perturbative part

Now let us consider the residues at $\operatorname{Re}(s) < 0$. From the explicit expression $\mathcal{Z}_0(n)$ (7.8) we find three infinite series of poles

$$s = -\frac{2l}{q}, \quad (l = 1, 2, \cdots)$$

$$s = -\frac{2m}{p}, \quad (m = 1, 2, \cdots)$$

$$s = -n, \quad (n = 1, 2, \cdots).$$
(7.40)

As the rational prefactor $f_{\ell}(q, p; n)$ in the higher order corrections have at most finite number of poles,¹⁰ we conclude that there are three corresponding series of non-perturbative effects in the grand potential

$$J_{\rm np} = J_{\rm np}^{(q)} + J_{\rm np}^{(p)} + J_{\rm np}^{(2)}, \qquad (7.41)$$

with

$$J_{\rm np}^{(q)} = \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} c_l^{(q)}(k) e^{-\frac{2l\mu}{q}}, \quad J_{\rm np}^{(p)} = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} c_m^{(p)}(k) e^{-\frac{2m\mu}{p}}, \quad J_{\rm np}^{(2)} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n^{(2)}(k) e^{-n\mu}.$$
 (7.42)

Here $c_l^{(q)}$, $c_m^{(p)}$ and $c_n^{(2)}$ are some k-dependent constants given in the small k expansion as

$$c_l^{(q)} = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \hbar^{2\ell-1} c_{\ell,l}^{(q)}, \quad c_m^{(p)} = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \hbar^{2\ell-1} c_{\ell,m}^{(p)}, \quad c_n^{(2)} = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \hbar^{2\ell-1} c_{\ell,n}^{(2)}.$$
(7.43)

The leading part $c_{0,l}^{(q)}$, $c_{0,m}^{(p)}$ and $c_{0,n}^{(2)}$ can be read off from the explicit expression of $\mathcal{Z}_0(s)$ as

$$c_{0,\ell}^{(q)} = \frac{1}{\pi\ell \sin\frac{2\pi\ell}{q}} \begin{pmatrix} 2\ell\\\ell \end{pmatrix} \frac{\Gamma(-\frac{p\ell}{q})^2}{\Gamma(-\frac{2p\ell}{q})}, \quad c_{0,m}^{(p)} = \frac{1}{\pi m \sin\frac{2\pi m}{p}} \begin{pmatrix} 2m\\m \end{pmatrix} \frac{\Gamma(-\frac{qm}{p})^2}{\Gamma(-\frac{2qm}{p})},$$
$$c_{0,n}^{(2)} = \frac{(-1)^{n-1}}{2\pi n} \frac{\Gamma(-\frac{qn}{2})^2}{\Gamma(-qn)} \frac{\Gamma(-\frac{pn}{2})^2}{\Gamma(-pn)},$$
(7.44)

where we have used the following formula

$$\Gamma(z)\Gamma(1-z) = \frac{\pi}{\sin \pi z}$$
(7.45)

to rewrite some of the Gamma functions. The higher order corrections are obtained by multiplying $f_{2s}(q,p;\partial_{\mu})$ with replacement $\partial_{\mu} \rightarrow -2\ell/q$, -2m/p or -n, respectively.

¹⁰At least up to $\mathcal{O}(k^9)$, all of these finite poles are precisely cancelled with the zeroes coming from the Gamma functions in the numerator of $\mathcal{Z}_0(n)$.

7.5 Gravitational interpretation of non-perturbative effects as instantons

Here we shall briefly comment on the interpretation of the non-perturbative corrections $\mathcal{O}(e^{-\mu})$ to the grand potential $J(\mu)$ in the gravity side. The dual eleven dimensional geometry to the $(q, p)_k$ model we are considering is $\mathrm{AdS}_4 \times Y_7$,

$$ds_{11}^2 = \frac{R_{\rm AdS}^2}{4} ds_{\rm AdS_4}^2 + R_{\rm AdS}^2 ds_{Y_7}^2, \tag{7.46}$$

where Y_7 is the radial section of $(\mathbb{C}^2/\mathbb{Z}_q, \times \mathbb{C}^2/\mathbb{Z}_p)/\mathbb{Z}_k$ according to the analysis of the moduli space [3] commented in section 3. The AdS radius R_{AdS} is given by

$$R_{\rm AdS} = (32\pi^2 qpkN)^{\frac{1}{6}} \ell_p^{(11)} \tag{7.47}$$

with $\ell_p^{(11)}$ the eleven dimensional Planck length. Below we provide an evidence that the nonperturbative effects can be interpreted as fundamental membranes winding on Y_7 .

Suppose the perturbative grand potential (6.23) is corrected with a non-perturbative effect $e^{-\omega\mu}$ with some constant ω as

$$J(\mu) = J^{\text{pert}} + e^{-\omega\mu}.$$
(7.48)

Substituting this into the inversion relation $J(\mu) \to Z(N)$ (6.25), we obtain

$$Z(N) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{-i\infty}^{i\infty} \frac{d\mu}{2\pi i} e^{J^{\text{pert}}(\mu) - \mu(N + n\omega)}$$
$$= e^A C^{-\frac{1}{3}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \operatorname{Ai}[C^{-\frac{1}{3}}(N - B + n\omega)], \qquad (7.49)$$

where we have expanded the exponential of the non-perturbative correction and used the integration formula defining the Airy function (6.2). In terms of the free energy $F = \log Z(N)$, the term n = 0 correspond to the perturbative part (6.1) while the terms n > 0 gives the non-perturbative free energy

$$F^{\rm np} = \log \left[1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \frac{\operatorname{Ai}[C^{-\frac{1}{3}}(N-B+n\omega)]}{\operatorname{Ai}[C^{-\frac{1}{3}}(N-B)]} \right].$$
 (7.50)

With the help of the asymptotic expansion formula of the Airy function (6.3) we find that the leading behavior of F^{np} is

$$F^{\rm np} \sim e^{-\omega \sqrt{N/C}}.\tag{7.51}$$

From the explicit expressions of the constant C (6.37) and R_{AdS} (7.47) the exponent is found to coincide, up to numerical factors, with

$$\omega \sqrt{\frac{N}{C}} \propto \omega R_{\rm AdS}^3 T_{\rm M2} \tag{7.52}$$

Hence the exponent can be interpreted as the energy of closed Euclidean M2-branes winding on some non-trivial 3-cycle inside Y_7 .

Such winding effects are called the membrane instantons [36]. In current case Y_7 is the radial section of $(\mathbb{C}^2/\mathbb{Z}_q \times \mathbb{C}^2/\mathbb{Z}_p)/\mathbb{Z}_k$. As it would be natural to guess that the M2-branes can wind on the cycle orbifolded by \mathbb{Z}_q or \mathbb{Z}_p , this way of interpretation indeed seems to be consistent with the variety of the non-perturbative effects (7.42).¹¹ For these reasons, from now on we shall call the non-perturbative effects $\mathcal{O}(e^{-\mu})$ as the "instantons".

7.6 Instanton coefficients and pole cancellation

So far we have formally regarded q and p as arbitrary real parameters in the computations, where the instanton coefficient are generically finite. However, some of the instanton coefficients diverge for the special values of q and p. Actually, the divergence always occurs for physical parameters, i.e. $q, p \in \mathbb{N}$. At first sight the occurrence of the divergences seems to be a contradiction, since the partition function itself is finite even for these special values. However, as we shall see in detail below, a divergence is always accompanied with the degeneracy of the instanton exponents over the sectors. The divergence of the individual coefficient actually occurs pairwisely in these degenerating instantons, and interestingly, they precisely cancel each other's divergence. The remaining coefficients are always finite and thus the grand potential is well defined.

To see the structure of divergences, it is convenient to rewrite the coefficients of the three species of instantons in a symmetric manner by using the formula (7.45)

$$J_{0,\mathrm{np}}^{(z_i)}(\mu) = \sum_{\ell_i=1}^{\infty} \frac{F(\frac{\ell_i}{z_i};\mu)}{\ell_i} \prod_{j=1(\neq i)}^3 \cot\frac{\pi z_j \ell_i}{z_i},\tag{7.53}$$

where we have introduced $z_i = (q, p, 2), \ell_i = (l, m, n)$ and

$$F(r;\mu) = -\frac{2\pi}{\cos 2\pi r} \frac{\Gamma(2qr+1)}{\Gamma(qr+1)^2} \frac{\Gamma(2pr+1)}{\Gamma(pr+1)^2} e^{-2r\mu}.$$
(7.54)

In this expression all the Gamma functions in the instanton coefficients are finite. The divergent structure are expressed only with the cotangent factors. Explicitly speaking, the divergence appears at $l \in \frac{q}{\gcd(q,p)} \mathbb{N} \cup \frac{q}{\gcd(q,2)} \mathbb{N}$ in $J_{0,\mathrm{np}}^{(q)}(\mu)$, at $m \in \frac{p}{\gcd(p,2)} \mathbb{N} \cup \frac{p}{\gcd(p,q)} \mathbb{N}$ in $J_{0,\mathrm{np}}^{(p)}(\mu)$ and at $n \in \frac{2}{\gcd(2,q)} \mathbb{N} \cup \frac{2}{\gcd(2,p)} \mathbb{N}$ in $J_{0,\mathrm{np}}^{(2)}(\mu)$. As the factor $F(r;\mu)$ from different sectors share the same instanton exponent at these special instanton numbers, however, the divergences are possibly cancelled among those terms with the degenerating exponent. In [9] we have explicitly checked the cancellation of divergence by regularizing the divergence by the replacement $(q,p) \to (q(1 + p))$.

¹¹Different from the \mathbb{Z}_k , there are the fixed point sets on S^7 for the orbifold action of \mathbb{Z}_q and \mathbb{Z}_p . Therefore the volume of the 3-cycle containing these directions can be zero (vanishing cycle) and the volume interpretation of the instanton exponents seems to collapse. This problem would be avioled if we consider the appropriate blow up of the conical singularity.

 ε_1 , $p(1 + \varepsilon_2)$). After summing all the relevant contributions we can see the instanton coefficient is indeed finite in the undeformed limit $\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2 \to 0$.

To see the explicit coefficients remaining after the cancellation, however, it is more convenient to go back to the Mellin-Barnes integration representation (7.32). The integrand have double/triple pole at the degeneracy of the instanton exponents. The finite part of the instanton coefficient is simply given by the residue at this pole. Here we shall demonstrate the computation for the case of triple degeneracy, which occurs when the three instanton numbers satisfy

$$\frac{l}{q} = \frac{m}{p} = \frac{n}{2} = \frac{\ell}{r}, \quad (\ell \in \mathbb{N})$$

$$(7.55)$$

where r = gcd(q, p, 2). To obtain the residue it is convenient again to eliminate the singular Gamma functions from integrand in (7.32) with the help of the formula (7.45) as

$$-\Gamma(s)\Gamma(-s)\mathcal{Z}_0(s)e^{s\mu} = \frac{1}{\sin(\pi s)\tan\frac{\pi qs}{2}\tan\frac{\pi ps}{2}}\frac{2\pi^2\Gamma(1-qs)\Gamma(1-ps)}{s\Gamma(1-\frac{qs}{2})^2\Gamma(1-\frac{ps}{2})^2}e^{s\mu}.$$
 (7.56)

Now only the first factor is singular at $s = -2\ell/r$

$$\frac{1}{\sin(\pi s)\tan\frac{\pi qs}{2}\tan\frac{\pi ps}{2}}\bigg|_{s=-\frac{2\ell}{r}+\epsilon} = \frac{4}{\pi^3 qp\epsilon^3} \left(1 + \frac{\pi^2 \epsilon^2 (2-q^2-p^2)}{12} + \cdots\right)$$
(7.57)

while the remaining terms are expanded as

$$\frac{2\pi^{2}\Gamma(1-qs)\Gamma(1-ps)}{s\Gamma(1-\frac{qs}{2})^{2}\Gamma(1-\frac{ps}{2})^{2}}e^{s\mu}\Big|_{s=-\frac{2\ell}{r}+\epsilon} = -\frac{\pi^{2}r\Gamma(1+\frac{2q\ell}{r})\Gamma(1+\frac{2p\ell}{r})}{\ell\Gamma(1+\frac{q\ell}{r})^{2}\Gamma(1+\frac{p\ell}{r})^{2}} \\
\left[1+\epsilon\left\{\mu+\frac{r}{2\ell}-H_{1}\left(\frac{\ell}{r}\right)\right\}\right] \\
+\epsilon^{2}\left\{\frac{\mu^{2}}{2}+\left(\frac{r}{2\ell}-H_{1}\left(\frac{\ell}{r}\right)\right)\mu\right] \\
+\frac{r^{2}}{4\ell^{2}}-\frac{r}{2\ell}H_{1}\left(\frac{\ell}{r}\right)-\frac{1}{2}H_{1}\left(\frac{\ell}{r}\right)^{2}+H_{2}\left(\frac{\ell}{r}\right)+\frac{\pi^{2}(q^{2}+p^{2})}{24}\right]e^{-\frac{2\ell\mu}{r}}.$$
(7.58)

Here $H_s(r)$ is defined with the harmonic numbers h_s

$$h_s(m) = \sum_{\ell=1}^m \frac{1}{\ell^s},$$
(7.59)

as

$$H_s(r) = q^s \left(2^{s-1} h_s(2qr) - h_s(qr) \right) + p^s \left(2^{s-1} h_s(2pr) - h_s(pr) \right).$$
(7.60)

The appearances of $H_s(r)$ are due to the derivatives of the Gamma functions in $F(r;\mu)$, through the formula

$$\psi^{(0)}(m) = -\gamma + h_1(m-1), \quad \psi^{(1)}(m) = \frac{\pi^2}{6} - h_2(m-1),$$
(7.61)

where γ is the Euler-Mascheroni constant. The polygamma functions are defined as

$$\psi^{(s-1)}(x) = \left(\frac{d}{dx}\right)^s \log \Gamma(x).$$
(7.62)

Plugging these results together we finally obtain the instanton coefficient of $e^{-2\ell/r}$ as

$$(a_{0,\ell}\mu^2 + b_{0,\ell}\mu + c_{0,\ell})e^{-\frac{2\ell}{r}}$$
(7.63)

with

$$a_{0,\ell} = -\frac{2r}{\pi q p \ell} \left(\frac{\frac{2q\ell}{r}}{\frac{q\ell}{r}} \right) \left(\frac{\frac{2p\ell}{r}}{\frac{p\ell}{r}} \right), \quad b_{0,\ell} = a_{0,\ell} \times \left[\frac{r}{\ell} - 2H_1\left(\frac{\ell}{r}\right) \right],$$

$$c_{0,\ell} = a_{0,\ell} \times \left[\frac{r^2}{2\ell^2} - \frac{r}{\ell} H_1\left(\frac{\ell}{r}\right) - H_1\left(\frac{\ell}{r}\right)^2 + 2H_2\left(\frac{\ell}{r}\right) + \frac{\pi^2(4-q^2-p^2)}{12} \right]. \tag{7.64}$$

It is important to notice that an instanton coefficient is generally not constant but polynomial in μ after the pole cancellation. The degree of the polynomial coefficient is given as

(# of species contributing to the instanton) - 1. (7.65)

7.7 Effective chemical potential for triple degeneracy

As we have seen above, the instanton coefficient is quadratic polynomial in μ when all the three species of the instantons contribute to the pole cancellation

$$J^{\rm np} = J_a \mu^2 + J_b \mu + J_c + \cdots, \qquad (7.66)$$

where

$$J_a = \sum_{\ell \ge 1} a_\ell e^{-\frac{2\ell\mu}{r}}, \quad J_b = \sum_{\ell \ge 1} b_\ell e^{-\frac{2\ell\mu}{r}}, \quad J_c = \sum_{\ell \ge 1} c_\ell e^{-\frac{2\ell\mu}{r}}, \tag{7.67}$$

and we have abbreviate the other instanton effects as "...". a_{ℓ} , b_{ℓ} , and c_{ℓ} are some μ independent constants whose explicit expressions in the limit $k \to 0$ are given as (7.64).

Note that the quadratic part J_a can be absorved into the perturbative part of the grand potential by shifting the chemical potential μ ,

$$\mu_{\text{eff}} = \mu + \frac{J_a}{C},\tag{7.68}$$

as

$$J(\mu) = \frac{C}{3}\mu^{3} + B\mu + A + J_{a}\mu^{2} + J_{b}\mu^{2} + J_{c} + \cdots$$

= $\frac{C}{3}\mu_{\text{eff}}^{3} + B\mu_{\text{eff}} + A + \widetilde{J}_{b}\mu_{\text{eff}} + \widetilde{J}_{c} + \cdots$, (7.69)

where

$$\widetilde{J}_b = J_b - \frac{J_a^2}{C}, \quad \widetilde{J}_c = J_c + \frac{2J_a^3}{3C^2} - \frac{BJ_a}{C} - \frac{J_aJ_b}{C}.$$
 (7.70)

Now \widetilde{J}_b and \widetilde{J}_c should be regarded as the instanton effects with exponents $e^{-2\ell\mu_{\text{eff}}/r}$:

$$\widetilde{J}_b = \sum_{\ell \ge 1} \widetilde{b}_\ell e^{-\frac{2\ell\mu_{\text{eff}}}{r}}, \quad \widetilde{J}_c = \sum_{\ell \ge 1} \widetilde{c}_\ell e^{-\frac{2\ell\mu_{\text{eff}}}{r}}.$$
(7.71)

Interestingly, a little simplification occurs in the instanton coefficients by the introduction of this "effective chemical potential" μ_{eff} (??). Speaking concretely,

 \circ The instanton coefficients (7.64) are somehow asymmetric for

$$a_{0,\ell}, b_{0,\ell} \in \mathbb{Q}/\pi, \quad \text{while} \quad c_{0,\ell} \in \mathbb{Q}/\pi + \pi\mathbb{Q}.$$
 (7.72)

On the other hand, the instanton coefficients in terms of μ_{eff} , \tilde{b} and \tilde{c} are both in \mathbb{Q}/π .

• The same rationality is satisfied also for the higher order in small \hbar expansion. This implies that the Taylor expansions of the instanton coefficients on the triple degeneracy a_{ℓ} , $\tilde{b}_{\ell}(k)$ and $\tilde{c}_{\ell}(k)$ schematically take the following form

$$\frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{m \ge 0} \alpha_m \hbar^{2m-1}, \quad (\alpha_m \in \mathbb{Q}).$$
(7.73)

Below we shall prove these properties.

Let us start with the classical limit. Remember the rationality of the perturbative coefficients (6.37) and (6.40),

$$C = \frac{1}{\hbar}C_0, \quad B = \frac{1}{\hbar}B_0 + \hbar B_2 \tag{7.74}$$

with

$$C_{0} = \frac{4}{\pi q p} \in \mathbb{Q}/\pi,$$

$$B_{0} = \frac{\pi (4 - q^{2} - p^{2})}{3qp} \in \pi\mathbb{Q},$$

$$B_{2} = \frac{qp}{48\pi} \in \mathbb{Q}/\pi.$$
(7.75)

First note that

$$\frac{J_a}{C} = \sum_{\ell \ge 1} \frac{a_{0,\ell}}{C_0} e^{-\frac{2\ell\mu}{r}}$$
(7.76)

have always rational coefficients. This ensures that the coefficients in \tilde{J}_b and \tilde{J}_c computed before expanding $e^{-2\ell\mu/r}$ with $e^{-2\ell\mu_{\text{eff}}/r}$ have the same rationality as those after the expansion. Therefore we would like to argue the rationality of the coefficients before expanding the exponents. The linear part \tilde{J}_b can be written explicitly, in the classical limit, as

$$\widetilde{J}_{b} = \frac{1}{\hbar} \sum_{\ell \ge 1} \left(b_{0,\ell} - \frac{1}{C_0} \sum_{\ell_1, \ell_2 \ge 1(\ell_1 + \ell_2 = \ell)} a_{0,\ell_1} a_{0,\ell_2} \right) e^{-\ell\mu}.$$
(7.77)

Since $a_{0,\ell}, b_{0,\ell}, C_0 \in \mathbb{Q}/\pi$, we conclude $\tilde{b}_{0,\ell} \in \mathbb{Q}/\pi$. Similarly we can see that the following combination in the constant part \tilde{J}_c

$$\frac{2J_a^3}{3C^2} - \frac{J_a J_b}{C}$$
(7.78)

have rational coefficients up to \hbar in the classical limit. The only non-trivial parts are the remaining terms in \widetilde{J}_c

$$J_c - \frac{BJ_a}{C}.$$
(7.79)

Using the explicit expression of the coefficients we find the $\pi \mathbb{Q}$ part precisely cancels as

$$a_{0,\ell} \cdot \frac{\pi^2 (4 - q^2 - p^2)}{12} - \frac{\pi (4 - q^2 - p^2)}{3qp} \cdot a_{0,\ell} \cdot \frac{\pi qp}{4} = 0.$$
(7.80)

Therefore we also conclude $\widetilde{c}_{\ell} \in \mathbb{Q}/\pi$.

Next let us consider the higher order corrections in the small k expansion. The higher order corrections are generated by operating

$$\hbar^{\ell-1} f_{\ell}(q, p; \partial_{\mu}) \tag{7.81}$$

(f(q, p; n) are rational functions of n with rational coefficients, given as (7.26)) on the instantons in the classical limit

$$\frac{1}{\hbar} \sum_{\ell \ge 1} (a_{0,\ell} \mu^2 + b_{0,\ell} \mu + c_{0,\ell}) e^{-\frac{2\ell\mu}{r}}.$$
(7.82)

It is easy to see that the differential ∂_{μ} converts the coefficients as

$$\partial_{\mu} : \begin{pmatrix} a_{\ell} \\ b_{\ell} \\ c_{\ell} \end{pmatrix} \to M \begin{pmatrix} a_{\ell} \\ b_{\ell} \\ c_{\ell} \end{pmatrix}$$
(7.83)

with

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{2\ell}{r} & 0 & 0\\ 2 & -\frac{2\ell}{r} & 0\\ 0 & 1 & -\frac{2\ell}{r} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (7.84)

Since the transformation matrix M and the power of M have only rational components and always satisfies $M_{i,j}^n = 0$ for i < j, the coefficients $a_{0,\ell}$ take the form of (7.73). Therefore in the purpose of the derivation of the schematic structure (7.73) we can again neglect the corrections coming from the exponents $e^{-2\ell\mu/r} \neq e^{-2\ell\mu_{\text{eff}}/r}$. Since $b_{0,\ell}$ also take the form of (7.73), we can see \tilde{b}_{ℓ} take the form of (7.73) as well by the similar manipulations as in the classical limit. Moreover, since $M_{1,1}^n = M_{3,3}^n$ and $B_2 \in \mathbb{Q}/\pi$ the cancellation of the $\pi\mathbb{Q}$ irrational part in (7.80) still holds. This ensures that \tilde{c}_{ℓ} also satisfies the structure (7.73).

7.8 Discussion and Comments

In this section we have analyzed the grand potential $J(\mu)$ in small k expansion but exactly with respect to the chemical potential μ . The analysis provides the small k expansion of the constant A(k) in the perturbative partition function (6.1) which we could not determine in the last section. Though the small k expansion does not terminate at finite order, we have achieved to conjecture its exact k dependence by discovering a simple decomposition structure (7.37).¹²

We have also obtained quantitative results on the non-perturbative effects in μ . In the gravity side these effects can be understood as the Euclidean M2-branes winding on some non-trivial three cycles, called the instantons. In this picture the exponents of the non-perturbative effects are related to the volume of the winding, and our observation of the variety of exponents modded by q and p nevertheless matches with the variety of orbifolds in the moduli space of the theory $(\mathbb{C}^2/\mathbb{Z}_q \times \mathbb{C}^2/\mathbb{Z}_p)/\mathbb{Z}_k$.

As we will see later there also exist the instantons of $\mathcal{O}(e^{-\mu/k})$ which are completely invisible in the small k expansion. In the case of the ABJM theory, there are two kinds of instantons, $\mathcal{O}(e^{-4\mu/k})$ and $\mathcal{O}(e^{-2\mu})$. The former corresponds to the M2-branes winding on the cycle modded by \mathbb{Z}_k while the latter the M2-branes winding in some other three directions. Regarding the modded cycle as the M-theory direction and adopt the terminology of IIA picture, the former instantons correspond to the winding of the fundamental strings while the latter that of the D2branes. In this sense the former instantons $\mathcal{O}(e^{-4\mu/k})$ are called the worldsheet instantons [50] while the latter $\mathcal{O}(e^{-2\mu})$ are called the membrane instantons [51].

Obtaining the exact instanton coefficients (7.44) we have discovered an interesting pole structure of the instantons: regarding q and p as continuous parameters the individual instanton coefficient diverges at some special values of q and p while the divergences completely cancel among the different species of the instantons. The physical implication of this pole cancellation mechanism is still obscure. Since q and p are always integers in physical theories as they are associated with the orbifold (or the number of vertices in the quiver), it is unclear whether there should be some counterpart of these phenomena in the gravity side or in the original field theory.

Nevertheless, for the purpose to reveal the exact structures of the instanton effects the pole cancellation provides great hint to guess the instanton coefficients. Suppose we only know of one series of the instanton $e^{-2\mu/q}$ but with the explicit expression of their instanton coefficients $c_{0,\ell}^{(q)}$ (7.44). The pole cancellation implies that in this case the pole structure of the explicit coefficient predict the other two series of the instantons $e^{-2\mu/p}$ and $e^{-\mu}$. Conversely, once we recognize all the instanton species $e^{-2\mu/q}$, $e^{-2\mu/p}$ and $e^{-\mu}$ but without their coefficients, the pole cancellation requires that the coefficient, say $c_{\ell}^{(q)}$ must have the following infinite series of poles: $c_{\ell}^{(q)} \to \infty$ at $\ell p/q \in \mathbb{N}$ or $2\ell/q \in \mathbb{N}$, which strongly restrict the (q, p) dependence of the coefficients. In

 $^{^{12}}$ Interestingly, the similar decomposition structure as well as the correlation to the subdivision of the membrane instantons is observed also in other theories [47, 48, 49]. We hope to provide some physical interpretation to these structure in future.

section 9 we will determine exact k dependence of the instanton coefficients by applying these ideas between the worldsheet instantons and the membrane instantons.

Lastly, though we have focused on the theory with minimal separation of $s_a = \pm 1$ in the levels (6.39), the similar techniques are also applicable to the non-minimal cases. Since they are identical to the minimal theory in the classical limit, we obtain the completely same series of instanton exponents and the pole cancellation mechanism.

8 Instanton effects for finite k

As we explain in this section, in the $(q, p)_k$ minimal models we can compute the exact values of the partition function Z(N) for small integers $k, q, p \in \mathbb{N}$ iteratively in N, using the techniques developed in [52, 53, 54, 10].¹³ These results provide distinct data for the exact expression of the grand potential from the small k expansion in the section 7.

Using the exact values we can confirm our conjectural expression of the constant A (7.37) in the perturbative partition function. Moreover, since the obtained values are exact, even the "small errors" from the $Z^{\text{pert}}(N) = e^A C^{-\frac{1}{3}} \operatorname{Ai}[C^{-\frac{1}{3}}(N-B)]$ are meaningful quantities as well. We can read off the instanton effects for finite k from these deviations. Interestingly we encounter new kind of instanton effects $\mathcal{O}(e^{-\mu/k})$ which were completely invisible in the small k expansion.

8.1 Exact partition function for $(q, p)_k$ models

Here we shall explain a systematic method to compute the quantities $\operatorname{Tr} \hat{\rho}^n$. Once these quantities are determined for $1 \leq n \leq N$, we can read off the exact partition function Z(N) according to the definitions (6.11) and (6.19).

8.1.1 *p* = 1

First we would like to explain the computation in the $(q, p)_k$ models with p = 1 [54]. Notice that the matrix element of the density matrix $\hat{\rho}$ is written as

$$\rho(Q_1, Q_2) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \langle Q_1 | \hat{\rho} | Q_2 \rangle = \frac{1}{2\pi k} \frac{1}{\left(2\cosh\frac{Q_1}{2}\right)^{q/2}} \frac{1}{2\cosh\frac{Q_1 - Q_2}{2k}} \frac{1}{\left(2\cosh\frac{Q_2}{2}\right)^{q/2}}, \quad (8.1)$$

where we have used the following Fourier transformation formula

$$\langle Q_1 | \frac{1}{2\cosh\frac{\hat{P}}{2}} | Q_2 \rangle = \int \frac{dP}{2\pi k} \frac{e^{i(Q_1 - Q_2)P/\hbar}}{2\cosh\frac{P}{2}} = \frac{1}{k} \frac{1}{2\cosh\frac{Q_1 - Q_2}{2k}}.$$
(8.2)

The exact computation is achieved due to the following structure of this matrix element

$$\rho(Q_1, Q_2) = \frac{E(Q_1)E(Q_2)}{M(Q_1) + M(Q_2)},\tag{8.3}$$

where individual ingredients are given explicitly as

$$M(Q) = 2\pi k e^{\frac{Q}{k}}, \quad E(Q) = \frac{e^{\frac{Q}{2k}}}{\left(2\cosh\frac{Q}{2}\right)^{q/2}}.$$
(8.4)

To see this fact let us express (8.3) schematically as

$$\{M,\rho\} = E \otimes E. \tag{8.5}$$

¹³See also [55] for the early development for the exact computation of Z(N) with N = 1 and 2.

Here we have regarded ρ , M and E respectively as a symmetric matrix with components $(\rho)_{Q,Q'} = \rho(Q,Q')$, $(M)_{Q,Q'} = M(Q)\delta(Q-Q')$ and $(E)_Q = E(Q)$, respectively. The integrations over Q in the power of the density matrix or the trace are regarded as the operations of matrix product. Using (8.5) repetitively, it is easy to derive similar (anti-)commutation relation for ρ^n with $n \geq 2$

$$M\rho^{n} - (-1)^{n}\rho^{n}M = \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} (-1)^{m}(\rho^{m} \cdot E) \otimes (\rho^{n-1-m} \cdot E).$$
(8.6)

These (anti-)commutation relations imply that, if we define a new set of vectors ψ_m by

$$\psi_m(Q) = \frac{(\rho^m \cdot E)(Q)}{E(Q)} \\ \left(\equiv \frac{1}{E(Q)} \prod_{i=1}^n \int dQ_i \rho(Q, Q_1) \rho(Q_1, Q_2) \cdots \rho(Q_{n-1}, Q_n) E(Q_n) \right),$$
(8.7)

the powers ρ^n can be written as

$$\rho^{n}(Q_{1},Q_{2}) = \frac{E(Q_{1})E(Q_{2})}{M(Q_{1}) - (-1)^{n}M(Q_{2})} \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} (-1)^{m}\psi_{m}(Q_{1})\psi_{n-1-m}(Q_{2}).$$
(8.8)

The efficiency of this formula is worth stressing. When we compute a power of some matrix we need to compute the product of matrices at each step. In our formula, however, we can compute ρ^n just by picking up a specific vector E and multiplying ρ to it. Hence it is expected that our formula substantially simplifies the computation.

Moreover, for $k, q \in \mathbb{N}$ the vectors $\psi_m(Q)$ can be computed by simple iterative steps. From the definition (8.7) we obtain the following recursion relation

$$\psi_{m+1}(Q) = \frac{1}{E(Q)} \int dQ' \rho(Q, Q') E(Q') \psi_m(Q')$$
(8.9)

with the initial condition

$$\psi_0(Q) = 1. \tag{8.10}$$

When $k, q \in \mathbb{N}$, we can introduce new integration variable $u = e^{Q/(2k)}$ and rewrite the integration as

$$\psi_{m+1}(u) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^\infty dv \frac{1}{v^2 + u^2} \frac{v^{qk+1}}{(v^{2k} + 1)^q} \psi_m(v).$$
(8.11)

This integration can be simplified by expanding $\psi_m(u)$ in the series of $\log u$

$$\psi_m(u) = \sum_{j \ge 0} \psi_m^{(j)}(u) (\log u)^j, \tag{8.12}$$

where $\psi_m^{(j)}(u)$ are rational functions in u, as [53]

$$\psi_m(u) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{j \ge 0} \frac{(2\pi i)^{j+1}}{j+1} \sum_{v_a \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}^+} \operatorname{Res}\left[\frac{1}{v^2 + u^2} \frac{v^{qk+1}}{(v^{2k} + 1)^q} \psi_m^{(j)}(v) B_{j+1}\left[\frac{\log^{(+)} v}{2\pi i}\right], v \to v_a\right].$$
(8.13)

Here $\log^{(+)}$ is the logarithm function with the branch cut on \mathbb{R}^+ , i.e.

$$\log^{(+)} z = \begin{cases} \log z & (0 < \operatorname{Arg}(z) < \pi) \\ \log z + 2\pi i & (-\pi < \operatorname{Arg}(z) < 0) \end{cases}.$$
(8.14)

with log the usually used logarithm with branch cut on \mathbb{R}^- , and $B_j(z)$ are the Bernoulli polynomials defined like (6.31). We shall assume $u \in \mathbb{R}^+$ to collect the residue at $v = \pm iu$.

Once ψ_m are computed in this manner, we can obtain $\operatorname{Tr} \hat{\rho}$ by integrating (8.8) with $Q_2 = Q_1$ by the same technique. For odd n we obtain

$$\operatorname{Tr}\widehat{\rho}^{n} = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{j \ge 0} \frac{(2\pi i)^{j+1}}{j+1} \sum_{v_{a} \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}^{+}} \operatorname{Res}\left[\frac{v^{qk-1}}{(v^{2k}+1)^{q}} f_{n}^{(j)}(v) B_{j+1}\left[\frac{\log^{(+)} v}{2\pi i}\right], \quad (8.15)$$

while if n is even the result is

$$\operatorname{Tr}\hat{\rho}^{n} = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{j\geq 0} \frac{(2\pi i)^{j+1}}{j+1} \sum_{v_{a}\in\mathbb{C}\setminus\mathbb{R}^{+}} \operatorname{Res}\left[\frac{v^{qk}}{(v^{2k}+1)^{q}} g_{n}^{(j)}(v) B_{j+1}\left[\frac{\log^{(+)}v}{2\pi i}\right], v \to v_{a}\right].$$
(8.16)

Here we have defined the rational functions $f_n^{(j)}(u)$ and $g_n^{(j)}(u)$ as

$$\sum_{j\geq 0} f_n^{(j)}(u)(\log u)^j = \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} (-1)^m \psi_m(u)\psi_{n-m-1}(u),$$

$$\sum_{j\geq 0} g_n^{(j)}(u)(\log u)^j = \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} (-1)^m \partial_u \psi_m(u)\psi_{n-m-1}(u).$$
(8.17)

8.1.2 p = 2

Similar computation is possible also for the $(q, p)_k$ models with p = 2 [10]. In this case we use the Fourier transformation formula

$$\langle Q_1 | \frac{1}{(2\cosh\frac{\hat{P}}{2})^2} | Q_2 \rangle = \int \frac{dP}{2\pi k} \frac{e^{i(Q_1 - Q_2)P/\hbar}}{\left(2\cosh\frac{P}{2}\right)^2} = \frac{1}{2\pi k^2} \frac{Q_1 - Q_2}{2\sinh\frac{Q_1 - Q_2}{2k}}$$
(8.18)

to rewrite the density matrix as

$$\rho(Q_1, Q_2) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \langle Q_1 | \hat{\rho} | Q_2 \rangle = \frac{1}{(2\pi k)^2} \frac{1}{\left(2\cosh\frac{Q_1}{2}\right)^{q/2}} \frac{Q_1 - Q_2}{2\sinh\frac{Q_1 - Q_2}{2k}} \frac{1}{\left(2\cosh\frac{Q_2}{2}\right)^{q/2}}.$$
(8.19)

which has the following structure

$$\rho(Q_1, Q_2) = \frac{(Q_1 - Q_2)E(Q_1)E(Q_2)}{M(Q_1) - M(Q_2)}$$
(8.20)

with

$$M(Q) = (2\pi k)^2 e^{\frac{Q}{k}}, \quad E(Q) = \frac{e^{\frac{Q}{2k}}}{\left(2\cosh\frac{Q}{2}\right)^{q/2}}.$$
(8.21)

Schematically, this result can be rewritten as

$$[M,\rho] = (EQ) \otimes E - E \otimes (EQ). \tag{8.22}$$

This implies that we can follow almost similar iterative steps as in the case of p = 1; the only difference is that we need to introduce two series of vectors corresponding to E and EQ

$$\phi_m(Q) = \frac{(\rho^m \cdot E)(Q)}{E(Q)}, \quad \psi_m(Q) = \frac{(\rho^m \cdot EQ)(Q)}{E(Q)}, \quad (8.23)$$

which are computed recursively as

$$\phi_m(Q) = \int dQ' \frac{1}{E(Q)} \rho(Q, Q') E(Q') \phi_{m-1}(Q'), \quad \phi_0(Q) = 1,$$

$$\psi_m(Q) = \int dQ' \frac{1}{E(Q)} \rho(Q, Q') E(Q') \psi_{m-1}(Q'), \quad \psi_0(Q) = Q.$$
(8.24)

The powers of the density matrix are written as

$$\rho^{n}(Q_{1},Q_{2}) = \frac{E(Q_{1})E(Q_{2})}{M(Q_{1}) - M(Q_{2})} \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \left[\psi_{m}(Q_{1})\phi_{n-1-m}(Q_{2}) - \phi_{m}(Q_{1})\psi_{n-1-m}(Q_{2}) \right], \quad (8.25)$$

and the traces can be computed as

$$\operatorname{Tr} \hat{\rho}^{n} = \int dQ \frac{E(Q)^{2}}{dM/dQ} \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \Big[\frac{d\psi_{m}(Q)}{dQ} \phi_{n-1-m}(Q) - \frac{d\phi_{m}(Q)}{dQ} \psi_{n-1-m}(Q) \Big].$$
(8.26)

8.1.3 $p \ge 3$

Now the generalization to the $(q, p)_k$ models with $p \ge 3$ is straightforward [10], with the help of following Fourier transformation formula

$$\langle Q_1 | \frac{1}{(2\cosh\frac{\hat{p}}{2})^p} | Q_2 \rangle = \int \frac{dP}{2\pi k} \frac{e^{i(Q_1 - Q_2)P/\hbar}}{(2\cosh\frac{P}{2})^p} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{(p-1)!k} \frac{1}{2\cosh\frac{Q_1 - Q_2}{2k}} \prod_{j=1}^{\frac{p-1}{2}} \left[\left(\frac{Q_1 - Q_2}{2\pi k} \right)^2 + \frac{(2j-1)^2}{4} \right] & \text{(for odd } p) \\ \frac{Q_1 - Q_2}{2\pi (p-1)!k^2} \frac{1}{2\sinh\frac{Q_1 - Q_2}{2k}} \prod_{j=1}^{\frac{p}{2}-1} \left[\left(\frac{Q_1 - Q_2}{2\pi k} \right)^2 + j^2 \right] & \text{(for even } p) \end{cases} .$$
(8.27)

They coincide with the Fourier transformation for p = 1, 2 respectively up to some factor of polynomial in $Q_1 - Q_2$. Therefore, with $M(Q) \propto e^{\frac{Q}{k}}$, the quantity

$$M\rho - (-1)^p \rho M \tag{8.28}$$

is written as a linear combination of $(EQ^{\ell}) \otimes (EQ^{\ell'})$ with $\ell, \ell' \ge 0$ and $\ell + \ell' \le p - 1$. This ensures that $\operatorname{Tr} \hat{\rho}^n$ can be calculated as in the cases of p = 1, 2 by introducing the series of vectors

$$\phi_m^{(\ell)}(Q) = \frac{(\rho^m \cdot EQ^\ell)(Q)}{E(Q)},$$
(8.29)

with $\ell = 0, 1, \cdots, p - 1$.



Figure 8: The exact values of Z(N) for $(q, p)_k = (2, 2)_1$ model (red circles) and the plot of the Airy function $Z^{\text{pert}}(N)$ (6.1) (blue line).

8.2 Numerical support for A

With the help of the methods explained in the last section we can compute the exact values of the partition function Z(N) for a variety of the $(q, p)_k$ models recursively in N. We have computed the partition function Z(N) with $N = 1, 2, \dots, N_{\text{max}}$ for various (q, p), where the values of N_{max} are listed in table 1. In appendix C we display the explicit results for q = p = 2.

First, let us focus on the constant A in the Airy function expression of the perturbative partition function (6.1). As we can see in figure 8 the exact partition functions can be approximated with high accuracy by the Airy function, and hence we can read off the value of A numerically by fitting. On the other hand, it is known that the A in the ABJM theory is related to the constant map in the topological string and the explicit expression for finite k is available [46, 54] as

$$A_{\rm ABJM}(k) = \frac{2\zeta(3)}{\pi^2 k} \left(1 - \frac{k^3}{16}\right) + \frac{k^2}{\pi^2} \int_0^\infty dx \frac{x}{e^{kx} - 1} \log(1 - e^{-2x}), \tag{8.30}$$

with which we can extrapolate the conjectural expression of A (7.37) to finite k. Comparing the values of A obtained in these two ways we find considerable agreement of the results (see table 1).

8.3 Instanton exponents for finite k

Now let us go on to the instanton effects. Subtracting the perturbative part as

$$\delta Z(N) = \frac{Z(N)}{Z^{\text{pert}}(N)} - 1, \qquad (8.31)$$

where Z(N) are the exact values and $Z^{\text{pert}}(N)$ is the perturbative part given by (6.1)

$$Z^{\text{pert}}(N) = e^A C^{-\frac{1}{3}} \operatorname{Ai}[C^{-\frac{1}{3}}(N-B)]$$
(8.32)

$(q,p)_k$	N _{max}	A((7.37))	A(fitting)	fitting/ (7.37)	ω (fitting)	$\frac{2}{p}$	$\frac{4}{kqp}$
$(1,2)_1$	20	0.28567667616	0.28567667513	0.999999999990	1.82	1	2
$(1,2)_2$	13	-0.3103049	-0.3103040	0.999997	0.940	1	1
$(1,3)_2$	12	-0.650390	-0.650343	0.99993	0.616	0.667	0.667
$(2,2)_1$	15	-0.2435877	-0.2435843	0.999986	0.887	1	1
$(2,2)_2$	13	-1.508088	-1.508040	0.99997	0.4992	1	0.5
$(2,2)_3$	6	-3.011	-0.299947	0.996	0.3330	1	0.3333
$(2,2)_4$	7	-4.91	-4.89	0.994	0.2519	1	0.25
$(2,2)_6$	6	-10.06	-9.80	0.97	0.189	1	0.167

Table 1: The values A(fitting) are determined by comparing the perturbative partition function (8.32) with the exact value at $N = N_{\text{max}}$. The values of ω are determined by fitting the exact values of $\log |Z(N_{\text{max}} - 1)|$ and $\log |Z(N_{\text{max}})|$ with (8.35).

with the coefficients C (6.37), B (6.40) and A (7.37), we observe that the exact values of the deviation $\delta Z(N)$ behaves as

$$\delta Z(N) \sim e^{-\omega \sqrt{N/C}} \tag{8.33}$$

with some positive constant ω . See figure 9. This behavior indeed corresponds to the instanton effects

$$J^{\rm np}(\mu) \sim e^{-\omega\mu},\tag{8.34}$$

as argued in section 7.5. We can estimate the leading instanton exponents by fitting the exact values of $\delta Z(N)$ with the function

$$c_0 \exp\left[-\frac{2}{3}C^{-\frac{1}{2}}(N^{\frac{3}{2}} - (N+\omega)^{\frac{3}{2}})\right], \quad (c_0: \text{ constant})$$
(8.35)

as in table 1.

In some cases the exponent ω are found to be inversely proportional to k. These nonperturbative effects can be interpreted as the M2-branes winding on the cycle in $(\mathbb{C}^2/\mathbb{Z}_q \times \mathbb{C}^2/\mathbb{Z}_p)/\mathbb{Z}_k$ which is orbifolded by \mathbb{Z}_k . Indeed the values of ω are somehow consistent with the value 4/(qpk) estimated by the orbifold [13].¹⁴

8.4 Instanton coefficients by fitting

After recognizing the instanton exponents

$$e^{-\frac{2\mu}{q}}, e^{-\frac{2\mu}{p}}, e^{-\frac{4\mu}{qpk}},$$
 (8.36)

¹⁴The case of mismatches can be understood to be due to the polynomial instanton coefficients.



Figure 9: The deviation of the exact values from the Airy function for $(q, p)_k = (2, 2)_1$ model.

we can try to read off the instanton coefficients. First we shall write down the more concrete relation between the grand potential and the partition function. Denote the non-perturbative effects in the grand potential $J^{np}(\mu)$ as

$$J^{\rm np}(\mu) = f_1(\mu)e^{-\omega_1\mu} + f_2(\mu)e^{-\omega_2\mu} + \cdots .$$
(8.37)

Here $\{\omega_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ ($\omega_1 < \omega_2 < \omega < 3 \cdots$) is the discrete set of positive numbers generated by the three fundamental exponents (8.36).

$$\{\omega_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty} = \left\{ \frac{2\ell_1}{q} + \frac{2\ell_2}{p} + \frac{4\ell_3}{qpk} \middle| \ell_1, \ell_2, \ell_3 \ge 0, \ell_1 + \ell_2 + \ell_3 \ge 1 \right\}.$$
(8.38)

The integrand in the inversion relation $J(\mu) \to Z(N)$ (6.25) can be expanded as

$$Z(N) = \int_{-i\infty}^{i\infty} \frac{d\mu}{2\pi i} e^{J^{\text{pert}}(\mu) - \mu N} (1 + g_1(\mu) e^{-\omega_1 \mu} + g_2(\mu) e^{-\omega_2 \mu} + \cdots)$$
(8.39)

where $g_i(\mu)$ are again polynomials in μ generated by

$$e^{\sum_{i} f_{i}(\mu)e^{-\omega_{i}\mu}} = 1 + \sum_{i} g_{i}(\mu)e^{-\omega_{i}\mu}.$$
(8.40)

We can convert the μ dependence of each term in the expansion (8.39) through the term $e^{-\mu N}$ to obtain

$$Z(N) = Z^{\text{pert}}(N) + g_1(-\partial_N)Z^{\text{pert}}(N+\omega_1) + g_2(-\partial_N)Z^{\text{pert}}(N+\omega_2) + \cdots .$$
(8.41)

We compare the logarithm of this expansion expression with the exact values. Omitting the terms with higher ω_i which are highly suppressed, we have only a small number of unknown coefficients, which we can determine by fitting.

Let us demonstrate the process of fitting for $(q, p)_k$ model with q = p = 2 and k = 1, where the exact values are available for $1 \le N \le N_{\text{max}} = 15$. Since the three instanton exponents (8.36) coincide to $e^{-\mu}$, the non-perturbative part of the grand potential can be expanded as

$$J^{\rm np}(\mu) = f_1(\mu)e^{-\mu} + f_2e^{-2\mu} + \cdots .$$
(8.42)

The number of unknowns to be determined by fitting must be smaller than or equal to the number of data points. Assuming $f_i(\mu)$ are at most quadratic¹⁵

$$f_1(\mu) = \alpha_1 \mu^2 + \beta_1 \mu + \gamma_1, \tag{8.43}$$

we can take into account at most $[N_{\text{max}}/3] = 5$ distinct instantons in (8.37).

First let us take into account $f_i(\mu)$ with $i \leq 2$ which generate $g_1(\mu)$ and $g_2(\mu)$ as

$$g_1(\mu) = f_1, \quad g_2(\mu) = f_2 + \frac{f_1^2}{2}.$$
 (8.44)

Then we find by fitting the exact values of $\log |Z(N)|$ as¹⁶

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_1 &\to 0.4052855304342130 \cdots, \\ \beta_1 &\to 0.4052620261973124 \cdots, \\ \gamma_1 &\to 0.4054490736521232 \cdots, \\ \alpha_2 &\to -2.6981751787051466 \cdots, \\ \beta_2 &\to 0.8972468610591679 \cdots, \\ \gamma_2 &\to -2.1703751084209262 \cdots. \end{aligned}$$
(8.45)

This value of α_1 is found to be $4/\pi^2$ with high precision:

$$\alpha_1 / \left(\frac{4}{\pi^2}\right) = 1.00000196 \cdots .$$
(8.46)

As the effects of higher instantons are suppressed for large N, the error of fitting would be expected to be minimized if we omit the data with small N. Indeed, if we use only the data with N = 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15 we obtain the coincidence (8.46) with improved precision

$$\alpha_1 / \left(\frac{4}{\pi^2}\right) = 0.9999999976 \cdots$$
 (8.47)

Hence we shall conclude α_1 is exactly $4/\pi^2$.

Fitting the remaining five unknowns with more restrictive data N = 11, 12, 13, 14, 15 we obtain

$$\begin{array}{l} \beta_1 \to 0.4052847346628331 \cdots, \\ \gamma_1 \to 0.4052847326530695 \cdots, \\ \alpha_2 \to -2.6309461188679967 \cdots, \\ \beta_2 \to -0.2173534321981312 \cdots, \\ \gamma_2 \to 2.5502103476881299 \cdots, \end{array}$$

¹⁵We may tentatively include the cubic term. These coefficients are, however, fitted to be extremely small numbers, say $\mathcal{O}(10^{-6})$.

 $^{^{16}}$ We have used the "FindFit" command in Mathematica with the option "MaxExtraPrecision $\rightarrow 300$ ".

where the value of β_1 coincide with $4/\pi^2$ with higher precision

$$\beta_1 / \left(\frac{4}{\pi^2}\right) = 1.0000000023\cdots$$
 (8.48)

After determining the coefficients of the lower order instantons we can include the higher order terms $f_i(\mu)e^{-\omega_i\mu}$ in (8.37) and continue the fitting process. The exact values are summarized in table 2 in the next section.

8.5 Discussion and Comments

In this section we have introduced the systematic computation of the exact values of the partition function. The exact values strongly support our conjecture for A (7.37). Once we accept the conjecture, then the exact values provide the information on the instanton effects for finite k. By the method of fitting we can determine the instanton coefficients in the grand potential order by order in the instanton expansion (8.37).

The determination of the instanton coefficients might seems to be ambiguous. However, if we substitute a wrong value to the coefficient at some step, the fitting in the next order requires the fine-tuning of huge values of the fitting parameter, which indicates the fitting is failed. The fitting would be successful only the lower coefficients hit the correct values, hence the determination is nevertheless plausible.

On the other hand there are also many disadvantages in our method. The determination of the exact coefficient become more difficult for higher order coefficients. Actually, in the case of $(q, p)_k = (2, 2)_2$ the rational coefficients in table 2 are getting more complicated as we go to the higher order instantons. The determination becomes also difficult as q, p and k become larger, since the instantons are less suppressed in such cases. Especially for large values of q or p, each instanton coefficient is generically a complicated ratio of the Gamma functions even at the level of small k expansion, as obtained in section 7.4. In these cases it would be extremely difficult to guess the exact coefficients from the results of fitting.

In the next section we focus on the cases of (q, p) = (2, 2) and try to determine the exact k-dependence of the instanton coefficients. Fortunately these models avoid the problems listed above. In these cases the unit of the instanton exponents are not so small and the instanton coefficients in small k expansion are simple rational numbers modulo π (see (7.64), and (9.3) and (9.10) in the next section). We successfully determine the first few coefficients for k = 1, 2, 3, 4, 6. Moreover we observe a new structure of k-dependence in these leading coefficients. Once we have the idea of exact expression of the whole instanton expansion, we do not need to guess the coefficients from the numerical values obtained by fitting but rather can use them to check our conjecture.

9 Completely Exact results for (2, 2) model and topological string

In the preceding sections we have investigated the qualitative aspects of the instanton effects in various ways. In this section we try to determine the instanton effects for finite k quantitatively. Although we can analyze the grand potential for $k = 1, 2, \cdots$ or around k = 0, there are no general technique to study the grand potential directly for general finite k. Hence our method will be the interpolation from $k = 1, 2, \cdots$ and the extrapolation from the small k expansion.

It is reasonable to restrict ourselves to the *simplest* theories among the general $(q, p)_k$ models. From the observation in the small k expansion, the instanton effects seem to simplify at q = p = 1or q = p = 2. In these cases the three kinds of the membrane instanton completely degenerate together. Therefore there is only one series of the membrane instanton whose coefficients are uniformly quadratic in μ .¹⁷ Indeed the complete determination of the instanton coefficients was successful for q = p = 1 (ABJM theory) in [56] based on [57, 58, 59, 60] and for q = p = 2 in [10].

In this section we especially focus on the case q = p = 2. From the arguments in the last two sections, the membrane instanton exponent in the $(2, 2)_k$ model is $e^{-\mu}$ and that of the worldsheet instanton is $e^{-\mu/k}$. Hence the whole non-perturbative part of the grand potential will be expanded as follows

$$J^{\rm np}(\mu) = \sum_{\ell,m \ge 0((\ell,m) \ne (0,0))} f_{\ell,m}(\mu) e^{-(\ell + \frac{m}{k})\mu}$$
(9.1)

with $f_{\ell,m}(\mu)$ some polynomials in μ . Note that the non-perturbative effects consist not only of the pure membrane instantons (m = 0) and the pure worldsheet instanton $(\ell = 0)$, but also of the possible bound states of them $(\ell, m \neq 0)$. Below we will denote the coefficients of the pure membrane/worldsheet instantons as

$$f_{\ell,0}(\mu) = a_{\ell}\mu^2 + b_{\ell}\mu + c_{\ell}, \quad f_{0,m}(\mu) = d_m(\mu).$$
(9.2)

Once we postulate this expression of the instanton expansion we can determine the explicit values of the instanton coefficients at k = 1, 2, 3, 4, 6 for small ℓ, m by fitting the exact values of the partition functions Z(N) (C.1) as table 2. In the following sections we use these discrete data together with the data of the small k expansion to determine the instanton coefficients as the functions of k

9.1 Membrane instanton by extrapolation

First let us consider pure membrane instantons. Since the worldsheet instantons and the bound states are the non-perturbative effects in k we can neglect both of them in the small k expansion

¹⁷One might think that the $q = p \ge 3$ are also simple at the same extent since the ghost instantons $e^{-\mu}$ never produce independent exponents. In these cases, however, the degrees of the instanton coefficients are not uniform: they can be linear or quadratic depending on whether the ghost instanton contribute or not. Actually the differential relation (9.12) in the membrane instanton coefficients do not hold in these cases and we can not determine the instanton coefficients with simple ansatz.

$$\begin{split} J^{\rm np}_{k=1} &= \frac{4\mu^2 + 4\mu + 4}{\pi^2} e^{-\mu} + \left[-\frac{26\mu^2 + \mu + 9/2}{\pi^2} + 2 \right] e^{-2\mu} \\ &+ \left[\frac{736\mu^2 - 608\mu/3 + 616/9}{3\pi^2} - 32 \right] e^{-3\mu} \\ &+ \left[-\frac{2701\mu^2 - 13949\mu/12 + 11291/48}{\pi^2} + 466 \right] e^{-4\mu} \\ &+ \left[\frac{161824\mu^2 - 1268488\mu/15 + 1141012/75}{5\pi^2} - 6720 \right] e^{-5\mu} \\ &+ \left[-\frac{1227440\mu^2 - 10746088\mu/15 + 631257/5}{3\pi^2} + \frac{292064}{3} \right] e^{-6\mu} \\ &+ \left[\frac{37567744\mu^2 - 2473510336\mu/105 + 9211252832/2205}{7\pi^2} - 1420800 \right] e^{-7\mu} \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(e^{-8\mu}), \end{split} \\ J^{\rm np}_{k=2} &= 4e^{-\frac{1}{2}\mu} + \left[\frac{2\mu^2 + 2\mu + 2}{\pi^2} - 6 \right] e^{-\mu} + \frac{16}{3}e^{-\frac{3}{2}\mu} + \left[-\frac{13\mu^2 + \mu/2 + 9/4}{\pi^2} - 14 \right] e^{-2\mu} \\ &+ \frac{544}{5}e^{-\frac{5}{2}\mu} + \left[\frac{368\mu^2 - 304\mu/3 + 308/9}{3\pi^2} - 288 \right] e^{-3\mu} - \frac{640}{7}e^{-\frac{7}{2}\mu} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-4\mu}), \end{aligned} \\ J^{\rm np}_{k=3} &= \frac{16}{3}e^{-\frac{1}{3}\mu} - 4e^{-\frac{2}{3}\mu} + \left[\frac{4\mu^2 + 4\mu + 4}{3\pi^2} + \frac{128}{9} \right] e^{-\mu} - \frac{613}{9}e^{-\frac{4}{3}\mu} + \frac{3536}{15}e^{-\frac{5}{3}\mu} \\ &+ \left[-\frac{26\mu^2 + \mu + 9/2}{3\pi^2} - \frac{7318}{9} \right] e^{2\mu} + \frac{544352}{189}e^{-\frac{\pi}{3}\mu} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{8}{3}\mu}), \end{aligned} \\ J^{\rm np}_{k=4} &= 8e^{-\frac{1}{4}\mu} - 8e^{-\frac{1}{2}\mu} + \frac{80}{3}e^{-\frac{3}{4}\mu} + \left[\frac{\mu^2 + \mu + 1}{\pi^2} - 96 \right] e^{-\mu} + \frac{1888}{5}e^{-\frac{5}{4}\mu} - \frac{4736}{3}e^{-\frac{3}{2}\mu} \\ &+ \frac{44416}{7}e^{-\frac{\pi}{4}\mu} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-2\mu}), \end{aligned}$$

Table 2: Instanton effects in the $(2,2)_k$ model found by fitting the exact values of the partition function (C.1)

of the grand potential. Hence the instanton coefficients obtained in section 7 directly correspond to the small k expansion of the membrane instanton coefficients $f_{\ell,0}(\mu)$.

From the results in section 7 we find the explicit small k expansion of the quadratic part a_ℓ

$$a_{1} = \frac{2}{\pi^{2}k} + \mathcal{O}(k^{9}),$$

$$a_{2} = -\frac{9}{\pi^{2}k} + 2k - \frac{2\pi^{2}k^{3}}{3} + \frac{4\pi^{4}k^{5}}{45} - \frac{2\pi^{6}k^{7}}{315} + \mathcal{O}(k^{9}),$$

As we have seen in section 7.7 the linear part and the constant part of the instanton coefficients are slightly simplified by the introduction of the effective chemical potential. First let us introduce the following notations

$$J_a = \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} a_{\ell} e^{-\ell\mu}, \quad J_b = \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} b_{\ell} e^{-\ell\mu}, \quad J_c = \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} c_{\ell} e^{-\ell\mu}, \tag{9.4}$$

to rewrite the semiclassical grand potential as

$$J(\mu) = \frac{C}{3}\mu^3 + B\mu + A + J_a\mu^2 + J_b\mu + J_c.$$
(9.5)

Then if we introduce the effective chemical potential as

$$\mu_{\text{eff}} = \mu + \frac{1}{C} \sum_{\ell \ge 1} a_{\ell} e^{-\ell \mu}, \qquad (9.6)$$

then the quadratic part J_a of the membrane instantons is absorved into the perturbative part

$$J(\mu) = \frac{C}{3}\mu_{\text{eff}}^3 + B\mu_{\text{eff}} + A + \widetilde{J}_b\mu_{\text{eff}} + \widetilde{J}_c$$
(9.7)

where \widetilde{J}_b and \widetilde{J}_c are slightly modified from the original components J_b and J_c as

$$\widetilde{J}_b = J_b - \frac{J_a^2}{C}, \quad \widetilde{J}_c = J_c - \frac{BJ_a}{C} - \frac{J_a J_b}{C} + \frac{2J_a^3}{C^2}.$$
(9.8)

Introducing the instanton coefficients \widetilde{b}_{ℓ} and \widetilde{c}_{ℓ} for \widetilde{J}_b and \widetilde{J}_c

$$\widetilde{J}_b = \sum_{\ell \ge 1} \widetilde{b}_\ell e^{-\ell\mu_{\text{eff}}}, \quad \widetilde{J}_c = \sum_{\ell \ge 1} \widetilde{c}_\ell e^{-\ell\mu_{\text{eff}}}, \tag{9.9}$$

we finally obtain the explicit small k expansion of these coefficients as

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{b}_1 &= -\frac{4}{\pi^2 k} + \frac{4k}{3} + \frac{4\pi^2 k^3}{45} + \frac{8\pi^4 k^5}{945} + \frac{4\pi^6 k^7}{4725} + \mathcal{O}(k^9), \\ \widetilde{b}_2 &= \frac{9}{\pi^2 k} - 6k + \frac{14\pi^2 k^3}{5} - \frac{44\pi^4 k^5}{105} + \frac{18\pi^6 k^7}{175} + \mathcal{O}(k^9), \\ \widetilde{b}_3 &= -\frac{328}{9\pi^2 k} + \frac{184k}{3} - \frac{152\pi^2 k^3}{5} + \frac{752\pi^4 k^5}{105} + \frac{8\pi^6 k^7}{525} + \mathcal{O}(k^9), \end{split}$$

and

Interestingly, we observe that the \widetilde{c}_ℓ are always written as the derivative of \widetilde{b}_ℓ as

$$\widetilde{c}_{\ell} = -\frac{k^2}{\ell} \frac{d}{dk} \left(\frac{\widetilde{b}_{\ell}}{k} \right).$$
(9.12)

This relation hold at least up to $\mathcal{O}(k^9)$ while can be shown for arbitrary ℓ from the exact grand potential at each order in small k expansion. If we believe that this relation exact for finite k, the unknown membrane instanton coefficients are only a_{ℓ} and \tilde{b}_{ℓ} .

Let us try to determine the instanton coefficients $a_{\ell}(k)$ and $\tilde{b}_{\ell}(k)$ for finite k by the extrapolation. First note that our explicit result of the small k expansion indicates that πa_{ℓ} and $\pi \tilde{b}_{\ell}$ always have rational coefficients in terms of $\hbar = 2\pi k$, as argued in section 7.7. To decide the ansatz for \tilde{b}_{ℓ} we further consult the pole cancellation mechanism among the instanton effects. In section 7.6 we have discovered that the coefficients of the membrane instantons are singular as the function of (q, p) at the points where the instanton exponent degenerate with each other. It would be reasonable to expect that the similar structure also exist between the membrane instanton and the worldsheet instantons. That is, the membrane instanton coefficients should be singular at k where the membrane instanton exponent $e^{-\ell\mu}$ degenerates with that of some worldsheet instanton $e^{-\frac{m\mu}{k}}$. Since the worldsheet instanton coefficient should be singular at $k \in \mathbb{N}/\ell$. Reflecting this infinite series of poles, we shall postulate the following "trigonometric" ansatz for \tilde{b}_{ℓ}

$$\widetilde{b}_{\ell}(k) = \frac{1}{\pi \sin \ell \pi k} \sum_{a \ge 0} \alpha_a \cos a \pi k, \qquad (9.13)$$

with α_a some constants.

Next consider the quadratic part $a_{\ell}(k)$. In section 7.6 we have also observed that the degree of the instanton coefficient increases at the pole cancellation. Hence the instanton coefficient would

be a cubic polynomial in μ , if a_{ℓ} would also diverges at $k \in \mathbb{N}/\ell$. Since we find at most quadratic coefficients in the exact coefficients at $k \in \mathbb{N}$ obtained by fitting table 2, we shall suppose $a_{\ell}(k)$ to be finite at $k \in \mathbb{N}/\ell$ and pose the following ansatz

$$a_{\ell}(k) = \frac{1}{\pi^2 k} \sum_{a \ge 0} \alpha_a \cos a\pi k \tag{9.14}$$

again with some constants (independent of those in \widetilde{b}_ℓ (9.13)).

Now we can find the following expression for $a_{\ell}(k)$ from the results of the small k expansion (9.3) as

$$a_{1} = \frac{2}{\pi^{2}k},$$

$$a_{2} = -\frac{8 + \cos 2\pi k}{\pi^{2}k},$$

$$a_{3} = \frac{152 + 48\cos 2\pi k}{3\pi^{2}k},$$

$$a_{4} = -\frac{788 + 416\cos 2\pi k + 21\cos 4\pi k}{2\pi^{2}k},$$

$$a_{5} = \frac{17352 + 12800\cos 2\pi k + 1520\cos 4\pi k + 80\cos 6\pi k}{5\pi^{2}k},$$

$$a_{6} \stackrel{?}{=} -\frac{100538 + 92604\cos 2\pi k + 18264\cos 4\pi k + 1864\cos 6\pi k + 174\cos 8\pi k}{3\pi^{2}k},$$
(9.15)

(annotation "?" for a_6 will be commented shortly) while for \widetilde{b}_{ℓ} we can determine

$$\widetilde{b}_{1} = \frac{-4\cos\pi k}{\pi\sin\pi k},
\widetilde{b}_{2} = \frac{9+8\cos2\pi k+\cos4\pi k}{\pi\sin2\pi k},
\widetilde{b}_{3} = \frac{-4(45\cos\pi k+28\cos3\pi k+9\cos5\pi k)}{3\pi\sin3\pi k}.$$
(9.16)

Remarkably, we find that these expression \tilde{b}_{ℓ} enjoy the following multi-covering structures

$$\widetilde{b}_1 = \beta_1(k), \quad \widetilde{b}_2 = \frac{1}{2}\beta_1(2k) + \beta_2(k), \quad \widetilde{b}_3 = \frac{1}{3}\beta_1(3k) + \beta_3(k).$$
(9.17)

Here β_ℓ are trigonometric and even simpler functions rather than the original coefficients \widetilde{b}_ℓ

$$\beta_1(k) = -\frac{4}{\pi \sin \pi k}, \quad \beta_2(k) = -\frac{9\cos \pi k + \cos 3\pi k}{\pi \sin \pi k}, \quad \beta_3(k) = -\frac{24\cos \pi k + 12\cos 3\pi k}{\pi \sin \pi k}.$$
 (9.18)

If we further postulate similar structure for $\widetilde{b}_4,\,\widetilde{b}_5$ and \widetilde{b}_6

$$\widetilde{b}_{4} = \frac{1}{4}\beta_{1}(4k) + \frac{1}{2}\beta_{2}(2k) + \beta_{4}(k), \quad \widetilde{b}_{5} = \frac{1}{5}\beta_{1}(5k) + \beta_{5}(k),$$

$$\widetilde{b}_{6} = \frac{1}{6}\beta_{1}(6k) + \frac{1}{3}\beta_{2}(3k) + \frac{1}{2}\beta_{3}(2k) + \beta_{6}(k), \quad (9.19)$$

and the following ansatz for β_{ℓ}

$$\beta_{\ell} = \frac{1}{\pi \sin \pi k} \sum_{a \ge 1} \alpha_a \cos(2a - 1)\pi k,$$
(9.20)

we can also determine β_4 and β_5 as

$$\beta_4(k) = \frac{96\cos\pi k + 78\cos3\pi k + 18\cos5\pi k}{\pi\sin\pi k},$$

$$\beta_5(k) = -\frac{480\cos\pi k + 440\cos3\pi k + 240\cos5\pi k + 40\cos7\pi k}{\pi\sin\pi k},$$

$$\beta_6(k) \stackrel{?}{=} \frac{2841\cos\pi k + 2307\cos3\pi k + 2166\cos5\pi k + 672\cos7\pi k + 168\cos9\pi k}{\pi\sin\pi k}.$$
 (9.21)

In the above results the extrapolation of each instanton coefficients is achieved with a few number of the profile functions as (9.13), (9.14) and (9.20). The number of the profile coefficients α_a required for each $a_\ell(k)$ and $\beta_\ell(k)$ (except $a_6(k)$ and $\beta_6(k)$) are always smaller than 5, the number of the data. We also observe that the coefficients are quite simple: $\alpha_a \in (-1)^{\ell-1}\mathbb{Z}_+/\ell$ in a_ℓ and $\alpha_a \in (-1)^\ell \mathbb{Z}_+$ for β_ℓ . These observations would be nevertheless nontrivial evidences to support our conjecture (9.15), (9.18) and (9.21). Especially, the uniform signs would imply that we have not relied on the "fine tuning" to make up the data of the small k expansion.

Unfortunately, however, we can not continue our determination for higher instanton coefficients. The number of profile functions required for extrapolation increases as ℓ becomes larger. Indeed we have found that a_6 and β_6 requires five nonzero coefficients α_a . Since the small k expansion only provides five linear equations for each set of α_a these determination are less plausible in such cases. For higher instantons our strategy completely collapse as the data never fix the profile coefficients uniquely.

Also notice that the determination of the instanton coefficients above are completely heuristic. Of course our ansatz (9.13) and (9.14) are not the unique choice for the requirements of the pole cancellations at all. Indeed there is another reason for our choice: we expect that the whole structure of the instanton is an natural, not so complicated, generalization of that in the ABJM case priorly determined in [56]. Even after accepting the restrictive ansatz (9.13) and (9.14) one may still doubt whether it is reasonable to determine the entire functions in k just from the first five coefficients in the small k expansions. As we press on, however, we will encounter an increasing number of non-trivial checks in our analysis.

9.2 Effective chemical potential for finite k

If we replace $\mu \to \mu_{\text{eff}}$ in the worldsheet instanton effect $e^{-\mu/k}$, it produces the contribution in the form of the bound states

$$e^{-\frac{m\mu_{\text{eff}}}{k}} = e^{-\frac{m\mu}{k}} + \sum_{\ell \ge 1} \left[\frac{m}{C} a_{\ell} + \frac{m^2}{2C^2} \sum_{\ell', \ell'' \ge 1(\ell' + \ell'' = \ell)} a_{\ell} a_{\ell'} + \cdots \right] e^{-(\ell + \frac{m}{k})\mu}.$$
 (9.22)

Hence the effective chemical potential possibly explains the bound states in the instanton effects of the grand potential (9.1). In the ABJM theory all the effective chemical potential indeed incorporates all the bound states in the grand potential [60, 56]. It motivate us to use the effective chemical potential μ_{eff} as the fundamental variable of the grand potential for finite k, not only in the small k expansion.

If we consider only the instantons effects $e^{-\omega\mu}$ with exponent $\omega \leq 5 + \frac{1}{k}$, our determination of a_{ℓ} for $\ell \leq 5$ (9.15) are enough to rewrite the data of the exact instanton expansion in table 2 in terms of μ_{eff} . For $k \in \mathbb{N}$, however, we can completely determine μ_{eff} including all order nonperturbative effects by a similar trick as in the ABJM case [60]. In (9.15) we have found that not only the trigonometric ansatz (9.14) works but also that the arguments of the cosine functions in the numerator are always in $2\pi k\mathbb{Z}_+$. If these structures hold in the higher membrane instantons as well, it follows from the periodicity of the cosine function that

$$a_{\ell} = \frac{(ka_{\ell})\big|_{k=0}}{k} \quad (k \in \mathbb{N}).$$

$$(9.23)$$

We know the r.h.s. exactly from the classical limit of the grand potential (7.64). After the substitution of q = p = 2 we obtain

$$\sum_{\ell \ge 1} (ka_\ell)|_{k=0} e^{-\ell\mu} = J_{0,a}^{\rm np} = \frac{2e^{-\mu}}{\pi^2} {}_4F_3\Big(1, 1, \frac{3}{2}, \frac{3}{2}; 2, 2, 2; -16e^{-\mu}\Big).$$
(9.24)

Hence we obtain the exact expression of the effective chemical potential for integral k

$$\mu_{\text{eff}} = \mu + 4e^{-\mu}{}_4F_3\left(1, 1, \frac{3}{2}, \frac{3}{2}; 2, 2, 2; -16e^{-\mu}\right).$$
(9.25)

If we express the instanton expansion in table 2 with μ_{eff} , redefining the non-perturbative part of the grand potential as

$$J^{\rm np}(\mu_{\rm eff}) = J - \frac{C}{3}\mu_{\rm eff}^3 - B\mu_{\rm eff} - A, \qquad (9.26)$$

the instanton coefficients of $1/\pi^2$ become somewhat simpler

$$J_{k}^{\mathrm{np}} = \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \frac{f_{k,\ell}}{\pi^{2}} \left(\frac{\ell^{2}}{2} \mu_{\mathrm{eff}}^{2} + \ell \mu_{\mathrm{eff}} + 1 \right) e^{-\ell \mu_{\mathrm{eff}}} + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} g_{k,m} e^{-m\frac{\mu_{\mathrm{eff}}}{k}}, \tag{9.27}$$

with $f_{k,\ell}$ and $g_{k,m}$ being rational numbers (see table 3).

9.3 Worldsheet instanton

Now let us try to determine the k dependence of the worldsheet instanton coefficients d_{ℓ} in

$$J^{\rm np}(\mu_{\rm eff}) = \sum_{\ell \ge 1} (\widetilde{b}_{\ell} \mu_{\rm eff} + \widetilde{c}_{\ell}) e^{-\ell \mu_{\rm eff}} + \sum_{m \ge 1} \widetilde{d}_m e^{-\frac{\ell \mu_{\rm eff}}{k}} + \cdots .$$
(9.28)

$$\begin{split} J^{\rm np}_{k=1} &= \frac{2(\mu_{\rm eff}^2 + 2\mu_{\rm eff} + 2)}{\pi^2} e^{-\mu_{\rm eff}} + \left[-\frac{9(2\mu_{\rm eff}^2 + 2\mu_{\rm eff} + 1)}{2\pi^2} + 2 \right] e^{-2\mu_{\rm eff}} \\ &+ \left[\frac{164(9\mu_{\rm eff}^2 + 6\mu_{\rm eff} + 2)}{27\pi^2} - 16 \right] e^{-3\mu_{\rm eff}} \\ &+ \left[-\frac{777(8\mu_{\rm eff}^2 + 4\mu_{\rm eff} + 1)}{16\pi^2} + 138 \right] e^{-4\mu_{\rm eff}} \\ &+ \left[\frac{15002(25\mu_{\rm eff}^2 + 10\mu_{\rm eff} + 2)}{125\pi^2} - 1216 \right] e^{-5\mu_{\rm eff}} \\ &+ \left[-\frac{4073(18\mu_{\rm eff}^2 + 6\mu_{\rm eff} + 1)}{3\pi^2} + \frac{32852}{3} \right] e^{-6\mu_{\rm eff}} \\ &+ \left[-\frac{4073(18\mu_{\rm eff}^2 + 6\mu_{\rm eff} + 2)}{343\pi^2} - 100272 \right] e^{-7\mu_{\rm eff}} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-8\mu_{\rm eff}}), \\ J^{\rm np}_{k=2} &= 4e^{-\frac{1}{2}\mu_{\rm eff}} + \left[\frac{\mu_{\rm eff}^2 + 2\mu_{\rm eff} + 2}{\pi^2} - 7 \right] e^{-\mu_{\rm eff}} + \frac{40}{3}e^{-\frac{3}{2}\mu_{\rm eff}} \\ &+ \left[-\frac{9(2\mu_{\rm eff}^2 + 2\mu_{\rm eff} + 1)}{4\pi^2} - \frac{75}{2} \right] e^{-2\mu_{\rm eff}} + \frac{724}{5}e^{-\frac{5}{2}\mu_{\rm eff}} \\ &+ \left[\frac{82(9\mu_{\rm eff}^2 + 2\mu_{\rm eff} + 2)}{27\pi^2} - 1318 \right] e^{-3\mu_{\rm eff}} + \frac{7704}{7}e^{-\frac{7}{2}\mu_{\rm eff}} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-4\mu_{\rm eff}}), \\ J^{\rm np}_{k=3} &= \frac{16}{3}e^{-\frac{1}{3}\mu_{\rm eff}} - 4e^{-\frac{2}{3}\mu_{\rm eff}} + \left[\frac{2(\mu_{\rm eff}^2 + 2\mu_{\rm eff} + 2)}{3\pi^2} - \frac{1318}{3} \right] e^{-3\mu_{\rm eff}} + \frac{712}{9} \right] e^{-\mu_{\rm eff}} - 61e^{-\frac{4}{3}\mu_{\rm eff}} \\ &+ \frac{3376}{15}e^{-\frac{5}{3}\mu_{\rm eff}} + \left[-\frac{3(2\mu_{\rm eff}^2 + 2\mu_{\rm eff} + 1)}{2\pi^2} - \frac{2266}{3} \right] e^{-2\mu_{\rm eff}} + \frac{52880}{21}e^{-\frac{7}{3}\mu_{\rm eff}} \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{8}{3}\mu_{\rm eff}}), \\ J^{\rm np}_{k=4} &= 8e^{-\frac{1}{4}\mu_{\rm eff}} - 8e^{-\frac{1}{2}\mu_{\rm eff}} + \frac{80}{3}e^{-\frac{3}{4}\mu_{\rm eff}} + \left[\frac{\mu_{\rm eff}^2 + 2\mu_{\rm eff} + 2}{2\pi^2} - \frac{197}{2} \right] e^{-\mu_{\rm eff}} + \frac{1928}{5}e^{-\frac{5}{4}\mu_{\rm eff}} \\ &- \frac{4784}{3}e^{-\frac{3}{3}\mu_{\rm eff}} + \frac{148}{7}e^{-\frac{3}{2}\mu_{\rm eff}} - 189e^{-\frac{3}{2}\mu_{\rm eff}} + \frac{4336}{5}e^{-\frac{5}{4}\mu_{\rm eff}} \\ &+ \left[\frac{\mu_{\rm eff}^2 + 2\mu_{\rm eff} + 2}{3\pi^2} - \frac{38137}{9} \right] e^{-\mu_{\rm eff}} + \frac{148752}{7}e^{-\frac{5}{6}\mu_{\rm eff}} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{4}{3}\mu_{\rm eff}}). \end{split} \right.$$

Table 3: Instanton expansion in the $(2,2)_k$ model in table 2 rewritten in terms of the effective chemical potential μ_{eff} .

from the interpolation of the data in table 3. Here we denote the possibly remaining bound states as "…". We can use the coefficients of $e^{-\mu_{\text{eff}}/k}$ in $J_k^{\text{np}}(\mu_{\text{eff}})$ for k = 2, 3, 4, 6 to determine \tilde{d}_1 , those of $e^{-\frac{2}{k}\mu_{\text{eff}}}$ in $J_k^{\text{np}}(\mu_{\text{eff}})$ for k = 3, 4, 6 to determine \tilde{d}_2 , and so on. First of all, from these data we conclude that \tilde{d}_ℓ are μ_{eff} -independent constants.

Again counting on the pole cancellation mechanism, we expect that the worldsheet instanton
coefficients \widetilde{d}_{ℓ} are singular at $k = \ell/\mathbb{N}$ and postulate the following ansatz

$$\widetilde{d}_m(k) = \frac{1}{\sin^2 \frac{\pi}{k}} \sum_{a \ge 0} \alpha_a \cos \frac{a\pi}{k}.$$
(9.29)

where we assume double pole since to compensate the double pole of \tilde{c}_{ℓ} (9.12).

In the determination of $\tilde{d}_1(k)$ we can use the four coefficients of $e^{-\mu_{\text{eff}}/k}$ in $J_k^{\text{np}}(\mu_{\text{eff}})$ for k = 2, 3, 4, 6. We can use the term $e^{-\mu_{\text{eff}}}$ in $J_{k=1}^{\text{np}}(\mu_{\text{eff}})$ as well, which consist of the membrane instanton $e^{-\mu_{\text{eff}}}$ and the worldsheet instanton $e^{-\mu_{\text{eff}}/k}|_{k=1}$. Now that the membrane instanton coefficient is determined, this data also provide new constraint on $\tilde{d}_1(k)$. The pole cancellation occurs on this coefficient. The membrane instanton effect is expanded at $k \to 1$ as

$$(\tilde{b}_1\mu_{\rm eff} + \tilde{c}_1)e^{-\mu_{\rm eff}} = \left[-\frac{4}{\pi^2(k-1)^2} - \frac{8+4\mu_{\rm eff}}{\pi^2(k-1)} - \frac{4}{3} + \mathcal{O}(k-1)\right]e^{-\mu_{\rm eff}},\tag{9.30}$$

while the worldsheet instanton (be careful of the k dependent exponent)

$$d_1 e^{-\frac{\mu_{\text{eff}}}{k}} = \left[\sum_{a \ge 0} \alpha_a (-1)^a \left(\frac{1}{\pi^2 (k-1)^2} + \frac{2 + \mu_{\text{eff}}}{\pi^2 (k-1)} + \frac{3\mu_{\text{eff}}^2 + 6\mu_{\text{eff}} + 6 + 2\pi^2}{6\pi^2}\right) - \frac{\pi^2}{2} \sum_{a \ge 0} a^2 \alpha_a (-1)^a + \mathcal{O}(k-1)\right] e^{-\mu_{\text{eff}}},$$
(9.31)

From the requirements that the singular part completely cancels and that the finite part reproduces the coefficient in table 3, we obtain the following two constraints for α_a

$$\sum_{a\geq 0} \alpha_a (-1)^a = 4, \quad \sum_{a\geq 0} a^2 \alpha_a (-1)^a = 0.$$
(9.32)

Hence six equations are available in total, with which we can determine

$$\widetilde{d}_1 = \frac{4}{\sin^2 \frac{\pi}{k}}.\tag{9.33}$$

By the same steps, we can also determine

$$\widetilde{d}_2 = \frac{2}{\sin^2 \frac{2\pi}{k}} \left(-9 - 10\cos\frac{2\pi}{k} \right), \quad \widetilde{d}_3 = \frac{1}{3\sin^2 \frac{3\pi}{k}} \left(112 + 144\cos\frac{2\pi}{k} + 72\cos\frac{4\pi}{k} \right). \tag{9.34}$$

We find two interesting properties (analogous to the ABJM case):

• Our result \tilde{d}_2 together with \tilde{b}_2 (9.16) and \tilde{c}_2 (9.12) also reproduces the non-perturbative effects of $e^{-2\mu_{\text{eff}}}$ in $J_{k=1}^{\text{np}}(\mu_{\text{eff}})$ in table 3, where originally the "bound state" $e^{-(\ell+m/k)\mu_{\text{eff}}}$ with $(\ell, m) = (1, 1)$ could also contribute. Similarly \tilde{d}_3 in (9.34) also reproduces the term $e^{-3\mu_{\text{eff}}}$ in $J_{k=1}^{\text{np}}(\mu_{\text{eff}})$ and $e^{-3\mu_{\text{eff}}/k}$ in $J_{k=2}^{\text{np}}(\mu_{\text{eff}})$, both of which could contain the bound state of $(\ell, m) = (1, 1)$. This implies that the bound state are completely explained by the nonperturbative shift of the chemical potential $\mu \to \mu_{\text{eff}}$ (9.6). • The worldsheet instanton coefficients have the same multicovering structure as that observed in the membrane instanton coefficients (9.17)

$$\widetilde{d}_1 = \delta_1(k), \quad \widetilde{d}_2 = \frac{1}{2}\delta_1\left(\frac{k}{2}\right) + \delta_2(k), \quad \widetilde{d}_3 = \frac{1}{3}\delta_1\left(\frac{k}{3}\right) + \delta_3(k),$$
(9.35)

with

$$\delta_1(k) = \frac{4}{\sin^2 \frac{\pi}{k}}, \quad \delta_2(k) = -\frac{5}{\sin^2 \frac{\pi}{k}}, \quad \delta_3(k) = \frac{12}{\sin^2 \frac{\pi}{k}}.$$
(9.36)

The new coefficients are again extremely simple. Moreover, the decomposition in the multicovering structure is consistent with the pole cancellation: all the divergences cancel only among the δ_m , β_ℓ and corresponding contribution in \tilde{c}_ℓ with the same multicovering level nin (9.17) and (9.35).

The assumption that there are no explicit bound states in $J^{\rm np}(\mu_{\rm eff})$ increase the number of constraint available for the determination of \tilde{d}_{ℓ} , as it allows us to use the higher order terms in table 3. On the other hand the assumption of the multicovering structure reduces the arbitrariness of \tilde{d}_{ℓ} . As a result we can determine the higher worldsheet instanton coefficients. Assuming the multicovering structure

$$\tilde{d}_4 = \frac{1}{4}\delta_1\left(\frac{k}{4}\right) + \frac{1}{2}\delta_2\left(\frac{k}{2}\right) + \delta_4(k), \quad \tilde{d}_5 = \frac{1}{5}\delta_1\left(\frac{k}{5}\right) + \delta_5(k).$$
(9.37)

with ansatz

$$\delta_m(k) = \frac{1}{\sin^2 \frac{\pi}{k}} \sum_{a \ge 0} \alpha_a \left(\sin \frac{\pi}{k} \right)^{2a},\tag{9.38}$$

we obtain

$$\delta_4(k) = -\frac{48}{\sin^2 \frac{\pi}{k}} + 5, \quad \delta_5(k) = \frac{240}{\sin^2 \frac{\pi}{k}} - 96.$$
(9.39)

In the determination of d_6 and d_7 we need \tilde{b}_6 and \tilde{b}_7 to make use of the data at k = 1 in table 3 which we could not determine from the WKB expansion. Once we accept the trigonometric ansatz and the multicovering structure for them, however, the explicit expression of them is not required for our purpose. Let us assume \tilde{b}_6 to be written as

$$\widetilde{b}_6 = \frac{1}{6}\beta_1(6k) + \frac{1}{3}\beta_2(3k) + \frac{1}{2}\beta_3(2k) + \beta_6(k), \qquad (9.40)$$

with

$$\beta_6(k) = \frac{\sum_{n=1}^{n_{\max}} m_{6,n} \sin 2\pi k n}{\pi \sin^2 \pi k}.$$
(9.41)

What we will use in the determination of \tilde{d}_6 is the expansion of \tilde{b}_6 around k = 1, which is given as

$$\widetilde{b}_6(1+\epsilon) = \frac{1}{6}\beta(6\epsilon) + \frac{1}{3}\beta_2(3\epsilon) + \frac{1}{2}\beta_3(2\epsilon) + \beta_6(\epsilon) = \widetilde{b}_6(\epsilon).$$
(9.42)

d	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
n_0^d	16	-20	48	-192	960	-5436	33712
n_1^d	0	0	0	5	-96	1280	-14816
n_2^d	0	0	0	0	0	-80	2512
n_3^d	0	0	0	0	0	0	-160
n_4^d	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Table 4: The diagonal Gopakumar-Vafa invariants identified for the $(2,2)_k$ model.

Here we have used the periodicity of the sine functions in β . Therefore we already know of the expansion, which is just given by the WKB expansion. Now we have six constraint for \tilde{d}_6 from k = 1, 2, 3, 4, 6 in hand, with which we can determine the explicit expression of \tilde{d}_6 as

$$\widetilde{d}_6 = \frac{1}{6}\delta_1\left(\frac{k}{6}\right) + \frac{1}{3}\delta_2\left(\frac{k}{3}\right) + \frac{1}{2}\delta_3\left(\frac{k}{2}\right) + \delta_6(k), \qquad (9.43)$$

with

$$\delta_6(k) = -\frac{1359}{\sin^2 \frac{\pi}{k}} + 1280 - 320 \sin^2 \frac{\pi}{k}.$$
(9.44)

Similarly, once we assume

$$\widetilde{b}_7 = \frac{1}{7}\beta_1(7k) + \beta_7(k), \quad \beta_7(k) = \frac{\sum_{n=1}^{n_{\max}} m_{7,n} \sin 2\pi kn}{\pi \sin^2 \pi k}, \quad (9.45)$$

we can determine \widetilde{d}_7 as

$$\widetilde{d}_7 = \frac{1}{7}\delta_1\left(\frac{k}{7}\right) + \delta_7(k), \qquad (9.46)$$

with

$$\delta_7(k) = \frac{8428}{\sin^2 \frac{\pi}{k}} - 14816 + 10048 \sin^2 \frac{\pi}{k} - 2560 \sin^4 \frac{\pi}{k}.$$
(9.47)

9.4 Mysterious correspondence to topological string

The multicovering structure of the worldsheet instanton (9.35) together with the trigonometric ansatz (9.38) can be summarized into the following expansion form of the worldsheet instantons

$$\sum_{m \ge 1} \tilde{d}_m e^{-\frac{\mu_{\text{eff}}}{k}} = \sum_{n,d \ge 1} \sum_{g \ge 0} n_g^d \frac{1}{n} \left(2\sin\frac{\pi n}{k} \right)^{2g-2} e^{-\frac{nd\mu_{\text{eff}}}{k}}.$$
(9.48)

where we have renamed the index a and the profile coefficients α_a in δ_d as $a \to g$ and $\alpha_a \to 2^{2a-2}n_g^d$.

Surprisingly,

• The worldsheet instanton series (9.48) completely coincide with the Gopakumar-Vafa formula [11] for the free energy of the topological string theory

$$F_{\rm GV}(g) = \sum_{\overrightarrow{d},n} n_g^{\overrightarrow{d}} \frac{1}{n} (2\sinh\pi n g_s)^{2g-2} e^{-n\overrightarrow{d}\cdot\overrightarrow{T}}$$
(9.49)

with the string coupling constant g_s and the set of the Kahler parameters \overrightarrow{T} identified as $g_s = 1/k$ and $\overrightarrow{T} = \mu_{\text{eff}}/k(1, 1, \dots, 1)$.

 $\circ~$ We can read off the leading "diagonal" Gopakumar-Vafa invariants

$$n_g^d = \sum_{\overrightarrow{d} \, (\sum_i d_i = d)} n_g^{\overrightarrow{d}} \tag{9.50}$$

from the worldsheet instanton coefficients (9.36), (9.39), (9.44) and (9.47) as in table 4. We found that they completely coincide with the indices of a known Calabi-Yau threefold, the local D_5 del Pezzo (see table 6 in [61]).

Moreover, rewriting the membrane instanton series as

$$\sum_{\ell \ge 1} (\widetilde{b}_{\ell} \mu_{\text{eff}} + \widetilde{c}_{\ell}) e^{-\ell \mu_{\text{eff}}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial g_s} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\overrightarrow{d}} \sum_{j_L, j_R} N_{j_L, j_R}^{\overrightarrow{d}} g_s \frac{-\sin \frac{\pi n(2j_L+1)}{g_s} \sin \frac{\pi n(2j_R+1)}{g_s}}{4\pi n^2 \sin^3 \frac{\pi n}{g_s}} e^{-\frac{n}{g_s} \overrightarrow{d} \cdot \overrightarrow{T}}.$$
 (9.51)

This completely coincide with the Nekrasov-Shatashvili limit of the free energy of the refined topological string theory. The BPS indices $N_{j_L,j_R}^{\vec{d}}$ are related to the Gopakumar-Vafa invariants through

$$\sum_{j_L, j_R} N_{j_L, j_R}^{\vec{d}} \frac{s_R \sin 2\pi g_s s_L}{\sin 2\pi g_s} = \sum_{g=0}^{\infty} n_g^{\vec{d}} (2\sin \pi g_s)^{2g},$$
(9.52)

and partly determined from the membrane instanton coefficients (9.18) and (9.21) as in table 5.

9.5 Discussion and Comments

In this section we have challenged the complete determination of the instanton coefficients for finite k. Starting from the most leading part, we have discovered various beautiful structure at each step: the trigonometric expression, multicovering structure and the bound state incorporation through the effective chemical potential, which help us to determine the higher order instantons. We have finally obtained a non-trivial correspondence with the (refined) topological string theory. In the determination, the pole cancellation mechanism have played the key role. Our final finding that structure that both the worldsheet instantons and the membrane instantons are related to the topological string with the same Calabi-Yau threefold is the manifestation of the pole cancellation mechanism.

d	$\sum_{j_L, j_R} (-1)^{d-1} N^d_{j_L, j_R}(j_L, j_R)$
1	$8(0, \frac{1}{2})$
2	$8(0, \frac{1}{2}) + (0, \frac{3}{2})$
3	$8(0, \frac{1}{2}) + 8(0, \frac{3}{2})$
4	$(4+2m_1+5m_2)(0,\frac{1}{2})+(30-m_1-m_2)(0,\frac{3}{2})+(9-m_2)(0,\frac{5}{2})$
	$+(5-3m_1-5m_2)(\frac{1}{2},0)+m_1(\frac{1}{2},1)+m_2(\frac{1}{2},2)$
5	$(-80 + 2m_3 + 5m_4 + 7m_5)(0, \frac{1}{2}) + (80 - m_3 - m_4)(0, \frac{3}{2})$
	$+(80-m_4-m_5)(0,\frac{5}{2})+(16-m_5)(0,\frac{7}{2})$
	$+(96-3m_3-5m_4-7m_5)(\frac{1}{2},0)+m_3(\frac{1}{2},1)+m_4(\frac{1}{2},2)+m_5(\frac{1}{2},3)$

Table 5: The diagonal BPS indices identified for the $(2,2)_k$ model. m_1, m_2, \dots, m_5 are some numbers which cannot be fixed from (9.18) nor (9.21). The overall sign $(-1)^{d-1}$ is introduced to make the numbers in table non-negative.

It is also remarkable that the coefficients in (9.48) actually coincide with the topological invariants of known CY₃, called the local D_5 del Pezzo. This implies we can predict the instanton effects up to arbitrarily higher order in principle.

Actually, the similar correspondence was also discovered in the ABJM theory [56]. In that case the worldsheet instantons are already related to the topological string theory on local $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ at first stage [35]. The membrane instantons were determined with the help of that relation and the exact computation. Nevertheless, our example is the first one without the highest maximal supersymmetry and would suggest that the correspondence is not completely accidental.

There are several problem to be addressed in future. First, though the diagonal Gopakumar-Vafa invariants coincide with the literature, there are discrepancies between the BPS indices determined from the membrane instantons in table 5 and those listed in [62] (see section 5.4 therein). Second, also note that there are more than one Kahler parameters in general while in the correspondence above we have to choose a special "diagonal" slice of them. In the case of the ABJM theory and it is understood that the non-diagonal choice are realized by changing the rank of the gauge group on each vertex. Roughly speaking we can assign the individual chemical potential μ_a dual to each rank N_a , thus the number of parameters 2 indeed coincide with the number of Kahler parameter for $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$. In the case of the $(2, 2)_k$ model, however, the number of chemical potential we can introduce is 4, which is smaller than 6 the number of Kahler parameters of the D_5 del Pezzo. It is non-trivial whether we can introduce additional two deformations in the matrix model.¹⁸

$$\{(+1)^2, (-1)^2\} \to \{(+1)^{q_1}, (-1)^{p_1}, \cdots\}, \quad \left(\sum_a q_a = \sum_a p_a = 2\right)$$

$$(9.53)$$

¹⁸An another evidence for CY₃ = local dP₅ argued in [63, 13] is the similarity between the approaching polygon (6.45) for Fermi surface and polygon dual to the toric diagram of dP₅ in [62]. In this sense, one may expect we can introduce the new parameters by the ordering of $\{s_a\}$ as

10 Summary of thesis and future directions

In this thesis we have reviewed our recent works, where we have computed the partition function of the $\mathcal{N} \geq 3 U(N)$ superconformal Chern-Simons theory in large N expansion. With the help of the Fermi gas formalism, we can show that the perturbative corrections to the partition function in 1/N universally add up to an Airy function which is characterized by three parameters depending on the detail of the theory. For a particular class of theories with $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry, which we have called the $(q, p)_k$ models, we achieved to determine these parameters exactly.

We also analyzed the non-perturbative effects in 1/N, which can be interpreted as the instanton effects in the dual eleven dimensional geometry, and discovered an interesting singular structure of the instanton effects. Based on this structure, in a special case q = p = 2, we successfully determined the k dependence of the instanton effects for finite k. We finally figured out in this theory the complete formula generating the whole instanton series, which coincide with the Gopakumar-Vafa formula in the topological string theory.

It would be interesting whether we can solve the other theories and how the above correspondence will be generalized. Also, though we have introduced only the result for the special class of the theories characterized by circular quivers, recently the Fermi gas formalism was found to be applicable to the more general theories which include the theories with non-circular quivers [47, 65], the ones with non-unitary gauge groups [66, 48, 55] and the ones without conformal symmetry [49]. In particular, the last set of theories is an example which contains continuous deformation parameters. As we can compute various observables other than the partition function by the differentiation with respect to the deformation parameters, the study of these theories will be interesting also in purpose of the applications.

The theories we have considered can be interpreted as the worldvolume theories of the M2branes. If we believe that the AdS_4/CFT_3 correspondence hold also in quantum level, our results must be reproduced as the quantum effects in the gravity side. It was indeed suggested that the Airy function structure of the perturbative might be obtained by applying the localization technique to the AdS_4 supergravity [43]. Though that proposal does not includes the non-perturbative corrections in 1/N, according to their interpretation as the instantons, they would be incorporated by the dynamical effects in the compactified seven dimensions. Through the efforts in these directions we hope to shed new light to the M-theory.

which do not modify the Fermi surface under the polygon approximation. According to the IIB brane construction, however, such deformation will be related to the rank deformation through the Hanany-Witten transitions [64].

Acknowledgement

Fist of all I would like to thank my Ph.D. advisor Naoki Sasakura. I also thank my second advisor Seiji Terashima, and Sanefumi Moriyama, for teaching the ways to understand physics and subsequent collaborations in research. Our research reviewed in this thesis is also based on the valuable discussions with Kazumi Okuyama, Nadav Drukker, Marcos Marino, Alba Grassi, Masazumi Honda, Jun Bourdier, Jan Felix, Takao Suyama, Shuichi Yokoyama, Yasuyuki Hatsuda and so forth. I also thank Shigeki Sugimoto for carefully reading my draft and pointing many typos. Lastly, I am grateful to my family, especially to my parents, for their unfailing support and for giving me the opportunity to carry out my Ph.D. studies in Yukawa Institute for Theoretical Physics in Kyoto University.

A Fredholm determinant formula: $Z(N) \rightarrow \mathcal{J}(\mu)$

In this appendix we explain the derivation of (6.12)

$$\mathcal{J}(\mu) = \operatorname{Tr}\log(1 + e^{\mu}\rho_0). \tag{A.1}$$

The derivation is achieved by the rearrangement of the sum over the permutations in the partition function (6.9)

$$Z(N) = \frac{1}{N!} \prod_{i=1}^{N} \int \frac{dx_i}{2\pi} \det_{i,j} \rho_0(x_i, x_j) = \frac{1}{N!} \prod_{i=1}^{N} \int \frac{dx_i}{2\pi} \sum_{\sigma \in S_N} (-1)^{\sigma} \prod_{i=1}^{N} \rho_0(x_i, x_\sigma(i)).$$
(A.2)

First note that a permutation can be always decomposed into a product of cyclic permutations. For example in S_3 and S_6

$$\sigma = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 \\ 1 & 3 & 2 \end{pmatrix} \to (1)(2,3), \quad \sigma = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 \\ 2 & 3 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \to (1,2,3),$$

$$\sigma = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 & 5 & 6 \\ 2 & 4 & 6 & 1 & 3 & 5 \end{pmatrix} \to (1,2,4)(3,6,5),$$

$$\sigma = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 & 5 & 6 \\ 3 & 5 & 4 & 2 & 6 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \to (1,3,4,2,5,6).$$
(A.3)

Now let us suppose σ consists of p_{ℓ} pieces of ℓ -th cyclic permutation ($\ell = 1, 2, \cdots$)

$$\sigma \to \prod_{\ell \ge 1} \prod_{\alpha=1}^{p_{\ell}} (n_1^{(\ell,\alpha)}, n_2^{(\ell,\alpha)}, \cdots, n_{\ell}^{(\ell,\alpha)}), \tag{A.4}$$

with the constraint

$$\sum_{\ell \ge 1} \ell p_\ell = N. \tag{A.5}$$

Then the sign of σ is

$$(-1)^{\sigma} = \prod_{\ell \ge 1} (-1)^{(\ell-1)p_{\ell}}$$
(A.6)

while the integrations in (A.2) are decomposed into those in each cyclic permutation as

$$\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \int \frac{dx_{n_i^{(\ell,\alpha)}}}{2\pi} \rho_0(x_{n_1^{(\ell,\alpha)}}, x_{n_2^{(\ell,\alpha)}}) \rho_0(x_{n_2^{(\ell,\alpha)}}, x_{n_3^{(\ell,\alpha)}}) \cdots \rho(x_{n_{\ell}^{(\ell,\alpha)}}, x_{n_1^{(\ell,\alpha)}}) = \operatorname{Tr} \rho_0^{\ell}.$$
(A.7)

Hence each contribution to (A.2) depends only on the sizes of cyclic permutations or $\{p_{\ell}\}$, but independent of the permuted numbers $n_i^{(\ell,\alpha)}$ themselves. Counting the number of independent permutations for each set of (p_1, p_2, \cdots) which is found to be

$$\prod_{\ell \ge 1} \frac{1}{\ell^{p_\ell} p_\ell!},\tag{A.8}$$

we can finally rewrite the sum (6.9) as the sum over $\{p_\ell\}_{\ell\geq 1}$

$$Z(N) = \sum_{p_1, p_2, \dots \ge 0} \prod_{(\sum_{\ell \ge 1} \ell p_\ell = N)} \prod_{\ell \ge 1} \frac{1}{\ell^{p_\ell} p_\ell!} (-1)^{(\ell-1)p_\ell} (\operatorname{Tr} \rho_0^\ell)^{p_\ell}.$$
 (A.9)

The sum over $\{p_{\ell}\}_{\ell \geq 1}$ is complicated due to the constraint (A.5). However, we can convert it into the unconstrained sum by introducing the chemical potential μ and switching to the generating function (grand partition function) with respect to N (6.11)

$$\sum_{N \ge 0} e^{\mu N} Z(N) = \prod_{\ell \ge 0} \sum_{p \ge 0} e^{\mu \ell p} \frac{1}{\ell^p p!} (-1)^{(\ell-1)p} (\operatorname{Tr} \rho_0^\ell)^p$$
(A.10)

$$= \prod_{\ell \ge 0} \exp\left[\frac{(-1)^{\ell-1}}{\ell} e^{\mu\ell} \operatorname{Tr} \rho_0^\ell\right],\tag{A.11}$$

where we have performed the sum over p. Further performing the product over ℓ we finally obtain the simple expression for the grand potential $\mathcal{J}(\mu)$ (A.1).

B Recursive determination of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Hamiltonian

The one particle Hamiltonian in the Fermi gas formalism of the U(N) $\mathcal{N} = 4$ circular quiver Chern-Simons theory takes the following form.

$$e^{h} = e^{q_{1}U}e^{p_{1}T}e^{q_{2}U}e^{p_{2}T}\cdots e^{q_{m+1}U}.$$
(B.1)

Precisely speaking, the Hamiltonian \hat{H} is related to h as

$$\widehat{H} = -h(q_a \to -q_a, p_a \to -p_a). \tag{B.2}$$

According to the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula h can be expanded with U, T and their commutators as

$$h = c_U U + c_T T + c_{UT} [U, T] + c_{UUT} [U, [U, T]] + c_{TUT} [T, [U, T]] + \cdots,$$
(B.3)

where obviously

$$c_U = \sum_{a=1}^{m+1} q_a, \quad c_T = \sum_{a=1}^m p_b.$$
 (B.4)

In this section we show that the other coefficients can be determined recursively order by order with the help of the following quantities

$$\Sigma(q^{\alpha}, p^{\beta}, q^{\gamma}, \cdots) \equiv \frac{1}{\alpha! \beta! \gamma! \cdots} \sum_{a \le b < c \cdots} q_a^{\alpha} p_b^{\beta} q_c^{\gamma}.$$
 (B.5)

First let us rewrite the r.h.s of (B.1) as

$$e^{h} = (e^{q_{1}U}e^{p_{1}T}e^{q_{2}U}e^{p_{2}T}\cdots e^{q_{m+1}U})(e^{q_{1}U}e^{p_{1}T}e^{q_{2}U}e^{p_{2}T}\cdots e^{q_{m+1}U})$$

$$(e^{-q_{m+1}U}\cdots e^{-p_2T}e^{-q_2U}e^{-p_1T}\cdots e^{-q_1U}), (B.6)$$

where the last two products completely cancel each other. Since the middle set of factors in this expression is e^h , we obtain the following relation for h

$$(e^{q_1 \operatorname{ad} U} e^{p_1 \operatorname{ad} T} e^{q_2 \operatorname{ad} U} e^{p_2 \operatorname{ad} T} \cdots e^{q_{m+1} \operatorname{ad} U} - 1)h = 0.$$
(B.7)

Here $\operatorname{ad}(\cdot)$ is a linear map $\operatorname{ad} \mathcal{O} : X \to [\mathcal{O}, X]$. Expanding the l.h.s. order by order we obtain the equations relating the coefficients c_{\dots} . Here we shall demonstrate the determination of c_{UT} from the terms of order $\mathcal{O}(U^2T)$. The contributions consist of the terms in h with the orders raised by the actions of $\operatorname{ad} U$ or $\operatorname{ad} T$:

$$\sum_{a} q_{a} c_{UT}[U, [U, T]] + \left(\sum_{a \neq b} q_{a} q_{b} + \sum_{a} \frac{1}{2} q_{a}^{2}\right) c_{T}[U, U, T] + \sum_{a \leq b} q_{a} p_{b} c_{U}[U, [T, U]] = 0$$
(B.8)

Notice that each additional coefficient takes the form of (B.5)

$$\sum_{a} q_{a} = \Sigma(q), \quad \sum_{a \neq b} q_{a}q_{b} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{a} q_{a}^{2} = \Sigma(q^{2}), \quad \sum_{a \leq b} q_{a}b_{b} = \Sigma(q, p).$$
(B.9)

From this equation we obtain c_{UT} in terms of c_U and c_T as

$$c_{UT} = \frac{\Sigma(q, p)c_U - \Sigma(q^2)c_T}{\Sigma(q)}.$$
(B.10)

Similarly we obtain c_{UUT} and c_{TUT} as

$$c_{UUT} = -\frac{1}{\Sigma(q)} (\Sigma(q^2)c_{UT} + \Sigma(q^3)c_T - \Sigma(q^2, p)c_U),$$

$$c_{TUT} = -\frac{1}{\Sigma(p)} (\Sigma(p^2)c_{UT} - \Sigma(p^3)c_U + \Sigma(p^2, q)c_T).$$
(B.11)

Note that the definition of $\Sigma(\cdots)$ are redundant and there are several relations among them. For example,

$$\Sigma(q^{\alpha}) = \frac{1}{\alpha!} \Sigma(q)^{\alpha}, \quad \Sigma(p^{\alpha}) = \frac{1}{\alpha!} \Sigma(p)^{\alpha},$$

$$\Sigma(p,q) = \Sigma(q) \Sigma(p) - \Sigma(q,p),$$

$$\Sigma(p^{2},q) = \frac{\Sigma(q) \Sigma(p)^{2}}{2} - \Sigma(p) \Sigma(q,p) + \Sigma(q,p^{2}).$$
(B.12)

We can write down the explicit expression of the leading coefficients as

$$c_{UT} = \Sigma(q, p) - \frac{\Sigma(q)\Sigma(p)}{2},$$

$$c_{UUT} = -\frac{\Sigma(q)\Sigma(q, p)}{2} + \Sigma(q^2, p) + \frac{\Sigma(q)^2\Sigma(p)}{12},$$

$$c_{TUT} = \frac{\Sigma(p)\Sigma(q, p)}{2} - \Sigma(q, p^2) - \frac{\Sigma(q)\Sigma(p)^2}{12}.$$
(B.13)

We can determine the higher order coefficients in the same way, though we have to be careful about the independent commutators.

C Exact values of the partition function for $(2,2)_k$ models $Z_k^{(2,2)}(N)$

The first few exact values of the partition function of the $(2,2)_k$ model are computed by the technique explained in section 8, as

$$\begin{split} & Z_1^{(2,2)}(1) = \frac{1}{4\pi^2}, \quad Z_1^{(2,2)}(2) = \frac{15 - \pi^2}{576\pi^4}, \quad Z_1^{(2,2)}(3) = \frac{855 + 75\pi^2 - 16\pi^4}{518400\pi^6}, \\ & Z_2^{(2,2)}(1) = \frac{1}{8\pi^2}, \quad Z_2^{(2,2)}(2) = \frac{528 - 136\pi^2 + 9\pi^4}{73728\pi^4}, \\ & Z_2^{(2,2)}(3) = \frac{67680 - 31200\pi^2 + 22454\pi^4 - 2025\pi^6}{265420800\pi^6}, \\ & Z_3^{(2,2)}(1) = \frac{1}{12\pi^2}, \quad Z_3^{(2,2)}(2) = \frac{4131 - 1593\pi^2 - 128\sqrt{3}\pi^3 + 192\pi^4}{1259712\pi^4}, \\ & Z_3^{(2,2)}(3) = (22537035 - 19628325\pi^2 - 1296000\sqrt{3}\pi^3 + 15828048\pi^4 + 2188800\sqrt{3}\pi^5 \\ & - 2560000\pi^6)/(275499014400\pi^6), \\ & Z_4^{(2,2)}(1) = \frac{1}{16\pi^2}, \quad Z_4^{(2,2)}(2) = \frac{552 - 272\pi^2 - 72\pi^3 + 45\pi^4}{294912\pi^4}, \\ & Z_4^{(2,2)}(3) = \frac{152640 - 184800\pi^2 - 43200\pi^3 + 167482\pi^4 + 77400\pi^5 - 38475\pi^6}{4246732800\pi^6}, \\ & Z_6^{(2,2)}(1) = \frac{1}{24\pi^2}, \quad Z_6^{(2,2)}(2) = \frac{136080 - 92232\pi^2 - 25088\sqrt{3}\pi^3 + 21801\pi^4}{161243136\pi^4}, \\ & Z_6^{(2,2)}(3) = (1565192160 - 2799360000\pi^2 - 711244800\sqrt{3}\pi^3 + 2988770238\pi^4 \\ & + 1550649600\sqrt{3}\pi^5 - 1090902475\pi^6)/(141055495372800\pi^6) \quad . \end{split}$$

To display the complete data, we shall adopt the plain-text style so that the readers who try to confirm our results can easily put these data into Mathematica. Here each Z22k stands for the list $\{Z_k^{(2,2)}(1), Z_k^{(2,2)}(2), \dots, Z_k^{(2,2)}(N_{\max})\}$.

```
1/(18240130695724793856000000 \[Pi]^16) (614658246827625 +
      37211876234032500 \[Pi]^2 - 165704461466994450 \[Pi]^4 +
      300314300500714500 \[Pi]^6 - 271611766174283535 \[Pi]^8 +
      123836221634288800 \[Pi]^10 - 25323384980987136 \[Pi]^12 +
      1547093849702400 \[Pi]^14),
   1/(569310959274962265833472000000 \[Pi]^18) (338298787177225875 +
      39871029262403839500 \[Pi]^2 - 239415641043753324150 \[Pi]^4 +
      619599595267431078300 \[Pi]^6 - 850018115192454653445 \[Pi]^8 +
      645047772730512409440 \[Pi]^10 -
      262012693656247569152 \[Pi]^12 +
     49813477980198027264 \[Pi]^14 - 2945074585927680000 \[Pi]^16),
   1/(82208502519304551186353356800000000 \[Pi]^20) \
(765621683210169410625 + 166062633159099004453125 \[Pi]^2 -
      1296997005244105169754750 \[Pi]^4 +
     4572669583655871879431250 \[Pi]^6 -
     8899684658812204257075075 \[Pi]^8 +
      10119575319053733909455625 \[Pi]^10 -
      6742436565811685754883040 \[Pi]^12 +
      2503309857017096864096000 \[Pi]^14 -
      448876279110137070993408 \[Pi]^16 +
      25818684401823252480000 \[Pi]^18), (2303477077177729663835625 +
      880027764146777853547565625 \[Pi]^2 -
      8690371157670945742834584750 \[Pi]^4 +
      40368672123285212086316186250 \[Pi]^6 -
      106565948142012635084257524075 \[Pi]^8 +
      170109742285438685942415328125 \[Pi]^10 -
      167739240307876225120652575440 \[Pi]^12 +
      100821204198157435732126956800 \[Pi]^14 -
      34794190696827750548244369408 \[Pi]^16 +
      5943095518870268728096849920 \[Pi]^18 -
      333862667882982109347840000 \
\[Pi]^20)/(17546911611730440623420005888819200000000 \[Pi]^22), \
(4492286876955442308509390625 +
      2917757919401410419124749708750 \[Pi]^2 -
     35607661605835159061826983503125 \[Pi]^4 +
      212720608909823970746040000250500 \[Pi]^6 -
     737845661629782989070933445925625 \[Pi]^8 +
      1582153613854678741883413405348350 \[Pi]^10 -
      2165566768005216294033393063013875 \[Pi]^12 +
      1904379643270082510000083628779920 \[Pi]^14 -
```

```
84
```

```
1051687827591894017128702640326400 \[Pi]^16 +
      341403395703886072903587365228544 \[Pi]^18 -
      55952797622851481033269350236160 \[Pi]^20 +
      3079075624747251953219665920000
\[Pi]^22)/(2673307077870356089859284737173382758400000000 \[Pi]^24), \
(4448584040297369309652193003125 +
      4769863402554401198067329527968750 \[Pi]^2 -
     70594342302205792357812920710940625 \[Pi]^4 +
      532909377734580331865869877951062500 \[Pi]^6 -
      2373194390617844893057015458584308125 \[Pi]^8 +
      6622829860438203731846226010179618750 \[Pi]^10 -
      12045192327124569447436429954950198375 \[Pi]^12 +
      14548091692535526094611790225407330000 \[Pi]^14 -
      11634904346739726928960509478551097600 \[Pi]^16 +
      5982804036260434340273345197881856000 \[Pi]^18 -
      1843224125874746027995843625905422336 \[Pi]^20 +
      291466982574153983300048391241728000 \[Pi]^22 -
      15749165340694202177783070720000000 \
\[Pi]^24)/(22589444808004508959310956029115084308480000000000 \
\[Pi]^26), (3051803535907858703033108449528125 +
      5268908152311874169936996064652621875 \[Pi]^2 -
      93086842398874316393881992295280371875 \[Pi]^4 +
      876886569456044433151878064944363346875 \[Pi]^6 -
      4927508637637263727811919266560386560625 \[Pi]^8 +
      17475439355937735393734592311075789570625 \[Pi]^10 -
      40913967137846750070950447460873269861625 \[Pi]^12 +
      65000152227761714776681166325963154844625 \[Pi]^14 -
      70732735000697479821983645244899320292400 \[Pi]^16 +
      52205312372415824928514733244944089465600 \[Pi]^18 -
      25251757245793417253990753791236995149824 \[Pi]^20 +
      7434638350328956545170481114463497486336 \[Pi]^22 -
      1139271286450925065304408425758720000000 \[Pi]^24 +
      60561690915695198597801500999680000000 \
\[Pi]^26)/(1434520103087518336952082951672924313925713920000000000 \
\[Pi]^28), (23137407456809612391454351085216578125 +
      62954229635321050575163339190798441484375 \[Pi]^2 -
      1309941573799988455483805232788098117096875 \[Pi]^4 +
      15268186040900301480202826750556336795234375 \[Pi]^6 -
      106832754164533132727288247242710361809490625 \[Pi]^8 +
```

472580252338941135993059689678828904724328125 \[Pi]^10 -

1390168248662692186179877009622320394777330625 \[Pi]^12 + 2815133306189432412358921616126980481987353125 \[Pi]^14 -3994692175349508807371135938089071463886404000 \[Pi]^16 + 3979783013945165918923095709064436004748160000 \[Pi]^18 -2741904362221974405434817031786724710050734080 \[Pi]^20 + 1257645940814959433539447857684291851319705600 \[Pi]^22 -355810400761262299389892970480636009417539584 \[Pi]^24 + 5302433417226192233624228810232692736000000 \[Pi]^26 -277739843592631810408846069849915392000000 \

\[Pi]^28)/(\

10857882660269426292390315861212364132103728660480000000000 \

\[Pi]^30)};

```
Z222 = {1/(8 \[Pi]^2), (528 - 136 \[Pi]^2 + 9 \[Pi]^4)/(
  73728 \[Pi]^4), (
   67680 - 31200 \[Pi]^2 + 22454 \[Pi]^4 - 2025 \[Pi]^6)/(
   265420800 \[Pi]^6), (
  85881600 - 12983040 \[Pi]^2 + 55295520 \[Pi]^4 -
   63338032 \[Pi]^6 + 5854275 \[Pi]^8)/(
   13317754060800 \[Pi]^8), (8990956800 + 12289536000 \[Pi]^2 -
      16340073120 \[Pi]^4 - 21239357200 \[Pi]^6 +
      20153965077 \[Pi]^8 -
      1808375625 \[Pi]^10)/(71915871928320000 \[Pi]^10), \
(156552412262400 + 799484432947200 \[Pi]^2 -
      2370598432392960 \[Pi]^4 + 759104950897920 \[Pi]^6 +
      1917623480954896 \[Pi]^8 - 1343578259469672 \[Pi]^10 +
      115898191014375 \[Pi]^12)/(80195977758659051520000 \[Pi]^12),
   1/(10625646269111289690193920000 \[Pi]^14) (269997793396531200 +
      3375269695429632000 \[Pi]^2 - 15176985987729646080 \[Pi]^4 +
      17787224418566803200 \[Pi]^6 + 3502265231226329568 \[Pi]^8 -
      19634110615575048320 \[Pi]^10 + 10705416177165260130 \[Pi]^12 -
      888481148528098125 \[Pi]^14),
   1/(4896297800806482289241358336000000 \[Pi]^16) \
(1384621596275613696000 + 35344001963880529920000 \[Pi]^2 -
      212495559558761480601600 \[Pi]^4 +
     405893735329776325632000 \[Pi]^6 -
      162167991395052325562880 \[Pi]^8 -
     453291486612233871347200 \[Pi]^10 +
     661962025500724840347072 \[Pi]^12 -
      297606457449165047911200 \[Pi]^14 +
      23842627179995514515625 \[Pi]^16), (838481028426223902720000 +
      39289330617873488216064000 \[Pi]^2 -
     289921890979481098770432000 \[Pi]^4 +
     701758634325752176446873600 \[Pi]^6 -
      345509462633369038574169600 \[Pi]^8 -
      1445881178560991398471365120 \[Pi]^10 +
      3195722106661710197912741440 \[Pi]^12 -
      2902223406682130096671398432 \[Pi]^14 +
      1123231781667534159396656475 \[Pi]^16 -
     87181723128690845748843750 \
\[Pi]^18)/(305646493917543850423602552766464000000 \[Pi]^18), \
(66528275066241892655431680000 +
```

```
5326483453826678515762790400000 \[Pi]^2 -
```

```
44608639779283744620715843584000 \[Pi]^4 +
      103868043482475177416771420160000 \[Pi]^6 +
      122080809881383595286591414067200 \[Pi]^8 -
      1051271621523299016434901146112000 \[Pi]^10 +
      2262184008121886009635025297149440 \[Pi]^12 -
      2641259086366948817061653077107200 \[Pi]^14 +
      1829911076924045340147848927295408 \[Pi]^16 -
      628703319147188508427242455055000 \[Pi]^18 +
      47435136087981530297499324609375 \
\[Pi]^20)/(2824662638188373248074765351646553702400000000 \[Pi]^20), \
(436912150740920502085323325440000 +
      56727578594862025097492413808640000 \[Pi]^2 -
      492833405780458096666761727229952000 \[Pi]^4 +
      351934271249299908795455443181568000 \[Pi]^6 +
      11356400347163558260547093186011545600 \[Pi]^8 -
      59682079394776415740330276665370214400 \[Pi]^10 +
      144363789403743702437818621246871761920 \[Pi]^12 -
      202440124249725444952635227177713338880 \[Pi]^14 +
      180492695411838158385595041288589564704 \[Pi]^16 -
      104407825216754802164378328068074130016 \[Pi]^18 +
      32558742999830421534051420349193966250 \[Pi]^20 -
      2394926034675333836453129810879296875 \
\[Pi]^22)/(241162916858191655824828086286738803382026240000000 \
\[Pi]^22), (14828272487567572180648820610170880000 +
      2999574211071546036460636269623377920000 \[Pi]^2 -
      23695073470583144042578272047024308224000 \[Pi]^4 -
      121874070665560368224587503677815259136000 \[Pi]^6 +
      2396019969373408736990056276462428148531200 \[Pi]^8 -
      13632011926578482670397192060420915426099200 \[Pi]^10 +
      41378626110811285707564864250443182515568640 \[Pi]^12 -
      75501944264160285333693295979701332389437440 \[Pi]^14 +
      87033186415611556408523265961468322527516928 \[Pi]^16 -
      66026412501369972745989827760090350036560128 \[Pi]^18 +
      33507258734959873192796134101476170776240096 \[Pi]^20 -
      9641052639367613838177103066820846342130000 \[Pi]^22 +
      693126540034893267246815942104315140234375 \
\[Pi]^24)/(\
1175732886693734884743174675262631365531470774927360000000 \
\[Pi]^24), (15921650348825216567679087681680179200000 +
```

```
4860587824778186472164580250028605440000000 \[Pi]^2 -
```

26541413011383797210515705396002403123200000 \[Pi]^4 -740810055204465752324299872110728200192000000 \[Pi]^6 + 11793683377067794909885285982399781058682880000 \[Pi]^8 -79452267420763911711702702559835265374822400000 \[Pi]^10 + 307784819405755261357826135019233173860501504000 \[Pi]^112 -745408688631023302219883955097959352340935680000 \[Pi]^14 + 1162543883473094885990918112851367767855387961600 \[Pi]^16 -1183606853362388768608108812963252842345636416000 \[Pi]^18 + 802994655701893608743639595119345211928466684256 \[Pi]^20 -368600748065516251067001372724623001864373394000 \[Pi]^22 + 99083123898551154866571847163739530218835859375 \[Pi]^24 -6977314322753100309485007394126561223291015625 \ \[Pi]^26)/(\

\[Pi]^26)};

```
Z223 = \{1/(12 \setminus [Pi]^2), (
   4131 - 1593 \[Pi]^2 - 128 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^3 + 192 \[Pi]^4)/(
   1259712 \[Pi]^4),
   1/(275499014400 \[Pi]^6) (22537035 - 19628325 \[Pi]^2 -
      1296000 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^3 + 15828048 \[Pi]^4 +
      2188800 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^5 - 2560000 \[Pi]^6), (153806997015 -
      163949745330 \[Pi]^2 - 11384997120 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^3 +
      305029727667 \[Pi]^4 + 72216748800 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^5 -
      319258457424 \[Pi]^6 - 54966352896 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^7 +
      55705395200 \[Pi]^8)/(104971736462745600 \[Pi]^8),
   1/(7652439588134154240000 \[Pi]^10) (154770778554525 -
      68699776650750 \[Pi]^2 - 12711123936000 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^3 +
      195357994149465 \[Pi]^4 + 231276614688000 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^5 -
      1229311921719600 \[Pi]^6 - 482840928460800 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^7 +
      1291183043083776 \[Pi]^8 + 251698589286400 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^9 -
      231500021760000 \[Pi]^10),
   1/(6480134818845365869019136000 \[Pi]^12) (1460030404410807075 +
      2474487005320655325 \[Pi]^2 -
      123237815995324800 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^3 -
      13702478434623715275 \[Pi]^4 +
      5769688110442502400 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^5 -
      7023094125716803365 \[Pi]^6 -
      24222904922403411840 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^7 +
      63307957689755781552 \[Pi]^8 +
      31713757725013816320 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^9 -
      62035096973680074240 \[Pi]^10 -
      13147388255483412480 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^11 +
      11255034191937536000 \[Pi]^12)};
```

```
Z224 = \{1/(16 \setminus [Pi]^2), (
   552 - 272 \[Pi]^2 - 72 \[Pi]^3 + 45 \[Pi]^4)/(294912 \[Pi]^4), (
   152640 - 184800 \[Pi]^2 - 43200 \[Pi]^3 + 167482 \[Pi]^4 +
   77400 \[Pi]^5 - 38475 \[Pi]^6)/(
   4246732800 \[Pi]^6), (13310640 - 24037440 \[Pi]^2 -
      5503680 \[Pi]^3 + 44641352 \[Pi]^4 + 32457600 \[Pi]^5 -
      50681332 \[Pi]^6 - 31171644 \[Pi]^7 +
      13593825 \[Pi]^8)/(26635508121600 \[Pi]^8),
   1/(2301307901706240000 \[Pi]^10) (12392956800 -
      22710240000 \[Pi]^2 - 6314112000 \[Pi]^3 +
      53976318480 \[Pi]^4 + 90366192000 \[Pi]^5 -
      174030757000 \[Pi]^6 - 233010993600 \[Pi]^7 +
      220886345682 \[Pi]^8 + 166341324600 \[Pi]^9 -
      66374083125 \[Pi]^10), -(1/(
     1283135644138544824320000 \[Pi]^12)) (-60317238643200 +
     43909065446400 \[Pi]^2 + 34512065280000 \[Pi]^3 +
     235764285482880 \[Pi]^4 - 1068346008576000 \[Pi]^5 +
     718244435187840 \[Pi]^6 + 5351172561504000 \[Pi]^7 -
     4491355363103048 \[Pi]^8 - 9456677491852800 \[Pi]^9 +
     6369403190832576 \[Pi]^10 + 5653633803147000 \[Pi]^11 -
      2111768611981875 \[Pi]^12),
   1/(680041361223122540172410880000 \[Pi]^14) (233191874397081600 +
      514801922732697600 \[Pi]^2 - 141592190861721600 \[Pi]^3 -
     8789321000992371840 \[Pi]^4 + 8920712618737920000 \[Pi]^5 +
      23218762446896976960 \[Pi]^6 - 74856884046254069760 \[Pi]^7 -
      1059165605080719136 \[Pi]^8 + 241586730273496608000 \[Pi]^9 -
      106730926490725032496 \[Pi]^10 -
     342602951891211595584 \[Pi]^11 +
      177448845285662967558 \[Pi]^12 +
      181810853889070933800 \[Pi]^13 -
      64472565083164363125 \[Pi]^14)};
```

```
Z226 = \{1/(24 \setminus [Pi]^2), (
   136080 - 92232 \[Pi]^2 - 25088 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^3 + 21801 \[Pi]^4)/(
   161243136 \[Pi]^4), (1565192160 - 2799360000 \[Pi]^2 -
      711244800 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^3 + 2988770238 \[Pi]^4 +
      1550649600 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^5 -
      1090902475 \[Pi]^6)/(141055495372800 \[Pi]^6),
   1/(1719856930205623910400 \[Pi]^8) (183530640948480 -
      556534185903360 \[Pi]^2 - 137221312757760 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^3 +
      1131265400205024 \[Pi]^4 + 861676733030400 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^5 -
      1446129417081168 \[Pi]^6 - 1171549427586048 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^7 +
      734020872735325 \[Pi]^8),
   1/(250755140423979966136320000 \[Pi]^10) (201088903991673600 -
      813776233338432000 \[Pi]^2 -
      206610867542016000 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^3 +
      2164521400969203360 \[Pi]^4 +
      2704085561673216000 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^5 -
      5073325561376895600 \[Pi]^6 -
      9315384492703564800 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^7 +
      8355360744608825259 \[Pi]^8 +
      10289831957525612800 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^9 -
      5964558896187478125 \[Pi]^10),
   1/(67949138478055983614726095503360000 \[Pi]^12) \
(333828167370597372211200 - 1468389904971364134144000 \[Pi]^2 -
      425460227326305583104000 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^3 +
      2525073484417964968561920 \[Pi]^4 +
      10171666064302843871232000 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^5 -
      4200831601041824440876800 \[Pi]^6 -
      64718303488163279964979200 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^7 +
      22395224367807764836693968 \[Pi]^8 +
      169142367590272739935641600 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^9 -
      85068987959605512160545480 \[Pi]^10 -
      166824040534731773800358400 Sqrt[3] \[Pi]^11 +
      91280395214844546207371875 \[Pi]^12)};
```

References

 E. Witten, "String theory dynamics in various dimensions," Nucl. Phys. B 443 (1995) 85 doi:10.1016/0550-3213(95)00158-O [hep-th/9503124].

- [2] O. Aharony, O. Bergman, D. L. Jafferis and J. Maldacena, "N=6 superconformal Chern-Simons-matter theories, M2-branes and their gravity duals," JHEP 0810 (2008) 091 doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2008/10/091 [arXiv:0806.1218 [hep-th]].
- [3] Y. Imamura and K. Kimura, "On the moduli space of elliptic Maxwell-Chern-Simons theories," Prog. Theor. Phys. **120** (2008) 509 [arXiv:0806.3727 [hep-th]].
- [4] K. Hosomichi, K. M. Lee, S. Lee, S. Lee and J. Park, "N=5,6 Superconformal Chern-Simons Theories and M2-branes on Orbifolds," JHEP 0809 (2008) 002 doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2008/09/002 [arXiv:0806.4977 [hep-th]].
- [5] Y. Imamura and K. Kimura, "N=4 Chern-Simons theories with auxiliary vector multiplets," JHEP 0810 (2008) 040 doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2008/10/040 [arXiv:0807.2144 [hep-th]].
- [6] I. R. Klebanov and A. A. Tseytlin, Nucl. Phys. B 475 (1996) 164 doi:10.1016/0550-3213(96)00295-7 [hep-th/9604089].
- [7] J. M. Maldacena, "The Large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity," Int. J. Theor. Phys. 38 (1999) 1113 [Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 231] doi:10.1023/A:1026654312961 [hep-th/9711200].
- [8] S. Moriyama and T. Nosaka, "Partition Functions of Superconformal Chern-Simons Theories from Fermi Gas Approach," JHEP 1411 (2014) 164 doi:10.1007/JHEP11(2014)164 [arXiv:1407.4268 [hep-th]].
- S. Moriyama and T. Nosaka, "ABJM membrane instanton from a pole cancellation mechanism," Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 2, 026003 doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.92.026003 [arXiv:1410.4918 [hep-th]].
- [10] S. Moriyama and T. Nosaka, "Exact Instanton Expansion of Superconformal Chern-Simons Theories from Topological Strings," JHEP 1505 (2015) 022 doi:10.1007/JHEP05(2015)022 [arXiv:1412.6243 [hep-th]].
- [11] R. Gopakumar and C. Vafa, "M theory and topological strings. 2.," hep-th/9812127.
- [12] M. Marino and P. Putrov, "ABJM theory as a Fermi gas," J. Stat. Mech. **1203** (2012) P03001 [arXiv:1110.4066 [hep-th]].
- [13] Y. Hatsuda, M. Honda and K. Okuyama, "Large N non-perturbative effects in N = 4 superconformal Chern-Simons theories," JHEP **1509** (2015) 046 doi:10.1007/JHEP09(2015)046
 [arXiv:1505.07120 [hep-th]].
- [14] J. H. Schwarz, "Superconformal Chern-Simons theories," JHEP 0411 (2004) 078 doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2004/11/078 [hep-th/0411077].

- [15] J. Bagger and N. Lambert, "Modeling Multiple M2's," Phys. Rev. D 75 (2007) 045020 doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.75.045020 [hep-th/0611108].
- [16] J. Bagger and N. Lambert, "Gauge symmetry and supersymmetry of multiple M2-branes," Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 065008 doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.77.065008 [arXiv:0711.0955 [hep-th]].
- [17] J. Bagger and N. Lambert, "Comments on multiple M2-branes," JHEP 0802 (2008) 105 doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2008/02/105 [arXiv:0712.3738 [hep-th]].
- [18] A. Gustavsson, "Algebraic structures on parallel M2-branes," Nucl. Phys. B 811 (2009) 66 doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2008.11.014 [arXiv:0709.1260 [hep-th]].
- [19] M. R. Douglas and G. W. Moore, "D-branes, quivers, and ALE instantons," hep-th/9603167.
- [20] D. Gaiotto and X. Yin, "Notes on superconformal Chern-Simons-Matter theories," JHEP 0708 (2007) 056 doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2007/08/056 [arXiv:0704.3740 [hep-th]].
- [21] S. Deser, R. Jackiw and S. Templeton, "Three-Dimensional Massive Gauge Theories," Phys. Rev. Lett. 48 (1982) 975. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.48.975
- T. Kitao, K. Ohta and N. Ohta, "Three-dimensional gauge dynamics from brane configurations with (p,q) - five-brane," Nucl. Phys. B 539 (1999) 79 doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(98)00726-3 [hep-th/9808111].
- [23] O. Bergman, A. Hanany, A. Karch and B. Kol, "Branes and supersymmetry breaking in threedimensional gauge theories," JHEP **9910** (1999) 036 doi:10.1088/1126-6708/1999/10/036 [hep-th/9908075].
- [24] D. L. Jafferis and A. Tomasiello, "A Simple class of N=3 gauge/gravity duals," JHEP 0810 (2008) 101 doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2008/10/101 [arXiv:0808.0864 [hep-th]].
- [25] A. Kapustin, B. Willett and I. Yaakov, "Nonperturbative Tests of Three-Dimensional Dualities," JHEP 1010 (2010) 013 [arXiv:1003.5694 [hep-th]].
- [26] D. L. Jafferis, "The Exact Superconformal R-Symmetry Extremizes Z," JHEP 1205, 159 (2012) [arXiv:1012.3210 [hep-th]].
- [27] N. Hama, K. Hosomichi and S. Lee, "Notes on SUSY Gauge Theories on Three-Sphere," JHEP 1103, 127 (2011) [arXiv:1012.3512 [hep-th]].
- [28] E. Witten, "Topological Quantum Field Theory," Commun. Math. Phys. 117 (1988) 353. doi:10.1007/BF01223371
- [29] V. Pestun, "Localization of gauge theory on a four-sphere and supersymmetric Wilson loops," Commun. Math. Phys. **313** (2012) 71 doi:10.1007/s00220-012-1485-0 [arXiv:0712.2824 [hep-th]].

- [30] N. Drukker, M. Marino and P. Putrov, "From weak to strong coupling in ABJM theory," Commun. Math. Phys. 306 (2011) 511 doi:10.1007/s00220-011-1253-6 [arXiv:1007.3837 [hep-th]].
- [31] C. P. Herzog, I. R. Klebanov, S. S. Pufu and T. Tesileanu, "Multi-Matrix Models and Tri-Sasaki Einstein Spaces," Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 046001 doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.83.046001 [arXiv:1011.5487 [hep-th]].
- [32] A. Grassi and M. Marino, "M-theoretic matrix models," JHEP 1502 (2015) 115 doi:10.1007/JHEP02(2015)115 [arXiv:1403.4276 [hep-th]].
- [33] D. R. Gulotta, J. P. Ang and C. P. Herzog, "Matrix Models for Supersymmetric Chern-Simons Theories with an ADE Classification," JHEP **1201** (2012) 132 doi:10.1007/JHEP01(2012)132 [arXiv:1111.1744 [hep-th]].
- [34] H. Fuji, S. Hirano and S. Moriyama, "Summing Up All Genus Free Energy of ABJM Matrix Model," JHEP 1108 (2011) 001 doi:10.1007/JHEP08(2011)001 [arXiv:1106.4631 [hep-th]].
- [35] M. Marino and P. Putrov, "Exact Results in ABJM Theory from Topological Strings," JHEP 1006 (2010) 011 doi:10.1007/JHEP06(2010)011 [arXiv:0912.3074 [hep-th]].
- [36] K. Becker, M. Becker and A. Strominger, "Five-branes, membranes and nonperturbative string theory," Nucl. Phys. B 456 (1995) 130 doi:10.1016/0550-3213(95)00487-1 [hepth/9507158].
- [37] S. Matsumoto and S. Moriyama, "ABJ Fractional Brane from ABJM Wilson Loop," JHEP 1403 (2014) 079 doi:10.1007/JHEP03(2014)079 [arXiv:1310.8051 [hep-th]].
- [38] E. P. Wigner, "On the quantum correction for thermodynamic equilibrium," Phys. Rev. 40 (1932) 749. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.40.749
- [39] J. G. Kirkwood, "Quantum Statistics of Almost Classical Assemblies," Phys. Rev. 44 (1933) 31. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.44.31
- [40] A. Voros, "Asymptotic Kappa-Expansions of Stationary Quantum States," Annales Poincare Phys. Theor. 26 (1977) 343.
- [41] B. Grammaticos and A. Voros, "Semiclassical Approximations for Nuclear Hamiltonians. 1. Spin Independent Potentials," Annals Phys. **123** (1979) 359. doi:10.1016/0003-4916(79)90343-9
- [42] S. Bhattacharyya, A. Grassi, M. Marino and A. Sen, "A One-Loop Test of Quantum Supergravity," Class. Quant. Grav. **31** (2014) 015012 doi:10.1088/0264-9381/31/1/015012
 [arXiv:1210.6057 [hep-th]].

- [43] A. Dabholkar, N. Drukker and J. Gomes, "Localization in supergravity and quantum AdS_4/CFT_3 holography," JHEP **1410** (2014) 90 doi:10.1007/JHEP10(2014)090 [arXiv:1406.0505 [hep-th]].
- [44] O. Bergman and S. Hirano, "Anomalous radius shift in AdS(4)/CFT(3)," JHEP 0907 (2009) 016 doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2009/07/016 [arXiv:0902.1743 [hep-th]].
- [45] Y. Hatsuda, "Spectral zeta function and non-perturbative effects in ABJM Fermi-gas," JHEP 1511 (2015) 086 doi:10.1007/JHEP11(2015)086 [arXiv:1503.07883 [hep-th]].
- [46] M. Hanada, M. Honda, Y. Honma, J. Nishimura, S. Shiba and Y. Yoshida, "Numerical studies of the ABJM theory for arbitrary N at arbitrary coupling constant," JHEP 1205 (2012) 121 doi:10.1007/JHEP05(2012)121 [arXiv:1202.5300 [hep-th]].
- [47] S. Moriyama and T. Nosaka, "Superconformal Chern-Simons Partition Functions of Affine D-type Quiver from Fermi Gas," JHEP 1509 (2015) 054 doi:10.1007/JHEP09(2015)054 [arXiv:1504.07710 [hep-th]].
- [48] S. Moriyama and T. Suyama, "Instanton Effects in Orientifold ABJM Theory," arXiv:1511.01660 [hep-th].
- [49] T. Nosaka, "Instanton effects in ABJM theory with general R-charge assignments," arXiv:1512.02862 [hep-th].
- [50] A. Cagnazzo, D. Sorokin and L. Wulff, "String instanton in AdS(4) x CP**3," JHEP 1005 (2010) 009 doi:10.1007/JHEP05(2010)009 [arXiv:0911.5228 [hep-th]].
- [51] N. Drukker, M. Marino and P. Putrov, "Nonperturbative aspects of ABJM theory," JHEP 1111 (2011) 141 doi:10.1007/JHEP11(2011)141 [arXiv:1103.4844 [hep-th]].
- [52] C. A. Tracy and H. Widom, "Proofs of two conjectures related to the thermodynamic Bethe ansatz," Commun. Math. Phys. 179 (1996) 667 doi:10.1007/BF02100102 [solv-int/9509003].
- [53] P. Putrov and M. Yamazaki, "Exact ABJM Partition Function from TBA," Mod. Phys. Lett. A 27 (2012) 1250200 doi:10.1142/S0217732312502008 [arXiv:1207.5066 [hep-th]].
- [54] Y. Hatsuda and K. Okuyama, JHEP 1410 (2014) 158 doi:10.1007/JHEP10(2014)158
 [arXiv:1407.3786 [hep-th]].
- [55] K. Okuyama, "A Note on the Partition Function of ABJM theory on S³," Prog. Theor. Phys. 127 (2012) 229 doi:10.1143/PTP.127.229 [arXiv:1110.3555 [hep-th]].
- [56] Y. Hatsuda, M. Marino, S. Moriyama and K. Okuyama, "Non-perturbative effects and the refined topological string," JHEP 1409 (2014) 168 doi:10.1007/JHEP09(2014)168 [arXiv:1306.1734 [hep-th]].

- [57] Y. Hatsuda, S. Moriyama and K. Okuyama, "Exact Results on the ABJM Fermi Gas," JHEP 1210 (2012) 020 doi:10.1007/JHEP10(2012)020 [arXiv:1207.4283 [hep-th]].
- [58] Y. Hatsuda, S. Moriyama and K. Okuyama, "Instanton Effects in ABJM Theory from Fermi Gas Approach," JHEP 1301 (2013) 158 doi:10.1007/JHEP01(2013)158 [arXiv:1211.1251 [hep-th]].
- [59] F. Calvo and M. Marino, "Membrane instantons from a semiclassical TBA," JHEP 1305 (2013) 006 doi:10.1007/JHEP05(2013)006 [arXiv:1212.5118 [hep-th]].
- [60] Y. Hatsuda, S. Moriyama and K. Okuyama, "Instanton Bound States in ABJM Theory," JHEP 1305 (2013) 054 doi:10.1007/JHEP05(2013)054 [arXiv:1301.5184 [hep-th]].
- [61] S. H. Katz, A. Klemm and C. Vafa, "M theory, topological strings and spinning black holes," Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 3 (1999) 1445 [hep-th/9910181].
- [62] M. X. Huang, A. Klemm and M. Poretschkin, "Refined stable pair invariants for E-, Mand [p,q]-strings," JHEP 1311 (2013) 112 doi:10.1007/JHEP11(2013)112 [arXiv:1308.0619 [hep-th]].
- [63] A. Grassi, Y. Hatsuda and M. Marino, "Topological Strings from Quantum Mechanics," arXiv:1410.3382 [hep-th].
- [64] A. Hanany and E. Witten, "Type IIB superstrings, BPS monopoles, and three-dimensional gauge dynamics," Nucl. Phys. B 492 (1997) 152 doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(97)00157-0 [hepth/9611230].
- [65] B. Assel, N. Drukker and J. Felix, "Partition functions of 3d D-quivers and their mirror duals from 1d free fermions," JHEP 1508 (2015) 071 doi:10.1007/JHEP08(2015)071 [arXiv:1504.07636 [hep-th]].
- [66] M. Mezei and S. S. Pufu, "Three-sphere free energy for classical gauge groups," JHEP 1402 (2014) 037 doi:10.1007/JHEP02(2014)037 [arXiv:1312.0920 [hep-th]].